Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Rebecca Claire Woodruff

Date

Improving Access to Healthy Foods:

Implications for Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Dietary Quality

By

Rebecca C. Woodruff

Doctor of Philosophy

Behavioral Sciences and Health Education

Michelle C. Kegler, DrPH, MPH Advisor

Michael Kramer, PhD, MS, MMSc Committee Member Regine Haardörfer, PhD, MEd, MS Committee Member

Julie A. Gazmararian, PhD, MPH Committee Member

Diane Harris, PhD, MPH, CHES Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Improving Access to Healthy Foods:

Implications for Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Dietary Quality

By

Rebecca C. Woodruff

MPH, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2012

AB, Bryn Mawr College, 2008

Advisor: Michelle C. Kegler, DrPH, MPH

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Behavioral Sciences and Health Education

2018

Abstract

Improving Access to Healthy Foods: Implications for Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Dietary Quality

By Rebecca C. Woodruff

Disparities in access to healthy foods among rural areas and in neighborhoods with predominantly low-income and racial or ethnic minority residents persist in the United States and may be an important contributor to poor dietary quality and high chronic disease prevalence among these populations. However, research investigating the relationship between access to healthy food retailers and dietary intake has been mixed, and questions remain about the effectiveness of interventions to open new retailers of healthy foods, the mechanisms through which access to healthy food retailers influences dietary behavior, and whether food environments can moderate the efficacy of health promotion interventions. This dissertation explored these questions through three studies. Study one was a systematic review examining the dietary impact of openings of new retailers of healthy foods. Findings indicated that the methodological approaches used in this literature, including study designs, sampling approaches, and outcome measures, ranged widely in rigor. Sub-analyses among the studies that used a repeated measures design indicated that opening a new retailer of healthy foods resulted in short-term improvements in fruit and vegetable consumption among adults who chose to shop at the new retailer, but more rigorous research is needed to confirm these findings. Study two explored food acquisition behaviors as mediators of the association between distance to a primary food store and fruit and vegetable intake among a large national sample of adults. Contrary to expectations, greater distance to a primary food store was weakly associated with increased fruit and vegetable consumption, and this relationship was mediated by greater home inventories of fruits and vegetables, but not shopping frequency. Study three explored to what extent three measures of access to healthy food retailers moderated the efficacy of an intervention to improve dietary quality. Results suggested that limited access to healthy food retailers was associated with poorer dietary quality among the control group, but participation in the intervention may have attenuated this relationship. Results from this dissertation help clarify the role that food retail environments play in influencing dietary behavior and highlight the need for future research focused on food acquisition behaviors as determinants of dietary behavior.

Improving Access to Healthy Foods:

Implications for Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Dietary Quality

By

Rebecca C. Woodruff

MPH, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2012

AB, Bryn Mawr College, 2008

Advisor: Michelle C. Kegler, DrPH, MPH

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Behavioral Sciences and Health Education

2018

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to my advisor and dissertation chair, Michelle Kegler, and my dissertation committee members, Regine Haardörfer, Michael Kramer, Diane Harris, and Julie Gazmararian. Michelle, I am deeply grateful for your mentorship over the past six years and the many professional opportunities you have created for me. Regine and Michael, thank you for your patience and generosity with your time as I learned new statistical methods. Diane and Julie, thank you for your encouragement of my interest in this content area and your support of my professional goals.

I could not have completed this dissertation without technical assistance from Emory University's Center for Digital Scholarship and the Institute for Quantitative Theory and Methods. In particular, I wish to thank Megan Slemons and Rob O'Reilley for support with geospatial analysis and Donghai Liang for support with advanced statistical analysis. Thank you also to my many mentors, particularly Kimberly Jacob Arriola, Cam Escoffery, Sally Honeycutt, and Beth Moracco.

I am deeply grateful to the students and alumni of the Behavioral Sciences and Health Education Department. In particular, I wish to thank to my fellow cohort members, Danielle Haley, Umed Ibragimov, and Juan Rodriguez, as well as Ilana Raskind, Riley Steiner, Liz Walker, and Robin McGee. Thank you also to the leadership and staff of the Behavioral Sciences and Health Education Department, particularly Colleen McBride, Michael Windle, Kelli Komro, and Brandi Harper.

And finally, I wish to thank my family for their love and support over the past six years. To my parents, Vicki and Jim Woodruff, thank you for St. Stephen's, thank you for Bryn Mawr, and thank you for encouraging me to pursue my dreams. To Ry Woodruff, Tom Woodruff, Jean and Russ Gaeddert, and Dee Dorsey, thank you for your encouragement and keeping me laughing. And finally, thank you to my husband, Adam, who has been by my side throughout this program. When we met three months before I moved to Atlanta, I never could have envisioned the beautiful life we have built together, and for which I am so grateful. Thank you for always reminding me that I can do it, even when I doubted myself; for encouraging me to keep the bar high, even when that felt difficult; and most of all, for Clara, my joy.

This work was funded through the George W. Woodruff Fellowship, the Robert E. Letz Endowment, the Richard Livingston award, and the Dean's Teaching Fellowship. Participant data were collected through the Healthy Homes / Healthy Families trial and the National Home Environment Survey projects, which were funded by Cooperative Agreement 5U48DP001909 from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The findings and conclusions in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of CDC. We extend our sincere thanks to the Emory Prevention Research Center and its Community Advisory Board for conceptualizing these studies and to the participants in these projects.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1. Introduction	2
Improving Dietary Intake as a Chronic Disease Prevention Strategy	2
Socioeconomic Disparities in Dietary Intake	4
Theoretical Frameworks of Food Environments	5
Disparities in Access to Healthy Food Retailers	8
Access to Healthy Food Retailers as a Determinant of Dietary Intake	9
Initiatives to Increase Access to Healthy Food Retailers	. 12
Research Gaps	. 13
Dissertation Overview	. 16
Figures and Tables	. 18
References	. 22
CHAPTER 2. The Dietary Impact of Introducing New Retailers of Fruits and	
Vegetables into a Community: Results from a Systematic Review	. 34
Abstract	. 34
Introduction	. 35
Methods	. 37
Results	. 39
Discussion	. 47
Figures and Tables	. 52
References	. 62
CHAPTER 3. Home Food Inventories and Shopping Frequency as Mediators of t	he
Association between Access to Healthy Food Retailers and Fruit and Vegetable	(0
Consumption	. 00
Abstract	. 68
Introduction	. 69
Methods	. 72
Results	. //
	. 81
Figures and Tables	. 87
Keterences	. 93
CHAPTER 4. Does the Food Retail Environment Modify the Efficacy of a Behavioral Intervention to Improve Dietary Quality?	. 98

Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	101
Results	108
Discussion	111
Figures and Tables	117
References	124
CHAPTER 5. Summary and Conclusions	129
Summary of Key Findings	130
Importance of Food Acquisition Behavior as a Cross-Cutting Theme	133
Strengths & Limitations	135
Implications for Public Health Practice	136
Directions for Future Research	
Conclusion	
Figures and Tables	146
References	149

List of Figures

Figure 1. Conceptual Model of Physical Environments and Access to Healthy Food
Options
Figure 2. Flow Diagram Depicting Article Selection for Inclusion in Systematic Review
Figure 3. Frequency of Shopping for Fruits and Vegetables as Mediator of the
Association between Distance to Primary Food Store and Fruit and Vegetable
Consumption Among National Home Environment Survey Respondents (N=3,775) 91
Figure 4. Home Inventories of Fruit and Vegetables as a Mediator of the Association
between Distance to Primary Food Store and Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among
National Home Environment Survey Respondents (N=3,775)
Figure 5. Distance to the Nearest Healthy Food Retailer as a Moderator of the Efficacy
of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention for Improving Dietary Quality
(N=262)
Figure 6. Number of Healthy Food Retailers within 1-Mile of a Participant's Home as a
Moderator of the Efficacy of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention for
Improving Dietary Quality (N=262)

List of Tables

Table 1 Summary of Cross-Sectional Observational Research Studies Examining the
Relationship between Availability of Healthy Food Retailers and Dietary Outcomes 19
Table 2. Summary of Cross-Sectional Research Studies Examining the Relationship
between Accessibility of Healthy Food Retailers and Dietary Outcomes
Table 3. Methodological Summary of Evaluations of the Opening of a Retailer of
Healthy Foods on Fruit and Vegetable Intake among Adults (N=15)
Table 4. Effect Sizes of the Impact of the Opening of a New Retailer of Healthy Foods
on Within-Person Change in Fruit and Vegetable Consumption among Adults (n=6) 60
Table 5. Characteristics of National Home Environment Survey Respondents, Stratified
by Rurality (N=3,775)
Table 6. Community and Home Food Environment Predictors of Fruit and Vegetable
Consumption among National Home Environment Survey Respondents and Evidence of
Rural-Urban Variability (N=3,775)
Table 7. Baseline Demographic, Socioeconomic, and Neighborhood-Level
Characteristics of Participants in the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Randomized Trial
(N=349)
Table 8. Impact of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention on the Healthy
Eating Index-2010 (HEI-2010) Total and Subcomponent Scores at 6 and 12-Month
Follow-Up (N=349) 119
Table 9. Access to Healthy Food Retailers as a Moderator of the Efficacy of the Healthy
Homes/Healthy Families Intervention to Improve Dietary Quality, as Measured by the
Healthy Eating Index-2010 Total Score at Six Months Follow-Up (N=262) 121
Table 10. Summary of Key Findings from Dissertation Analyses 146
Table 11. Study-Specific Strengths and Limitations

CHAPTER 1. Introduction

Improving Dietary Intake as a Chronic Disease Prevention Strategy Two out of every three Americans are currently overweight or obese,^{1,2} and chronic

diseases, such as heart disease, cancer, and stroke are leading causes of mortality in the United States (US).³ Dietary intake is an important behavioral determinant of energy balance and healthy weight maintenance,^{4,5} and efforts to improve the quality of the typical American diet are a major chronic disease prevention and control strategy in the US.^{6,7}

Every five years, the US Department of Agriculture and the Department of Health and Human Services jointly publish *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*, which outlines the federal government's guidance on diet and nutrition.⁷ According to these guidelines, healthy diets are rich in fruits and vegetables, whole grains, low-fat dairy products, and lean proteins and limited in saturated and trans fats, sodium, and added sugars.⁷ The extent to which an individual person's dietary intake adheres to these guidelines is one of the most commonly used conceptualizations of overall dietary quality.⁸⁻¹⁰ Better dietary quality is associated with reduced weight gain over time,¹¹ risk of obesity,¹² incident diabetes and coronary heart disease,^{13,14} and mortality from cardiovascular disease and cancer.^{14,15} A recent meta-analysis of cohort studies estimated that diets of the highest quality are associated with a reduction of all-cause mortality by 22% and mortality from preventable chronic diseases by 15-22%.¹⁴ However, national estimates indicate that the typical American diet does not adhere to federal nutrition guidelines.¹⁶⁻¹⁹

Large majorities of Americans do not meet the federal government's minimum recommended intake of several nutrient-rich food groups, such as fruits (79.6% \pm 1.01),

vegetables (88.7% \pm 0.98), whole grains (99.3% \pm 0.12).¹⁶ Instead, energy intake disproportionately comes from energy-dense food sources: 95.5% of Americans are estimated to exceed the maximum recommended consumption of solid fats, added sugars, and alcoholic beverages.¹⁶ By one estimate, the only dietary component that Americans consume in sufficient quantities is total protein foods; consumption of all other food groups remains suboptimal.¹⁷ Although multiple trend analyses have indicated modest improvements in overall dietary quality since the late 1990s, it remains poor for the majority of Americans.¹⁷⁻¹⁹

Fruit and vegetable consumption is an important component of diet quality and efforts to increase fruit and vegetable consumption are an important chronic disease prevention strategy in the US.^{6,7} Previous research has shown that greater intake of fruits and vegetables is positively correlated with higher dietary quality and inversely associated with total energy intake.²⁰ Higher fruit and vegetable intake may also be protective against some forms of cancer²¹⁻²⁶ and cardiovascular disease.^{22,27-29} Some evidence indicates that increased consumption of fruits and vegetables may also promote healthy weight maintenance over time,³⁰⁻³² possibly by displacing other more energy-dense food sources.²⁰

However, fruit and vegetable intake remains below recommended levels. For example, an analysis of Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data from 2015 indicated that American adults consume fruit and vegetables a median of 1.0 and 1.7 times per day respectively and that relatively few meet fruit (12.2%, 95% CI: 11.2-13.3%) and vegetable (9.3%, 95% CI: 6.1-12.5%) intake recommendations in *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*.³³ According to the most recent estimates from the Nutrition

and Health Examination Survey (NHANES), fruit and vegetable intake is low (estimated 2.4 daily servings, 95% CI: 2.4-2.5),¹⁹ and multiple trend analyses have found no evidence of improvements in intake over time.^{19,34,35} These findings suggest that increasing fruit and vegetable consumption at the population level is an important national chronic disease prevention priority.

Current projections indicate that Healthy People 2020 goals for improving dietary quality will not be met.¹⁷ These goals include increasing consumption of fruits, vegetables, and whole grains, and to decreasing consumption of solid fats, added sugars, and sodium.⁶ Specifically, for every 1,000 calories consumed, Americans aged 2 years and older should increase their consumption of fruits to 0.93 cup equivalents (2010 baseline: 0.53 cup equivalents), vegetables to 1.16 cup equivalents (2010 baseline: 0.76 cup equivalents), and whole grains to 0.66 ounce equivalents (2010 baseline: 0.34 ounce equivalents).⁶ Conversely, for every 1,000 calories consumed, Americans aged 2 years and older should reduce their calories from solid fats to 14.2% (2010 baseline: 16.6%), added sugars to 9.7% (2010 baseline: 15.1%), and should reduce their sodium intake to 2,300 mg (2010 baseline: 3,658 mg).⁶

Socioeconomic Disparities in Dietary Intake

Socioeconomically disadvantaged groups are at particular risk for poor dietary quality. For example, according to 2011-2012 NHANES estimates, 35.7% (95% CI: 29.8-41.9) of adults from the most affluent group (defined as having an income to poverty level ratio \geq 3.0) had a diet classified as poor, as compared to 60.6% (95% CI: 56.2-64.9) from the least affluent group (defined as having an income to poverty level ratio <1.3).¹⁹ Additionally, multiple trend analyses have shown differential improvement in dietary quality by socioeconomic status, effectively widening existing socioeconomic disparities in dietary quality.^{18,19} For example, from 2003-2012, the proportion of adults classified as having a poor diet declined most rapidly among the most affluent group (14.8 percentage point decline among adults with income to poverty level ratio of \geq 3.0, p<.0001 for trend) as compared to the least affluent group (7.1 percentage point decline among income to poverty level ratio of <1.3, p=.03 for trend), and that these differences were statistically significant (p=.04 for interaction).¹⁹ These findings regarding differential improvements in dietary quality by socioeconomic status have been replicated using different operational definitions of dietary quality.¹⁸

Similar patterns are evident for fruit and vegetable intake as well. Higher annual household income and educational attainment have been shown to be associated with greater fruit and vegetable intake.³⁴⁻³⁹ For example, a recent analysis of NHANES data showed that adults with higher incomes (defined as poverty income ratio of \geq 400% poverty threshold) consumed significantly more daily servings of fruits and vegetables as compared to adults with lower incomes (<400% poverty threshold).³⁹ These results confirm those from a prior analysis, which showed that the most affluent individuals (measured using poverty to income ratio) had 1.65 times the odds of meeting recommended fruit and vegetable intake levels as compared to the least affluent individuals (95% CI: 1.37-1.99).³⁷ Additionally, individuals with a high school diploma had 1.90 times the odds of meeting recommended fruit and vegetable recommended fruit and vegetable as compared to those with less than a high school diploma (95% CI: 1.62-2.22).³⁷

Theoretical Frameworks of Food Environments

The major theoretical frameworks that have been used to characterize food retail environments are discussed below and presented in Figure 1. Although health promotion research has historically focused on individual-level determinants of poor dietary behavior (e.g., knowledge, cognitions, attitudes, beliefs), in recent years, attention has shifted to the role that environments play in shaping these behaviors. This approach is supported by existing research. For example, a recent review found that psychosocial variables, such as knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and self-efficacy, accounted for less than 30% of the variability in fruit and vegetable consumption.⁴⁰ This suggests that a relatively large proportion of the variability in fruit and vegetable consumption remains unexplained by psychosocial variables and may be explained by higher-order contextual factors.

This emphasis is also consistent with the dominant theoretical frameworks in public health, such as the Social Ecological Model,⁴¹ which have been used to justify focusing on environments as determinants of behavior. According to the Social Ecological Model, health behavior is not simply a function of individual-level risk factors, but also of characteristics of interpersonal relationships, organizational characteristics, community characteristics, and public policy.⁴¹ Story and colleagues have proposed an adapted version of the Social Ecologic Model specifically for dietary behavior, which identifies the following levels of influence: individual factors (e.g., demographic characteristics, cognitions, skills, etc.), social environments (e.g., social support and norms among networks), physical environments (e.g., characteristics of both organizational and community environments), and the policy environment (e.g., regulatory policies.)⁴² However, a limitation of the Social Ecological Model is that although it is useful for determining the multilevel influences on health-related behavior, it proposes no specific variables or causal relationships between variables, and does not identify which environmental characteristics are most important. Subsequent work has extended this

model to specify the environmental factors most relevant to the field of dietary behavior (Figure 1). According to these frameworks, the food environment is comprised of multiple built environments,⁴³ including microenvironments, which refer to characteristics of specific organizations or individual food stores, and macroenvironments, which refer to the composition of food retailers within a geographic area.⁴⁴

Within this body of research, access to healthy food retailers is a commonly used theoretical construct, and is comprised of the following attributes: availability (i.e., the presence of healthy food options within an environment), accessibility (i.e., the distance required to purchase healthy food options), affordability (i.e., the price of food within an environment), acceptability (i.e., the sufficiency and appropriateness of food within an environment), and accommodation (i.e., the ability of a food environment to meet consumers' needs).⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷ Although the operational definition of healthy food retailers varies widely from study to study, retailers are typically designated as healthy if they fall into one of the following categories, which have been shown to sell a large selection of healthy foods at low cost: supermarkets, large grocery stores, superstores or supercenters, and warehouse clubs.^{48,49} These designations are made based off of industry classification codes, including the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) or Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes based on prior research documenting that these categories of retailers typically sell a large variety of healthy food options that are affordably priced.^{48,49} Dollar stores, convenience stores, and corner stores are not included in this operational definition of healthy food retailers, as these stores have been shown to sell a more limited selection of healthy food items at higher cost.^{48,49} This

approach is limited in that it does not account for variability in the quality and types of food sold in individual stores. However, benefits of using this operational definition of access to healthy foods include that it is an economical and feasible method of approximating access to healthy foods within a community.

Disparities in Access to Healthy Food Retailers

Disparities in access to healthy food retailers may partly explain why the typical American diet is of poor quality, especially among socioeconomically disadvantaged populations. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimates that 30.3% of census tracts in the US do not have at least one retailer of healthy foods located within their boundaries.⁵⁰ Poor neighborhoods, those comprised of predominantly racial and ethnic minority residents, and those located in rural areas are least likely to have access to healthy food retailers.⁵¹⁻⁵⁴

For example, a national analysis found that low-income zip codes had only 75% as many chain supermarkets as median-income zip codes.⁵² Additionally, a large multisite cohort study found that supermarkets were 3.3 times as prevalent in high-wealth census tracts relative to low-income census tracts (95% CI: 1.4, 7.9), and 4.3 times as prevalent in predominantly white relative to predominantly black census tracts (95% CI: 1.5, 12.5).⁵³ Another study conducted in Detroit found that high-poverty census tracts with predominantly African American residents were located 1.1 miles farther from the nearest large grocery store as compared to high-poverty census tracts with predominantly white residents, suggesting a compounding effect of neighborhood wealth and racial composition.⁵⁵ Prior research has also shown that census tracts with predominantly African American residents and those with lower median household incomes have a

lower availability of healthy foods, as measured by in-store audits of the foods sold at all retailers within a geographic area.⁴⁹

Access to Healthy Food Retailers as a Determinant of Dietary Intake

Despite the fact that disparities in access to healthy food retailers are well documented,⁵¹ research regarding the associations between access to healthy foods and dietary behavior has been mixed.⁴⁵ To date, the vast majority of food environment research has used observational designs among cross-sectional samples.

Most rely on geospatial analysis by obtaining the locations of healthy food retailers from state or municipal records or commercial firms (e.g., Dun & Bradstreet or InfoUSA). Because geospatial analysis is time consuming and resource-intensive, studies using geospatial methods are typically conducted in limited geographic areas. Most studies have focused on urban metropolitan areas (e.g., Boston, New York City, Detroit, New Orleans, Philadelphia, Los Angeles),^{54,56-62} though some have focused on rural populations (e.g., rural counties in KY, NC).⁶³⁻⁶⁷

Commonly used outcome measures include daily servings of fruits and vegetables, ^{54,56,57,60-62,65,67-69} whether or not dietary guidelines for fruit and vegetable consumption are met, ^{58,61,62,70} the likelihood of consuming 5 or more servings of fruits and vegetables per day, ⁶⁶ and various measures of dietary quality. ^{63,64,71}

Various research groups have defined healthy food retailers differently, with examples of the types of retailers in this category including supermarkets, grocery stores, superstores or supercenters, and warehouse clubs. These store types are often used as proxies for the availability of healthy foods within a geographic area, as they have been shown to sell a larger selection of healthy foods at low prices.^{48,49} Convenience stores, dollar stores, and corner stores are not included in the definition of healthy food retailers as these stores

have been shown to sell few healthy food options and at higher prices as compared to the aforementioned store types.^{48,49} Although the method of using specific store types as proxies for access to healthy food retailers is imperfect, it remains a feasible methods of identifying communities that likely have limited access to healthy food options. The two most commonly used measures of access to healthy food retailers include measures of *availability* (e.g., presence, number, and density) and measures of accessibility (e.g., proximity to the nearest healthy food retailer).⁴⁵ Most studies investigating the availability of healthy food retailers have operationalized this as the presence, ^{54,57,63,67,72,73} number or density of healthy food retailers^{56,58,59,61,68,70,71} within administrative boundaries (e.g., county,⁶⁸ zip codes,⁵⁸ census block groups,^{54,56} census tracts^{67,70}) or geographic buffers ranging from 0.5-1 mi around a residential address.^{57,61,63,64,71} Studies investigating the accessibility of healthy food retailers typically operationalize the exposure variable as either street network or straight-line distances from the participant's residential address to the newest supermarket.54,57,60,64,65,73

Results regarding the relationship between the *availability* of healthy food retailers and dietary behavior are summarized in Table 1. Overall, findings regarding the association between the availability of healthy food retailers and dietary behaviors, such as fruit and vegetable consumption and dietary quality, are mixed. Some, but not all, studies found statistically significant associations between the availability of a healthy food retailer on fruit and vegetable consumption^{54,56,63,74} or dietary quality.⁷¹ For example, one study found that the presence of a supermarket or grocery store within a 0.5-mile buffer of the participants' residential address was associated with increased vegetable consumption

 $(\beta=3.04, 95\%$ CI: 1.13, 8.17) among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program recipients in Kentucky.⁶³ Another study found that the presence of a large grocery store within a 0.5-mi buffer of the census block group was associated with a 0.69 servings/day increase in F&V consumption (p=.002).⁵⁴ A different study found that for each additional supermarket in the census tract, the likelihood of meeting dietary guidelines for fruit and vegetable consumption increased 32% for Black residents (RR=1.32; 95% CI=1.08, 1.60).⁷⁰ Individuals with no supermarket within 1 mile of their residential address were 25% less likely to have a healthy diet as compared to participants who had a density of 2.2 supermarkets per square mile near their homes (RP=0.75, 95% CI=0.59, 0.95).⁷¹ However, these results have not been replicated across all studies; many have not found a statistically significant association between the availability of a healthy food retailer and dietary outcomes.^{57,58,61,62,64,67,68}

Results regarding the relationship between *accessibility* of healthy food retailers and dietary behavior are summarized in Table 2. Findings from this body of research are also mixed. Two studies found a significant inverse association between distance to the nearest supermarket and fruit and vegetable intake or dietary quality.^{64,65} For example, one study of senior citizens in rural Texas found that for each additional mile to the nearest supermarket, participants consumed 0.02 fewer servings of fruits and vegetables per day (p=.002).⁶⁵ Another study of pregnant women in North Carolina found that participants who live more than 4.0 miles from a supermarket had lower dietary quality as compared to those living less than 1.99 miles from a supermarket.⁶⁴ However, these findings were not replicated across all studies; four studies did not find a statistically

significant association between accessibility to the nearest healthy food retailer and diet.^{54,57,60,66}

Initiatives to Increase Access to Healthy Food Retailers

Despite the fact that the relationship between access to healthy food retailers and dietary behavior remains unclear, large-scale health promotion efforts are underway to improve community food environments nationwide. For example, HealthyPeople2020 now includes a developmental objective to "increase the proportion of Americans who have access to a food outlet that sells a variety of foods that are encouraged by the Dietary Guidelines for Americans.⁶" Additionally, public-private partnerships, such as the Healthy Food Financing Initiative, include strategies to access to healthy foods by building new retailers of healthy foods, among other initiatives to improve community food environments.⁷⁵ At the state level, the Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative funded \$73.2 million in loans and \$12.1 million in grants from 2004-2010 to assist with financing the development of supermarkets in low-income neighborhoods that lacked access to healthy food options.⁷⁶ New York introduced a similar model called the Food Retail Expansion to Support Health (FRESH) program to incentivize the development and retention of neighborhood grocery stores throughout the city using zoning reform and financial incentives.⁷⁷ Similar initiatives exist in California and New Orleans as well.^{78,79}

In Metro-Atlanta alone, there are numerous examples of new retailers of healthy foods opening to serve communities with limited access to fresh produce. Examples include the Atlanta Mobile Market, a van that distribute fresh produce to underserved communities,⁸⁰ and the Fresh MARTA markets, which are freestanding fruit and vegetable stands that sell locally grown fresh produce at public transit stops.⁸¹ Finally, the Boulevard Co-Op and Carver Market are two examples of grocery stores that have

recently opened to serve the residents of the Old Fourth Ward and Westside communities with healthy food options.^{82,83}

Research Gaps

Although increasing access to healthy food retailers as a chronic disease prevention strategy is consistent with multiple theoretical frameworks of health promotion, research currently lags behind public health practice. Major gaps in this body of research include that:

Few theoretical frameworks have been developed to guide this area of research.

Although theoretical frameworks have been proposed to justify focusing on food environments as a determinant of dietary behavior, few theories and models have been developed to specify the mechanisms through which neighborhood food environments influence behavior. As a result, this area of research rests on underlying assumptions that have been poorly described and remain largely untested. To date, most studies have estimated the direct effects of various measures of access to healthy food retailers on diet, but relatively few have proposed or empirically tested the mechanisms through which these associations operate. Presumably, food acquisition practices mediate the association between access and diet, such that individuals who live in areas with greater access to healthy food retailers will shop at those retailers more frequently and purchase greater quantities of fruits and vegetables, explaining their higher consumption of these items. However, research is needed to formally test to what extent these variables mediate the association between access to healthy food retailers and diet.

Additionally, with a few exceptions^{65,84} little attention has been paid to identifying populations that may be differentially impacted by characteristics of their food environments. For example, are rural populations affected differently than urban

populations? SNAP vs. non-SNAP beneficiaries? Car owners vs. non-owners? Answers to these questions would help focus health promotion programming by identifying the populations that may benefit most from initiatives to improve local food retail environments.

Observational research has largely focused on objectively measured access to healthy foods within residential neighborhoods.

Another gap in this area of research is that most studies have focused on objectivelymeasured access to healthy food retailers within residential neighborhoods, often operationalized as proximity to the nearest healthy food retailer.⁴⁵ However, a recent report by the United States Department of Agriculture suggests that most Americans do not shop at the store located nearest to their residential address.⁸⁵ Although distance, travel time, and convenience are likely to be important factors shaping consumer decisions about where to purchase their food, other salient factors may include price, the quality and selection of products, among others.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸ Additionally, some consumers may not do their grocery shopping within their residential neighborhoods, but may instead shop at stores located close to their schools, workplaces, or along their daily commute routes.⁸⁷ Though some research has focused on access to healthy food retailers within daily activity spaces,⁶⁹ this approach remains underutilized and few studies have assessed the impact of transportation options on relationships between access to healthy food retailers and dietary behavior.⁸⁹

Few experimental studies have been conducted regarding the impact that opening new healthy food retailers is likely to have on dietary intake.

The vast majority of research regarding food retail environments has been observational in nature, and few experimental studies evaluating the impact of introductions of new healthy food retailers into communities exist. More rigorous research regarding the effectiveness of this approach for improving dietary behavior is needed in light of the large-scale health promotion efforts to improve community food environments by introducing new retailers of healthy foods into limited-access communities.⁷⁵⁻⁷⁹ Additionally, although some evaluations of introductions of new supermarkets and grocery stores,⁹⁰ farmers' markets,⁹¹ produce stands,⁹² and mobile markets exist⁹³ and have used dietary behavior as outcome variables, no known reviews have summarized this body of research. Such a review would provide a useful resource to methodologically align future research and could be used to compare effect sizes across other categories of interventions to improve dietary behavior, including health education,⁹⁴ modifications to in-store food environments,⁹⁵ and subsidies/financial incentives.⁹⁶

Few studies have conceptualized the impact of food retail environments in novel ways In addition to assessing the effect of access to healthy food retailers on diet, characteristics of local food retail environments may shape behavior in other ways. For example, a small but growing body of research has explored to what extent access to healthy food retailers moderates the efficacy of behavioral interventions to improve dietary intake and weight-related outcomes.⁹⁷ Research regarding novel conceptualizations of the impact of retail food environments on behavior would advance this body of research and improve our understandings of environments as potential moderators of intervention efficacy.

Dissertation Overview

The purpose of this dissertation is to address some of the aforementioned gaps in the research literature with three studies.

<u>Specific Aim #1: Conduct a systematic review examining the impact of openings of</u> <u>healthy food retailers on dietary behavior</u>. This review will include research articles published in peer-reviewed academic journals, and will focus on documenting the types of retailers that have been evaluated, the settings in which these retailers have been implemented, the methods used to evaluate them, and their impact on fruit and vegetable consumption among adults.

Specific Aim #2: Investigate the relationship between an alternate measure of access to healthy food retailers and fruit and vegetable intake, and assess food acquisition behaviors as mediators of this relationship. Using data from the Emory Prevention Research Center's National Home Environment Survey, this study explores the relationship between self-reported distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption among a large national sample of consumers who report shopping at supermarkets, grocery stores, superstores, and warehouse clubs. Additionally, we investigate the extent to which frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables and home inventories of fruits and vegetables mediate this relationship. As an exploratory sub-aim, we investigate whether there is evidence that these relationships are moderated by rurality.

<u>Specific Aim #3: Assess to what extent access to healthy food retailers moderates the</u> <u>efficacy of a health promotion intervention to improve dietary quality.</u> This aim uses data from a randomized trial evaluating Healthy Homes / Healthy Families, a coaching intervention to prevent weight gain among low-income overweight and obese women living in a predominantly rural region of the state of Georgia. Using geospatial analysis, this study investigates the extent to which three measures of access to a healthy food retailer moderates the efficacy of the intervention for improving dietary quality, as measured by the Healthy Eating Index-2010.^{9,10} The measures of access used in this study include distance to the nearest healthy food retailer and the presence and density of healthy food retailers within a 1-mile radial buffer of the participant's residential address.

Combined, these studies will address needed gaps in scientific understanding of how characteristics of food retail environments influence dietary behavior. Specifically, this dissertation aims to identify (1) the extent to which environments can be modified to improve population-level fruit and vegetable consumption, (2) the mechanisms through which access to healthy food retailers influences dietary behavior, and (3) the extent to which characteristics of food environments moderate the efficacy of behavioral intervention to improve dietary outcomes. These studies will inform theoretical frameworks of how environments influence behavior and help understand how these environments can be altered as part of a chronic disease prevention initiatives.

Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Conceptual Model of Physical Environments and Access to Healthy Food Options



Table 1 Summary of Cr	oss-Sectional Observational Res	search Studies Examining	the Relationship between	Availability of
Healthy Food Retailers a	and Dietary Outcomes			

Citation	Participants	Exposure	Outcome	Key Results	
	Group 1: Studies that used F&V intake as main outcome measure				
Gustafson, 2011 ⁶⁷	N=186 low-income women in NC	Presence of a supermarket in census tract of residence	Daily servings of F&V	No statistically significant association (β =0.12, 95% CI=-0.62, 0.86)	
Gustafson, 2013 ⁶³	N=146 SNAP participants Fayette County, KY	Presence of a grocery store/supermarket within 0.5 mile residential buffer	Daily servings of F&V	Store presence associated with increased vegetable consumption (β =3.04, 95% CI: 1.13, 8.17) but not fruit consumption.	
Zenk, 2009 ⁵⁴	N=919 Detroit, MI	Presence of a large grocery store in 0.5-mile buffer of census block group of residence	Daily servings of F&V	Presence of large grocery store in neighborhood associated with 0.69 increase in F&V intake (p=.002).	
Bodor, 2008 ⁵⁷	N=102 New Orleans, LA	Presence of a supermarket within 1,000-meter residential buffer	Daily servings of F&V	Presence of supermarket not significantly associated with F&V intake.	
Lucan, 2014 ⁶²	N=4,399 Philadelphia, PA	Presence of a supermarket in census tract + .25-mile buffer	Daily servings of F&V	No significant association (OR=.96, 95% CI: .82-1.11)	
Izumi, 2011 ⁵⁶	N=919 Detroit, MI	Number of food stores selling 5+ kinds of dark green or orange F&V within 0.5-mi buffer from centroid of census block of residence	Daily servings of dark green and orange F&V	Compared to areas with 2+ stores, having 0 stores associated with 0.17 fewer daily servings of dark green and orange vegetables (p=.047).	
Mejia, 2015 ⁶¹	N=5,185 Los Angeles, CA	Number of large supermarkets within .25, .5, 1, 1.5, and 3- mile residential buffers	Daily servings of fruits and vegetables	No significant associations for any buffer size.	
Powell, 2009 ⁵²	N=3,739 National	Density of supermarkets per 10,000 capita within county of residence	Number of times per week F&V consumed	No significant associations.	

Citation	Participants	Exposure	Outcome	Key Results
Morland,	N=10,623	Number of supermarkets in	Meeting dietary	Likelihood of meeting F&V intake
2002^{53}	ARIC cohort	census tract of residence	guidelines for F&V	guidelines increased 32% for
	MD, NC, MI,		consumption	Blacks (RR=1.32; 95% CI=1.08,
	& MN		_	1.60) and 11% for Whites
				(RR=1.11; 95% CI=0.93, 1.32) for
				each additional supermarket in
				census tract.
Jack,	N=15,634	Quartiles of healthy food	Eating 5 or more	No significant association
201358	New York,	retailer density (supermarkets,	servings of F&V per	(OR=1.12, 95% CI=0.90, 1.38)
	NY	F&V markets, health food	day (vs. not)	
		stores divided by land area) in		
		zip code of residence		
	Gro	oup 2: Studies that used dietary of	quality as main outcon	ne measure
Moore,	N=2,384	Density of supermarkets within	Alternate Healthy	Compared to those with 2.2
2008^{71}	MESA cohort	1-mile residential buffer	Eating Index and	supermarkets within 1 mile of
	NC, MD, NY		Fats & Processed	home, those with 0 supermarkets
			Meats dietary pattern	were 25% less likely to have a
			measure	healthy diet (RP=0.75, 95%
				CI=0.59, 0.95).
Laraia,	N=918	Number of supermarkets	Dietary Quality	No significant associations.
2004^{64}	pregnant	within block group of	Index for Pregnancy	
	women in NC	residence or 0.5-mile	(DQI-P)	
		residential buffer		
Gustafson,	N=146 SNAP	Presence of grocery	Healthy Eating	No significant associations.
2013 ⁶³	participants	store/supermarket within .5	Index	
	Fayette	mile residential buffer		
	County, KY			

Citation	Sample	Exposure &	Outcome	Kev Results	
onunon	Sumple	Geographic	outcome		
		Unit			
	Group 1: Studie	es that used F&V	intake as mair	outcome	
Zenk,	N=919	Distance to	Daily	No significant	
200954	Detroit, MI	nearest	servings of	association (β =0.056,	
	,	supermarket	F&V	95% CI=0.120, 0.638)	
Bodor,	N=122	Distance to	Daily	No significant	
200857	New Orleans, LA	nearest	servings of	association for fruit	
		supermarket	F&V	$(\beta=0.445, p=0.642)$ or	
		1		vegetable intake (β =-	
				0.94, p=0.930)	
Sharkey,	N=582 seniors in	Network	Daily	Distance to nearest	
2010 ⁶⁵	rural TX	distance to	servings of	supermarket was	
		nearest	F&V	inversely associated	
		supermarket		with fruit and	
		-		vegetable intake (β =-	
				0.020, p=0.002).	
Caspi,	N=828 low-	Network	Daily	No significant	
2012^{60}	income housing	distance to	servings of	association (p=.22).	
	residents	nearest	F&V		
	Boston, MA	supermarket			
Jilcott	N=400 women in	Network	Eating 5+	No significant	
Pitts,	Pitt County, NC	distance to	servings of	association (PR=1.02,	
201366		nearest	F&V (&	95% CI: 0.94, 1.11;	
		supermarket	BMI – see	p=0.704).	
			below)		
Group 2: Studies that used dietary quality as main outcome					
Laraia,	N=918 pregnant	Euclidean	Dietary	Women who lived	
2004^{64}	women	distance to	Quality	>4.0 miles from a	
		supermarket (3	Index for	supermarket had	
		level	Pregnancy	lower dietary quality	
		categorical)	(DQI-P)	as compared to	
				women living <1.99	
				miles from a	
				supermarket.	

Table 2. Summary of Cross-Sectional Research Studies Examining the Relationship

 between Accessibility of Healthy Food Retailers and Dietary Outcomes

References

1. Hales CM, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2015–2016. *NCHS data brief.* 2017(288):1-8.

 Flegal KM, Kruszon-Moran D, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. Trends in obesity among adults in the United States, 2005 to 2014. *JAMA*. 2016;315(21):2284-2291.

3. Heron M. Deaths: Leading causes for 2015 [USA]. *National Vital Statistics Reports: from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System.* 2017;66(5):1-76.

4. Swinburn BA, Caterson I, Seidell JC, James W. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of excess weight gain and obesity. *Public Health Nutr.* 2004;7(1a):123-146.

5. Curioni C, Lourenco P. Long-term weight loss after diet and exercise: a systematic review. *Int J Obes*. 2005;29(10):1168-1174.

US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020 Objectives.
 2020; 2017. Available at:

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/objectiveslist.aspx?topicid=5. Accessed January 23, 2017.

 US Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary guidelines for Americans* 2015-2020. Skyhorse Publishing Inc.; 2017.

8. Kennedy E, Ohls J, Carlson S, Fleming K. The Healthy Eating Index: design and applications. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 1995;95(10):1103-1108.

9. Guenther PM, Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. Development of the Healthy Eating Index-2005. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2008;108(11):1896-1901.

 Guenther PM, Casavale KO, Reedy J, et al. Update of the Healthy Eating Index: HEI-2010. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2013;113(4):569-580.

11. Fung TT, Pan A, Hou T, et al. Long-term change in diet quality is associated with body weight change in men and women. *J Nutr*. 2015;145(8):1850-1856.

12. Nicklas TA, Johnson CC, Myers L, Farris RP, Cunningham A. Outcomes of a high school program to increase fruit and vegetable consumption: Gimme 5—a fresh nutrition concept for students. *J Sch Health.* 1998;68(6):248-253.

13. Chiuve SE, Fung TT, Rimm EB, et al. Alternative dietary indices both strongly predict risk of chronic disease. *J Nutr.* 2012;142(6):1009-1018.

14. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Diet quality as assessed by the Healthy Eating Index, the Alternate Healthy Eating Index, the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension score, and health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2015;115(5):780-800. e785.

15. Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Miller PE, et al. Higher diet quality is associated with decreased risk of all-cause, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality among older adults. *J Nutr.* 2014;144(6):881-889.

16. Krebs-Smith SM, Guenther PM, Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Dodd KW. Americans do not meet federal dietary recommendations. *J Nutr*. 2010;140(10):1832-1838.

17. Wilson MM, Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM. American diet quality: where it is, where it is heading, and what it could be. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2016;116(2):302-310. e301.

18. Wang DD, Leung CW, Li Y, et al. Trends in dietary quality among adults in the United States, 1999 through 2010. *JAMA internal medicine*. 2014;174(10):1587-1595.

19. Rehm CD, Peñalvo JL, Afshin A, Mozaffarian D. Dietary intake among US adults, 1999-2012. *JAMA*. 2016;315(23):2542-2553.

20. Guenther PM, Kirkpatrick SI, Reedy J, et al. The Healthy Eating Index-2010 is a valid and reliable measure of diet quality according to the 2010 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. *J Nutr.* 2014:jn. 113.183079.

21. Boffetta P, Couto E, Wichmann J, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and overall cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2010;102(8):529-537.

22. Hung H-C, Joshipura KJ, Jiang R, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and risk of major chronic disease. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2004;96(21):1577-1584.

23. Smith-Warner SA, Spiegelman D, Yaun S-S, et al. Intake of fruits and vegetables
and risk of breast cancer: a pooled analysis of cohort studies. *JAMA*. 2001;285(6):769776.

24. Van Gils CH, Peeters PH, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, et al. Consumption of vegetables and fruits and risk of breast cancer. *JAMA*. 2005;293(2):183-193.

25. Koushik A, Hunter DJ, Spiegelman D, et al. Fruits, vegetables, and colon cancer risk in a pooled analysis of 14 cohort studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2007;99(19):1471-1483.

26. Kirsh VA, Peters U, Mayne ST, et al. Prospective study of fruit and vegetable intake and risk of prostate cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2007;99(15):1200-1209.

27. He FJ, Nowson CA, MacGregor GA. Fruit and vegetable consumption and stroke: meta-analysis of cohort studies. *The Lancet*. 2006;367(9507):320-326.

Hu FB. Plant-based foods and prevention of cardiovascular disease: an overview.
 Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;78(3):544S-551S.

 Leenders M, Sluijs I, Ros MM, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2013;178(4):590-602.

30. Alinia S, Hels O, Tetens I. The potential association between fruit intake and body weight - a review. *Obes Rev.* 2009;10(6):639-647.

31. Ledoux T, Hingle M, Baranowski T. Relationship of fruit and vegetable intake with adiposity: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(5):e143-e150.

32. Mozaffarian D, Hao T, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Hu FB. Changes in diet and lifestyle and long-term weight gain in women and men. *N Engl J Med.*

2011;364(25):2392-2404.

33. Lee-Kwan SH. Disparities in state-specific adult fruit and vegetable consumption—United States, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66.

34. Blanck HM, Gillespie C, Kimmons JE, Seymour JD, Serdula MK. Trends in fruit and vegetable consumption among US men and women, 1994–2005. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2008;5(2).

35. Serdula MK, Gillespie C, Kettel-Khan L, Farris R, Seymour J, Denny C. Trends in fruit and vegetable consumption among adults in the United States: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1994–2000. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(6):1014.

36. Kimmons J, Gillespie C, Seymour J, Serdula M, Blanck HM. Fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents and adults in the United States: percentage meeting individualized recommendations. *Medscape J Med.* 2009;11(1):26.

37. Casagrande SS, Wang Y, Anderson C, Gary TL. Have Americans increased their fruit and vegetable intake?: the trends between 1988 and 2002. *Am J Prev Med*.
2007;32(4):257-263.

38. Subar AF, Heimendinger J, Patterson BH, Krebs-Smith SM, Pivonka E, Kessler R. Fruit and vegetable intake in the United States: the baseline survey of the Five A Day for Better Health Program. *Am J Health Promot.* 1995;9(5):352-360.

39. Middaugh AL, Fisk PS, Brunt A, Rhee YS. Few associations between income and fruit and vegetable consumption. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2012;44(3):196-203.

40. Shaikh AR, Yaroch AL, Nebeling L, Yeh M-C, Resnicow K. Psychosocial predictors of fruit and vegetable consumption in adults: a review of the literature. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;34(6):535-543. e511.

41. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Educ Behav.* 1988;15(4):351-377.

42. Story M, Kaphingst KM, Robinson-O'Brien R, Glanz K. Creating healthy food and eating environments: policy and environmental approaches. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2008;29:253-272.

43. Brownson RC, Haire-Joshu D, Luke DA. Shaping the context of health: a review of environmental and policy approaches in the prevention of chronic diseases. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2006;27:341-370.

44. Ding D, Sallis JF, Norman GJ, et al. Community food environment, home food environment, and fruit and vegetable intake of children and adolescents. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2012;44(6):634-638.

45. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian S, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: a systematic review. *Health & place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187.

46. Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. *Med Care*. 1981;19(2):127-140.

47. Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr*.
2010;13(11):1773-1785.

Glanz K, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD. Nutrition Environment Measures
 Survey in stores (NEMS-S): development and evaluation. *Am J Prev Med*.
 2007;32(4):282-289.

49. Franco M, Diez Roux AV, Glass TA, Caballero B, Brancati FL. Neighborhood characteristics and availability of healthy foods in Baltimore. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;35(6):561-567.

 Grimm KA, Moore LV, Scanlon KS. Access to healthier food retailers—United States, 2011. CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report—United States, 2013.
 2013;62(3):20.

51. Larson NI, Story MT, Nelson MC. Neighborhood environments: disparities in access to healthy foods in the US. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009;36(1):74-81. e10.

52. Powell LM, Slater S, Mirtcheva D, Bao Y, Chaloupka FJ. Food store availability and neighborhood characteristics in the United States. *Prev Med.* 2007;44(3):189-195.

53. Morland K, Wing S, Diez Roux A, Poole C. Neighborhood characteristics associated with the location of food stores and food service places. *Am J Prev Med*. 2002;22(1):23-29.
54. Zenk SN, Lachance LL, Schulz AJ, Mentz G, Kannan S, Ridella W. Neighborhood retail food environment and fruit and vegetable intake in a multiethnic urban population. *Am J Health Promot*. 2009;23(4):255-264.

55. Zenk SN, Schulz AJ, Israel BA, James SA, Bao S, Wilson ML. Neighborhood racial composition, neighborhood poverty, and the spatial accessibility of supermarkets in metropolitan Detroit. *Journal Information*. 2005;95(4).

56. Izumi BT, Zenk SN, Schulz AJ, Mentz GB, Wilson C. Associations between neighborhood availability and individual consumption of dark-green and orange vegetables among ethnically diverse adults in Detroit. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2011;111(2):274-279.

57. Bodor JN, Rose D, Farley TA, Swalm C, Scott SK. Neighbourhood fruit and vegetable availability and consumption: the role of small food stores in an urban environment. *Public Health Nutr*. 2008;11(4):413-420.

58. Jack D, Neckerman K, Schwartz-Soicher O, et al. Socio-economic status, neighbourhood food environments and consumption of fruits and vegetables in New York City. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(7):1197-1205.

 Rundle A, Neckerman KM, Freeman L, et al. Neighborhood food environment and walkability predict obesity in New York City. *Environ Health Perspect*.
 2009;117(3):442-447.

60. Caspi CE, Kawachi I, Subramanian S, Adamkiewicz G, Sorensen G. The relationship between diet and perceived and objective access to supermarkets among low-income housing residents. *Soc Sci Med.* 2012;75(7):1254-1262.

61. Mejia N, Lightstone AS, Basurto-Davila R, Morales DM, Sturm R. Neighborhood food environment, diet, and obesity among Los Angeles County adults, 2011. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2015;12.

62. Lucan SC, Hillier A, Schechter CB, Glanz K. Objective and self-reported factors associated with food-environment perceptions and fruit-and-vegetable consumption: a multilevel analysis. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2014;11.

63. Gustafson A, Lewis S, Perkins S, Wilson C, Buckner E, Vail A. Neighbourhood and consumer food environment is associated with dietary intake among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) participants in Fayette County, Kentucky. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(7):1229-1237.

64. Laraia BA, Siega-Riz AM, Kaufman JS, Jones SJ. Proximity of supermarkets is positively associated with diet quality index for pregnancy. *Prev Med.* 2004;39(5):869-875.

65. Sharkey JR, Johnson CM, Dean WR. Food access and perceptions of the community and household food environment as correlates of fruit and vegetable intake among rural seniors. *BMC Geriatr.* 2010;10(1):32.

66. Jilcott Pitts SB, Wu Q, McGuirt JT, Crawford TW, Keyserling TC, Ammerman AS. Associations between access to farmers' markets and supermarkets, shopping patterns, fruit and vegetable consumption and health indicators among women of reproductive age in eastern North Carolina, USA. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(11):1944-1952.

67. Gustafson AA, Sharkey J, Samuel-Hodge CD, et al. Perceived and objective measures of the food store environment and the association with weight and diet among low-income women in North Carolina. *Public Health Nutr.* 2011;14(06):1032-1038.

68. Powell LM, Zhao Z, Wang Y. Food prices and fruit and vegetable consumption among young American adults. *Health Place*. 2009;15(4):1064-1070.

69. Gustafson A, Christian JW, Lewis S, Moore K, Jilcott S. Food venue choice, consumer food environment, but not food venue availability within daily travel patterns are associated with dietary intake among adults, Lexington, Kentucky 2011. *Nutr J*. 2013;12(1):17.

70. Morland K, Wing S, Diez Roux A. The contextual effect of the local food environment on residents' diets: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *Am J Public Health.* 2002;92(11):1761-1767.

71. Moore LV, Diez Roux AV, Nettleton JA, Jacobs DR, Jr. Associations of the local food environment with diet quality--a comparison of assessments based on surveys and geographic information systems: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2008;167(8):917-924.

72. Morland K, Diez Roux AV, Wing S. Supermarkets, other food stores, and obesity: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. *Am J Prev Med*. 2006;30(4):333-339.

73. Morland KB, Evenson KR. Obesity prevalence and the local food environment. *Health Place*. 2009;15(2):491-495.

74. Morland K, Wing S, Roux AD. The contextual effect of the local food environment on residents' diets: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Am J Public Health*. 2002;92(11):1761-1768.

75. Office of Community Services. Healthy Food Financing Initiative 2010. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/community-economic-development/healthy-food-financing. Accessed August 25, 2017.

76. The Reinvestment Fund. Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative.
http://www.trfund.com/pennsylvania-fresh-food-financing-initiative/. Accessed May 12, 2015, 2015.

77. New York City Office of the Mayor. Food Retail Expansion to Support Health (FRESH). http://www.nyc.gov/html/misc/html/2009/fresh.shtml. Accessed May 2015.

78. New Orleans Fresh Food Retailers Initiative. http://www.nola.gov/city/fresh-food-retailers-initiative/. Accessed November 1, 2016.

79. California FreshWorks. http://cafreshworks.com/. Accessed November 1, 2016.
80. The Atlanta Mobile Market,. http://www.atlantamobilemarket.org/. Accessed
December 15, 2017.

Community Farmers Markets. Fresh MARTA Markets. <u>https://cfmatl.org/marta/</u>.
 Accessed December 21, 2017.

82. Boulevard Co-Op. <u>https://www.facebook.com/pg/Boulevard-Food-Co-Op-</u> <u>1484029485199397/about/?ref=page_internal</u>. Accessed December 21, 2017.

83. Carver Neighborhood Market. <u>https://www.carvermarket.com/</u>. Accessed December 21, 2017.

84. Dean WR, Sharkey JR. Rural and urban differences in the associations between characteristics of the community food environment and fruit and vegetable intake. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2011;43(6):426-433.

85. Ver Ploeg M, Mancino L, Todd JE, Clay DM, Scharadin B. *Where Do Americans Usually Shop for Food and how Do They Travel to Get There?: Initial Findings from the National Household Food Acquisition and Purchase Survey.* United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2015.

86. Clary C, Matthews SA, Kestens Y. Between exposure, access and use:Reconsidering foodscape influences on dietary behaviours. *Health Place*. 2017;44:1-7.

87. Krukowski RA, McSweeney J, Sparks C, West DS. Qualitative study of influences on food store choice. *Appetite*. 2012;59(2):510-516.

88. Krukowski RA, Sparks C, DiCarlo M, McSweeney J, West DS. There's more to food store choice than proximity: a questionnaire development study. *BMC Public Health.* 2013;13(1):586.

89. Bodor JN, Hutchinson PL, Rose D. Car ownership and the association between fruit and vegetable availability and diet. *Prev Med.* 2013;57(6):903-905.

90. Dubowitz T, Ghosh-Dastidar M, Cohen DA, et al. Diet and perceptions change with supermarket introduction in a food desert, but not because of supermarket use. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2015;34(11):1858-1868.

91. Freedman DA, Choi SK, Hurley T, Anadu E, Hebert JR. A farmers' market at a federally qualified health center improves fruit and vegetable intake among low-income diabetics. *Prev Med.* 2013;56(5):288-292.

92. Evans AE, Jennings R, Smiley AW, et al. Introduction of farm stands in lowincome communities increases fruit and vegetable among community residents. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1137-1143.

93. Abusabha R, Namjoshi D, Klein A. Increasing access and affordability of produce improves perceived consumption of vegetables in low-income seniors. *J Am Diet Assoc*.
2011;111(10):1549-1555.

94. Thomson CA, Ravia J. A systematic review of behavioral interventions to promote intake of fruit and vegetables. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2011;111(10):1523-1535.

95. Gittelsohn J, Rowan M, Gadhoke P. Interventions in small food stores to change the food environment, improve diet, and reduce risk of chronic disease. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2012;9.

96. An R. Effectiveness of subsidies in promoting healthy food purchases and consumption: a review of field experiments. *Public Health Nutr.* 2013;16(7):1215-1228.

97. Gustafson AA, Sharkey J, Samuel-Hodge CD, Jones-Smith JC, Cai J, Ammerman AS. Food store environment modifies intervention effect on fruit and vegetable intake among low-income women in North Carolina. *J Nutr Metab.* 2012;2012.

CHAPTER 2. The Dietary Impact of Introducing New Retailers of Fruits and Vegetables into a Community: Results from a Systematic Review

This article was originally published as:

Woodruff RC, Raskind IG, Harris DM, Gazmararian JA, Kramer M, Haardörfer R,

Kegler MC. The dietary impact of introducing new retailers of fruits and vegetables into

a community: results from a systematic review. Public Helath Nutr. 2017; 21(5):981-991.

doi: 10.1017/S1368980017003226.

Abstract

Objective: To investigate the potential dietary impact of the opening of new retailers of healthy foods.

Design: Systematic review of the peer-reviewed research literature.

Setting: References published before November 2015 were retrieved from MEDLINE,

EMBASE, and Web of Science databases using keyword searches.

Subjects: The outcome of this review was change in fruit and vegetable consumption among adults.

Results: Of 3,514 references retrieved, 92 articles were reviewed in full text, and 23 articles representing 15 studies were included. Studies used post-test only (n=4), repeated cross-sectional (n=4), and repeated measurement designs (n=7) to evaluate the dietary impact of supermarket (n=7), farmers' market (n=4), produce stand (n=2), or produce van (n=2) openings. Evidence of increased fruit and vegetable consumption was most consistent among adults who began shopping at the new retailer. Three of four repeated

measurement studies found modest, albeit not always statistically significant, increases in fruit and vegetable consumption (range 0.23-0.54 servings per day) 6-12 months after baseline. Dietary change among residents of the broader community where the new retailer opened was less consistent.

Conclusions: The methodological quality of studies, including research designs, sampling methods, follow-up intervals, and outcome measures, ranged widely. Future research should align methodologically with previous work to facilitate meta-analytic synthesis of results. Opening a new retailer may result in modest short-term increases in fruit and vegetable consumption among adults who choose to shop there, but the potential longer-term dietary impact on customers and its impact on the broader community remains unclear.

Introduction

Social ecological models of health suggest that community food environments must be structured to support healthy eating behaviors to effectively prevent chronic disease.¹⁻⁴ However, a growing body of research has documented disparities in access to healthy foods throughout the United States (US).^{5,6} Neighborhoods with predominantly low-income and racial and ethnic minority residents tend to have limited access to retailers of healthier food options, such as full-service supermarkets,^{7,8} and are instead disproportionately served by retailers of calorically-dense processed foods, including fast food outlets.⁹

A growing focus on increasing access to healthy foods by opening new retailers in underserved communities is reflected in both national public health objectives and largescale healthy food financing initiatives. For example, Healthy People 2020 includes an objective to increase the proportion of Americans who have access to a food outlet that sells foods recommended by federal dietary guidelines.¹⁰ In 2010, the US Departments of Agriculture, Treasury, and Health and Human Services announced the Healthy Food Financing Initiative, which funds the development of new retailers of healthy foods in underserved communities throughout the country.¹¹ Additional public-private partnerships, such as the Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative, the New York Fresh Retail Expansion to Support Health (FRESH) program, the California FreshWorks fund, and the New Orleans Fresh Food Retailer Initiative, ¹²⁻¹⁵ are emerging as models for improving local food environments. Among other activities, these initiatives incentivize the development of supermarkets and grocery stores in limited-access neighborhoods through zoning reforms, loans, and grants.

Introducing new retailers of healthy foods into limited-access communities is an intuitively appealing intervention strategy, and although multiple evaluations of such initiatives have been published, no known systematic reviews have synthesized this body of research. This systematic review aims to answer the following research questions: 1) What types of retailers of fruits and vegetables have been evaluated and in what settings?; 2) What methods have been used to evaluate these initiatives?; and 3) To what extent have these initiatives impacted fruit and vegetable consumption among adults? Fruit and vegetable consumption among adults? Fruit and vegetable consumption among adults was identified as the outcome of interest because this was a commonly used outcome in relevant studies, as well as the broader epidemiologic literature.⁶

Methods

References were retrieved from MEDLINE, EMBASE, and Web of Science databases from inception through November 2015 using a search strategy adapted from a previous systematic review about spatial access to food retailers and diet.⁶ English-language references that contained at least one keyword related to the following three domains were retrieved: 1) food retailers (food retail*, food store*, food outlet*, grocer*, supermarket*, farmers market*, farm stand), 2) the environment (access*, availab*, afford*, environment*, loca*, neighborhood*, neighbourhood*, communit*, urban, or rural), and 3) diet (diet, fruit*, vegetable*, nutriti*, consum*, intake). Two investigators (RCW & IGR) identified candidate articles by independently reviewing the titles of all references for eligibility, referring to the abstracts for additional detail when a decision could not be made based on the title alone. References were excluded if they: 1) were not about the general topic area of access to healthy foods as a determinant of dietary behavior; 2) were not about an initiative intended to increase access to healthy foods; or 3) were not about the introduction of a new retailer of healthy foods into a community. Additional references were identified by hand-searching the bibliographies of the candidate articles and entering their bibliographic information into Google Scholar to identify more recent articles that had cited them.

Once the pool of candidate articles was finalized, all were reviewed in full text. In instances in which multiple publications resulted from the same parent study (e.g., a baseline paper describing the retailer and one or more outcome evaluations), we grouped articles by parent study and determined eligibility at the study-level. Studies were excluded if they were found to meet the exclusion criteria described previously, if the evaluation did not include change in fruit and vegetable consumption as an outcome, or if it focused exclusively on dietary change among children. Studies that focused exclusively on children were excluded, as the causal mechanism through which the opening of a new retailer of healthy foods would impact diet was expected to differ for this group. The data abstraction form was developed based on the Transparent Reporting of Evaluations with Nonrandomized Designs (TREND) statement and piloted with a sample of articles. Two investigators (RCW & IGR) independently abstracted the following information from all articles included in the review: bibliographic information, key characteristics of the retailer described in the article (e.g., type, location, date opened, setting, population served, etc.), the methods used to evaluate the retailer (e.g., sampling methods, sample size, data collection procedures, outcome measures, etc.), and its impact on fruit and vegetable consumption; discrepancies were resolved by consensus. For studies that used repeated measurement designs, mean differences in fruit and vegetable consumption were the principal summary measure. Nine corresponding authors were contacted by email for additional information about the methods or results (89% response rate).

Studies were the unit of analysis for this review. Due to the heterogeneity in methods used, meta-analysis was not possible. Analysis involved organizing studies according to the type of evaluation design used and using descriptive statistics, including frequencies and percentages, to describe the types of retailers that were assessed, the methods used to evaluate them, and change in fruit and vegetable consumption. In many cases, the number of references exceeds the number of studies because multiple publications resulted from individual studies.

Results

Of the 5,657 references retrieved through keyword searches, 3,514 were unique articles and 3,437 were excluded based on the title/abstract review (Figure 2). The remaining 77 candidate articles and 15 additional articles identified through hand-searching were reviewed in full text to assess eligibility. Of these, 69 articles were excluded. The most common reasons for exclusion were that the article was not a peer-reviewed original research article (i.e., was an opinion piece, editorial, letter to the editor, conference abstract, review, government report, or policy description; n=32); was not about the opening of a new retailer of healthy foods (e.g., was focused on a grocery delivery service, community-supported agriculture program, food policy council, or farm; n=15); or did not assess change in fruit and vegetable consumption among adults as part of the evaluation (n=22). The 22 articles in this latter category commonly reported implementation or process evaluation data (e.g., sales volume, demographic characteristics of shoppers, satisfaction with the retailer, etc.) or changes to other nondietary outcomes (e.g., customers' shopping patterns, access to healthy foods, etc.). This review focuses on the remaining 23 articles, which represented 15 unique studies.

Description of Retailers & Settings

As shown in Table 3, the types of retailers assessed included supermarkets and grocery stores (n=7),¹⁶⁻³⁰ farmers' markets (n=4),³¹⁻³⁴ fruit and vegetable stands or markets (n=2),^{35,36} and mobile produce vans (n=2).^{37,38} Supermarkets and grocery stores tended to be subsidized through public-private partnerships, including the Healthy Food Financing Initiative $(n=2)^{19,22,23}$ and the New York Food Retail Expansion to Support Health (FRESH) initiative (n=1),^{20,21} or were aligned with broader corporate initiatives to

promote economic development or open supermarkets in deprived areas (n=2).^{24-27,29,30} The smaller retailers, such as farmers' markets, fruit and vegetable stands or markets, and mobile produce vans, tended to report community involvement in planning or operating the retailer, including having a community advisory board, collaborating with other local organization to implement the retailer, or that the project used a community-based participatory approach (n=7).^{31-36,38}

Most of the retailers were located in low-income and/or economically deprived communities $(n=13)^{16-30,32,33,35-38}$ that had limited access to healthy foods $(n=12)^{16-31,33-36}$ in either the United States (US; n=11), ^{19-23,28-33,35-37} the United Kingdom (UK; n=3), ^{16-18,24-27,38} or Australia (n=1).³⁴ Many studies also described the communities in which the new retailer opened as comprised of predominantly racial or ethnic minority residents (n=7).^{19-23,29-33} Most retailers were located in general community settings (n=11), ^{16-31,33,34,38} though some farmers' markets, fruit and vegetable stands, and mobile produce retailers operated at local community organizations (n=3), ³⁵⁻³⁷ residential housing complexes (n=2), ^{35,37} and health centers (n=1).³²

Evaluation Methods

A variety of methods were used to evaluate the impact of the retailer on fruit and vegetable intake. Retailers were evaluated using post-test only designs (n=4),^{28,33-35} repeated cross-sectional designs (n=4),^{20,21,29-31,38} and repeated measurement designs (n=7; Table 3).^{16-19,22-27,32,36,37} Studies assessed the impact of the retailer on fruit and vegetable consumption approximately six months (n=7),^{24-28,31,32,35-37} one year (n=5),^{16-23,29,30} or two years $(n=2)^{33,38}$ after the retailer opened, or at multiple follow-up intervals.³³

Eight studies used convenience sampling,^{20,21,28,31,33-35,37,38} and six used probability sampling methods.^{16-19,22,23,29,30,32,36} The sampling method could not be determined for one study.²⁴⁻²⁷ Six studies sampled shoppers at the new retailer ^{31,33-35,37,38} and three sampled residents of the neighborhood where the new retailer opened.^{24-28,36} An additional five studies sampled from both residents of the neighborhood where the new retailer opened and a comparison neighborhood that did not receive a new retailer.^{16-23,29,30} One study sampled patients at a health clinic where the retailer was located.³² Sample sizes ranged widely.

Outcome measures included retrospective items asking participants to what extent their fruit and vegetable intake changed over time (n=4),^{28,33-35} 2-item screeners assessing usual daily intake of fruits and vegetables (n=3),^{19,31,38} brief fruit and vegetable intake screeners or food frequency questionnaires (n=6),^{16-18,20,21,29,30,32,36,37} or dietary recalls (n=3).²⁰⁻²⁷ One study used multiple methods of assessing fruit and vegetable intake.^{20,21} Post-Test Only Designs

Methodological Overview

Four studies used post-test only designs to assess the dietary impact of the new retailer (**Table 3**). In these studies, cross-sectional surveys were administered to participants four months to two and a half years after the opening of the retailer.^{28,33-35} All studies focused on dietary change among a convenience sample of adults who were either shoppers at the retailer³³⁻³⁵ or lived in the neighborhood where the new retailer opened for business.²⁸ All of these studies used a retrospective approach to measure change in fruit and vegetable intake by asking participants to report changes in fruit or vegetable consumption as a result of shopping at the retailer³³⁻³⁵ or generally within the past year.²⁸

Change in Fruit and Vegetable Intake

Of the studies that surveyed shoppers at the retailer, most respondents reported that they were eating more fruits and/or vegetables at the time of the survey.³³⁻³⁵ For example, of 100 shoppers at a farmers' market in Carnarvon, Western Australia who were surveyed approximately two and a half years after its opening, 71% reported that they were eating more fruits and vegetables since they started shopping there.³⁴ A survey of 100 returning customers who were surveyed approximately four months after the opening of a fruit and vegetable stand in Cobb County, Georgia, US, reported that they were eating more vegetables (65%) and fruit (55%) as a result of the market.³⁵ Another survey administered to shoppers at two farmers' markets in Los Angeles, California, US between five months and two years after the markets opened reported that 97-98% agreed or strongly agreed that they were eating more fruits and vegetables as a result of the market.³³ By contrast, the one study that assessed the impact of a new grocery store that opened in an unnamed city in California, US among on the dietary behaviors of residents of the neighborhood where it opened (regardless of whether participants shopped there) found smaller changes in fruit and vegetable consumption. Relatively few respondents who lived two miles from a new grocery store reported increased vegetable (10.3%) or fruit (9%, N=73) consumption over the previous year.²⁸

Repeated Cross-Sectional Designs

Methodological Overview

Four studies used repeated cross-sectional surveys at baseline and follow-up to assess the dietary impact of the new retailer (Table 3). Two studies used a convenience sample of market shoppers;^{31,38} one used a random sample of households with landlines

located within 2,000 meters of the store site and a nearby comparison neighborhood;^{29,30} and another recruited participants from busy intersections in the neighborhood where the retailer opened, as well as a nearby comparison neighborhood.^{20,21} Measurement approaches included using a two-item fruit and vegetable intake screener;^{31,38} the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) screener,^{29,30} or a combination of a brief screener and a single 24-hour dietary recall.^{20,21}

Change in Fruit and Vegetable Intake

Results from studies in this category were difficult to summarize due to the heterogeneity in methodological approaches. For example, one evaluation of a farmers' market in Nashville, Tennessee, US found that shoppers sampled at one- and two-months follow-up reported higher levels of fruit and vegetable consumption relative to a different sample of shoppers sampled at baseline.³¹ However, these results were reported graphically, and no estimates of mean intake were presented to quantify the difference in mean intake between the samples over time.³¹ A different study of a convenience sample of shoppers at a mobile produce van in the UK found that those sampled at follow-up reported higher mean fruit and vegetable intake at follow-up than the baseline sample (mean difference=1.16 portions, 95% CI: 0.83-1.48, p<.0001).³⁸

Two studies assessed community-level dietary change among residents of the neighborhood that received the new retailer relative to those who lived in a comparison neighborhood.^{20,21,29,30} One of these studies conducted telephone surveys before and 12 months after a grocery store opened in Flint, Michigan, US among a random sample of households located within 2,000 meters of the new store and those located in a comparison neighborhood. This study found that mean intake of fruits and vegetables

was the same among the baseline and follow-up samples in the intervention neighborhood (mean intake=2.6 among samples at both time points), although mean intake was higher among the comparison neighborhood residents in the follow-up sample relative to the baseline sample (mean intake=2.5 at baseline, mean intake=2.9 at followup).^{29,30} Information about the precision and statistical significance of these estimates are unavailable.

Another study conducted surveys among adults recruited from busy intersections located in a neighborhood that received a new supermarket and a comparison neighborhood in the Bronx, New York City, US.^{20,21} Surveys were administered at baseline, 1-5 months, and 13-17 months after the supermarket opened, and included two different methods of assessing fruit and vegetable intake. Results from the brief fruit and vegetable intake screener indicated that among both intervention and comparison neighborhood residents, mean fruit and vegetable intake was highest at baseline relative to either follow-up time point (e.g., mean change in vegetable consumption=-0.1 daily servings among intervention neighborhood sample vs. 0.0 among comparison neighborhood sample). Results from the 24-hour dietary recalls showed a different pattern of higher fruit and vegetable consumption at follow-up relative to baseline in both groups, though greater improvements among those sampled from the comparison community (e.g., mean change in vegetable consumption of 0.21 daily servings among intervention neighborhood sample vs. 0.58 daily servings among comparison neighborhood sample).^{20,21}

Repeated Measurement Designs

Methodological Overview

Seven studies used repeated measurements to assess the dietary impact of the new retailer (Table 3). All of these studies collected data from participants at baseline, and at either one $(n=6)^{16-19,22-26,36,37}$ or two $(n=1)^{32}$ follow-up time points. The majority of these studies used probability sampling methods to recruit participants, ^{16-19,22,23,32,36} though one used convenience sampling methods³⁷ and the approach used by another could not be determined.²⁴⁻²⁷ One study recruited shoppers at the new retailer, ³⁷ two recruited residents of the neighborhood where the new retailer opened, ^{24-26,36} and three recruited residents of both the intervention neighborhood and a nearby comparison neighborhood. ^{16-19,22,23} One study recruited patients from the clinic where the new retailer opened for business.³² Studies in this category measured change in fruit and vegetable consumption using a two-item screener asking about usual intake of fruits and vegetables per day (n=1),¹⁹ brief screeners or food frequency questionnaires (e.g., BRFSS,³⁷ the National Cancer Institute Fruit and Vegetable Screener,^{32,36} or the Block Food Frequency Questionnaire;¹⁶⁻¹⁸ n=4), a 7-day food diary (n=1),²⁴⁻²⁶ or multiple 24 hour dietary recalls (n=1).^{22,23}

Change in Fruit and Vegetable Intake

With one exception,¹⁹ all studies in this category reported mean within-person change in fruit and vegetable intake from baseline to follow-up. Depending on the sampling strategy used, these results could be presented in three ways: 1) change in fruit and vegetable intake among *shoppers at the new retailer*, 2) change in fruit and vegetable intake among *residents of the neighborhood where the new retailer opened*, or 3) *the difference in differences* comparing mean change in fruit and vegetable intake among residents of the intervention vs. comparison neighborhood (Table 4).

Of the five studies that reported *change in fruit and vegetable intake among shoppers at the new retailer*, most reported modest, albeit not always statistically significant, increases in mean intake (n=4),^{24-26,32,37} although one study reported a small decrease.^{22,23} For example, one study of 43 shoppers at a mobile produce van in Troy, New York, US reported a statistically insignificant 0.45-serving increase in daily fruit and vegetable intake six months after the van expanded its route to serve additional stops (95% CI: - 0.23, 1.14).³⁷ Another study of 41 diabetic adults who shopped at a farmers' market in a health clinic in rural South Carolina, US reported a statistically insignificant 0.54-serving increase in fruit and vegetable intake five months after it opened (95% CI: -1.14, 2.23).³² Another study of 276 shoppers at a new supermarket in Leeds, UK reported a statistically significant 0.23-portion increase in fruit and vegetable intake 6-7 months after it opened (p=.034).²⁴⁻²⁷ However, a study of 368 shoppers at a new supermarket in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, US reported a statistically insignificant -0.32-serving decrease in intake 7-14 months after it opened.^{22,23}

Results were less consistent among the four studies that assessed *change in intake among residents of the neighborhood where the new retailer opened for business*. For example, one study of 615 residents found essentially no change in fruit and vegetable consumption 6-7 months after the opening of a new supermarket in their neighborhood in Leeds, UK (mean difference=0.04 portions per day).²⁴⁻²⁷ However, two studies found evidence of modest, but not statistically significant, increases in fruit and vegetable intake. The first reported a statistically insignificant 0.42-serving increase in daily intake among a probability sample of 61 adults who lived within 0.5 miles of a new fruit and vegetable stand in Austin, Texas, US two months after it opened.³⁶ The other study found

a 0.29-portion increase among a probability sample of 191 adults who were the main food shoppers for their homes and lived in a Glasgow, UK neighborhood where a new supermarket was opened at 11 months follow-up (p=.07).¹⁶⁻¹⁸ In contrast to these results, a study that included a probability sample of 571 adults living in a neighborhood in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, US where a new supermarket opened, reported a statistically significant 0.27-serving decrease in fruit and vegetable consumption at 6 months followup (SE=0.08, p<.001).^{22,23}

Two studies reported *difference-in-differences* comparing change among residents of the neighborhood where the new retailer opened, relative to change among residents in a comparison neighborhood. These studies evaluated supermarket openings in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, US^{22,23} and Glasgow, UK.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ In both instances, results were the opposite of what was expected and indicated either greater increases in fruit and vegetable intake among the comparison neighborhood residents (difference-in-differences: -0.15)¹⁶⁻¹⁸ or smaller decreases in fruit and vegetable intake among comparison neighborhood residents (difference-in-differences: -0.14).^{22,23}

Discussion

Most studies included in this review focused on recent openings of healthy food retailers in low-income communities with limited access to healthy foods. The methodological approaches to evaluating these initiatives, including the research designs, sampling approaches, follow-up intervals, and outcome measures, varied widely. Though all study designs were limited in their ability to causally attribute any observed change in fruit and vegetable consumption to the opening of the retailer itself, evaluations of supermarket and grocery store openings tended to use more rigorous study designs (e.g., two-group repeated measure or repeated cross-sectional designs with larger representative samples), while evaluations of farmers' markets, fruit and vegetable stands, and mobile produce vans tended to use weaker designs (e.g., post-test only designs with smaller convenience samples).

Across study types, results suggest that the dietary impact of the new retailer may be greatest among adults who choose to shop there. For example, three out of four repeated measurement studies of shoppers at the new retailer found modest increases in fruit and vegetable consumption, ranging from 0.23-0.54 daily servings at 6-12 months follow-up.^{24-27,32,37} Although most of these effect sizes did not reach statistical significance, two reported small sample sizes calling into question whether they were powered to detect dietary change of this magnitude. These effect sizes are similar in magnitude to those reported by a systematic review of behavioral interventions to increase fruit and vegetable intake,³⁹ and prior research has documented that even small increases in fruit and vegetable intake may be related to reductions in energy density.⁴⁰ Additionally, results from all three post-test only designs that surveyed shoppers at the new retailer found that relatively high proportions of shoppers reported that they were eating more fruits and vegetables since starting to shop there (55%-98%).³³⁻³⁵

The impact of the opening of a new retailer on fruit and vegetable consumption among the broader community of residents of the neighborhood where the retailer opened was less clear. Studies that used either repeated measurement or repeated cross-sectional designs found no evidence of change,^{24-27,29,30} modest increases,^{16-18,20,21,28,36} or decreases²⁰⁻²³ in fruit and vegetable consumption. The variability in results may be explained in part by the heterogeneity in methodological approaches used, including eligibility criteria and methods used to sample intervention neighborhood residents. Those that also sampled from a comparison neighborhood were unable to detect a significant difference in mean change in fruit and vegetable consumption between the two groups.

We are limited in our ability to comment on differential dietary impact by retailer type due to the methodological heterogeneity among studies included in this review. However, evaluations of one category of retailer – supermarkets – tended to have the most methodological consistency, with four out of five studies employing a repeated measurement design. These studies found mixed results regarding the impact of the new retailer on fruit and vegetable consumption among shoppers,²²⁻²⁷ residents of the intervention community,^{16-18,22-27} and differences between residents of intervention and comparison communities.^{16-18,22,23} Although previous reviews have documented systematic disparities in access to supermarkets among many neighborhoods throughout the US,⁵ research regarding the causal links between access to supermarkets and improved dietary intake is inconclusive.⁶ In light of the large-scale initiatives focused on policy, systems, and environmental changes to improve community retail food environments, many of which focus on introducing supermarkets into low-income communities, more rigorous research with greater methodological consistency is needed regarding the impact of supermarkets on dietary behavior.^{12-15,41}

A strength of this review is that it is the first to our knowledge to summarize the state of scientific knowledge regarding the potential dietary impact of opening new retailers of healthy foods within a community. Limitations of this review include potential publication bias and incomplete retrieval of relevant articles from the keyword search

strategy. Additionally, most studies evaluated the dietary impact of the opening of new retailers within low-income neighborhoods with limited access to healthy foods in the US. The extent to which these findings would generalize to other geographic contexts (e.g., developing countries, non-Western contexts, etc.) is unknown. Additionally, this review focused exclusively on the impact of these retailers on fruit and vegetable intake among adults. The impact on fruit and vegetable intake among children or on other outcomes relevant to dietary behavior or chronic disease prevention remains unknown. Many articles that were considered for^{42,43} or included in this review,²⁰⁻²³ or have been published since⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ assessed other outcomes of interest, including area-level access to healthy foods, change in other dietary behaviors (e.g., change in total energy intake, dietary quality, or consumption of specific food groups), or body mass index. These may be outcomes of potential interest for future reviews.

Results from this review suggest that that opening a new retailer of healthy foods in limited-access communities may be an appropriate strategy to improve short-term fruit and vegetable intake among adults who choose to shop there, although more research is needed to confirm these findings and to understand the potential impact of this approach on the broader community and/or over longer periods of time. Interventions that focus on other structural interventions, such as improving the in-store environments of existing retailers may be a more appropriate strategy for improving population-level dietary behavior.^{47,48} Limitations of this body of research include a reliance on pre-experimental or quasi-experimental designs with limited ability to establish causality, potentially underpowered studies reliant on small sample sizes, and the use of a range of outcome measures and follow-up intervals that prevents meta-analytic synthesis of results.

Recommendations for future research include designing adequately powered studies that are methodologically aligned with those of previous work to facilitate comparisons and summary of these initiatives and strengthen the evidence base regarding this potential dietary impact of this approach to improving community food environments.

Figures and Tables

Figure 2. Flow Diagram Depicting Article Selection for Inclusion in Systematic Review



• 1 assessed change in fruit and vegetable intake among children

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year Opened,	Sample Description (Sample Size, Response Rate)	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
	(Woodruff et al, 2016) ³⁵	SettingFruit andvegetablestand2014Cobb County,Georgia, US	Convenience sample of returning market shoppers aged 18+ (N=100, 99%)	Self- administered surveys 4 months after market opening	2-item retrospective measure	65% reported eating more vegetables, 55% reported eating more fruit as a result of shopping at the market
Post-Test Only (n=4)	(Ruelas et al, 2012) ³³	Farmer's markets 2007 Los Angeles, California, US	Convenience sample of market shoppers aged 18+ (N=415 at one location, n=1,375 at second location, NR)	Surveys administered 5 months after market opening at one location and 2 years after opening at second location	Single-item retrospective measure	97-98% agreed or strongly agreed that they eat more fruits and vegetables because of the market
	(Payet et al, 2005) 34	Farmers' market 2001 Rural community near	Convenience sample of market shoppers aged 18+ (N=100, 80.6% ^a)	Surveys administered 2 years and 4 months after market opening	Single-item retrospective measure	71% reported eating more fruits and vegetables since started shopping at the market

Table 3. Methodological Summary of Evaluations of the Opening of a Retailer of Healthy Foods on Fruit and Vegetable Intake among Adults (N=15)

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year Opened, Setting	Sample Description (Sample Size, Response Rate)	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
		Carnarvon, AUS				
	(Wang et al, 2007)	Grocery store	Convenience sample of adults aged 18+	Surveys administered 6	4-item measure assessing	10% reported an increase in fruit
	28	2004	who were the primary grocery	months after store opening	frequency of fruit and	consumption, 9% reported an
		Northern California, US	shoppers for their homes and lived ~2 mi from the store (N=78, NR)		vegetable consumption currently and last year	increase in vegetable consumption over the previous year ^a
	(Freedman et al, 2007)	Farmers' Market	Convenience sample of market shoppers	Surveys administered at baseline	2-item screener adapted from Youth Risk	Results are reported graphically but
	31	2006		(n=29), mid- way through	Behavior Surveillance	suggest a pattern of greater fruit
		Nashville,		the season	System	and vegetable
		Tennessee,		(n=15), and at		consumption
Repeated Cross-		05		season (n=16)		sample relative to baseline sample.
(n=4)	(Jennings et	Mobile fruit	Convenience sample	Surveys	2-item screener	1.16-portion
()	al, 2012)	and vegetable	of shoppers (N=255; 620)	administered at	measuring	increase in mean
	38	van	02%)	vears after van	consumed per	vegetable
		2008		began operating	day	consumption (95% CI: 0.83-
		Great				1.48, p<.001)
		Y armouth and Waverly, UK				

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year Opened, Setting	Sample Description (Sample Size, Response Rate)	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
	(Sadler et al, 2013) 29,30 (Elbel et al, 2015) 20,21	Grocery store 2010 Flint, Michigan, US Supermarket 2011 South Bronx, New York, US	Probability sample of adults aged 18+ who were the primary grocery store for their homes and either lived within 2,000 m of the store or in a nearby comparison neighborhood (n=150-200 per time point, 15% response rate) Convenience sample of adults aged 18+ (approximately n=1,300 per time point, NR)	Interviewer- administered surveys at baseline and 12 months after store opening Intercept surveys and dietary recalls administered at baseline, 1-5 months and 13-17 months after store opening.	Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) screener 24 hour dietary recall and the Eating and Physical Activity Survey	0.0-serving change in fruit and vegetable consumption among intervention residents ^a 0.4-serving increase among comparison neighborhood residents ^a 24 Hour Dietary <u>Recall Results</u> : 0.05-unit increase in fruit and 0.21- unit increase in vegetable consumption at final follow-up Difference in differences: 0.10 for fruit and 0.32 for vegetable consumption
						Screener Results:

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year	Sample Description (Sample Size,	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
		Opened, Setting	Response Rate)			
						0.2-unit increase in fruit consumption and 0.1-unit increase in vegetable consumption at final follow-up
						Difference in differences: 0.1 for fruit and 0.0 for vegetable consumption
						Note: No results reached statistical significance
Repeated Measurement (n=7)	(Abusabha et al, 2011) ³⁷	Mobile fruit and vegetable van 2007	Convenience sample of shoppers aged 55+ who lived at the senior housing complex served by the van (N=43, 54%)	Surveys administered at baseline and 6 months after the van began serving the	5-item screener adapted from BRFSS	0.45-serving increase in total fruit and vegetable intake (95% CI: -0.23, 1, 14:
		Troy, New York, US	at follow-up ^a)	senior housing complex		p=.188)
	Freedman et al, 2013)	Farmers' market	Probability sample of adult patients at the health clinic	Interviewer- administered surveys at	19-item screener adapted from	0.54-serving increase in total fruit and
	52	2001	where the farmers'	baseline, 2,	the National	vegetable intake

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year Opened, Setting	Sample Description (Sample Size, Response Rate)	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
		Rural county in South Carolina, US	market operated who had a diagnosis of diabetes (N=44, NR)	and 5 months after the market opening	Cancer Institute Fruit and Vegetable Screener (NCI FVS)	at 5-month follow-up (95% CI: -1.14, 2.23; p=0.52)
	(Evans et al, 2012) ³⁶	Fruit and vegetable stand 2010 Austin, Texas, US	Probability sample of adults aged 18+ who lived within 0.5 miles of market recruited through door-to-door household sampling (N=61, 66% at follow-up)	Interviewer- administered surveys at baseline and 2 months after the market opened	7-item screener adapted from the NCI FVS	0.42-serving increase in total fruit and vegetable intake among intervention community residents (SD=2.49; p=0.210)
	(Wrigley et al, 2002-4 & Gill et al, 2014) 24-27	Supermarket 2000 Leeds, England, UK	Sample of adults who were responsible for domestic food arrangements for the household and who lived in the neighborhood where the supermarket opened (N=615, 61% at follow-up)	Self- administered food consumption diary at baseline and 6- 7 months after the store opening	7-day food consumption diary	0.23-serving increase in fruit and vegetable intake among residents who began shopping at the new retailer (p=.034) 0.04-serving increase in fruit and vegetable intake in intervention

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year Opened, Setting	Sample Description (Sample Size, Response Rate)	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
						community residents ^a
	(Cummins et al 2005-	Supermarket	Probability sample of adults aged 16+	Self- administered	2-item screener	0.29-portion
	8)	2001	who were the main	postal survey	fruit and	and vegetable
	16-18	Glasgow, Scotland, UK	their homes and who live in the neighborhood where the supermarket opened of a comparison community (N=412, 68% at follow-up)	at baseline and 11 months after the store opening	vegetable intake per day	intake in the intervention community (p=.07) 0.44-portion increase in fruit and vegetable intake in the comparison community (a=002)
	(Cummins et al, 2014) ¹⁹	Supermarket 2009 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, US	Probability sample of adults aged 18+ who lived near the new supermarket or were residents of a neighboring community recruited through random directory listings and random digit dial (N=656, 46% at follow-up)	Interviewer- administered surveys at baseline and 6 months after store opening	22-item screener adapted from Block Food Frequency Questionnaire	-0.21-serving difference between neighborhoods at baseline -0.21-serving difference between neighborhoods at follow-up.

Study Design	References	Retailer, Year Opened, Setting	Sample Description (Sample Size, Response Rate)	Data Collection	Outcome Measure	Results
						Difference in differences:05 (NS)
	(Dubowitz et al, 2015) 22,23	Supermarket 2013 Pittsburg, Pennsylvania, US	Probability sample of adults aged 18+ who were the primary food shopper for their household and lived in the neighborhood where the supermarket opened or a comparison neighborhood recruited through door-to-door sampling (N=831, 65% at follow-up)	Interviewer- administered surveys at baseline and 7- 14 months after the store opening	Two 24-hour dietary recalls administered 7- 14 days apart	-0.32-serving change among adopters of the new retailer (NS) -0.27-serving change among residents of intervention community (SE=0.08, p<.001) Difference in differences (intervention vs. comparison neighborhood residents): -0.14 (NS)

Abbreviations: US=United States, AUS=Australia, UK=United Kingdom, NR=Not Reported ^a Calculated by hand using information provided in the article.

Table 4. Effect Sizes of the Impact of the Opening of a New Retailer of Healthy Foods on Within-Person Change in Fruit and Vegetable Consumption among Adults (n=6)

Citations	Retailer	Country	Outcome Measure	Sample	Mean difference	95% CI or Statistical Significance	Follow- Up Interval			
Change in Fruit and Vegetable Intake Among Adult Shoppers at the Retailer										
(Abusabha et al, 2011) ³⁷	Produce van	US	BRFSS screener	43 adults ages 55+	+ 0.45 servings	95% CI: (- 0.23, 1.14)	6 months			
(Freedman et al, 2013) $_{32}^{32}$	Farmers' market	US	NCI FVS	41 adults with diagnosis of diabetes	+ 0.54 servings	95% CI: (- 1.14, 2.23)	5 months			
(Wrigley et al, 2002) 24-27	Supermarket	UK	7 day food diaries	276 adults	+ 0.23 portions	p=.034	6-7 months			
(Dubowitz et al, 2015) ^{22,23}	Supermarket	US	Two 24 hour dietary recalls	368 adults	- 0.32 servings	NS	7-14 months			
Change in F	ruit and Vegetab	ole Intake A	Among Adult R	esidents of Neighborho	ood that Rece	ived New Retaile	r			
(Evans et al, 2012) ³⁶	Fruit and vegetable stand/market	US	NCI FVS	61 adults	+ 0.42 servings	SD=2.49, p=0.210	2 months			
(Wrigley et al, 2002) 24-27	Supermarket	UK	7 day food diary	615 adults who were responsible for domestic food arrangements for the household	+ 0.04 portions ^a	NS	6-7 months			
(Cummins et al, 2005) ¹⁶⁻¹⁸	Supermarket	UK	2-item screener assessing usual daily intake	191 adults who were the main food shopper for their homes	+ 0.29 portions	p=.07	11 months			

(Dubowitz et al, 2015) 22,23	Supermarket	US	Two 24-hr dietary recalls	571 adults who were the primary food shopper for their homes	- 0.27 servings	SE=0.08, p<.001	7-14 months		
Difference in Change in Fruit and Vegetable Intake Comparing Adult Residents of Intervention vs. Comparison									
Neighborhoo	bd								
(Cummins et al, 2005) ¹⁶⁻¹⁸	Supermarket	UK	2-item screener assessing usual daily intake	412 adults	-0.15 ^a	NR	11 months		
(Dubowitz et al, 2015) 22,23	Supermarket	US	Two 24-hr dietary recalls	831 adults who were the primary food shopper for their homes	-0.14	NS	7-14 months		

Abbreviations: US=United States, UK=United Kingdom, CI=Confidence Interval, NR=Not Reported, NS=Not statistically significant, SE=Standard error, BRFSS=Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, NCI FVS=National Cancer Institute Fruit and Vegetable Intake Screener

^a – Result was calculated by hand based on information provided in the article.

References

1. Brownson RC, Haire-Joshu D, Luke DA. Shaping the context of health: a review of environmental and policy approaches in the prevention of chronic diseases. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2006;27:341-370.

2. Glanz K, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD. Healthy nutrition environments: concepts and measures. *Am J Health Promot.* 2005;19(5):330-333.

3. Story M, Kaphingst KM, Robinson-O'Brien R, Glanz K. Creating healthy food and eating environments: policy and environmental approaches. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2008;29:253-272.

4. Frieden TR. A framework for public health action: the health impact pyramid. *Am J Public Health*. 2010;100(4):590-595.

5. Larson NI, Story MT, Nelson MC. Neighborhood environments: disparities in access to healthy foods in the US. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009;36(1):74-81.

6. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: a systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187.

7. Moore LV, Diez Roux AV. Associations of neighborhood characteristics with the location and type of food stores. *Am J Public Health*. 2006;96(2):325-331.

8. Zenk SN, Schulz AJ, Israel BA, James SA, Bao S, Wilson ML. Neighborhood racial composition, neighborhood poverty, and the spatial accessibility of supermarkets in metropolitan Detroit. *Am J Public Health*. 2005;95(4):660-667.

9. Fleischhacker SE, Evenson KR, Rodriguez DA, Ammerman AS. A systematic review of fast food access studies. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(5):e460-471.

US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020 Objectives.
 2020;

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/objectiveslist.aspx?topicid=5. Accessed May 23, 2011.

11. Office of Community Services. Healthy Food Financing Initiative 2010.
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/community-economic-development/healthy-food-financing. Accessed August 25, 2017.

12. The Reinvestment Fund. Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative.
http://www.trfund.com/pennsylvania-fresh-food-financing-initiative/. Accessed May 12, 2015, 2015.

 New York City Office of the Mayor. Food Retail Expansion to Support Health (FRESH). http://www.nyc.gov/html/misc/html/2009/fresh.shtml. Accessed May 2015.

14. California FreshWorks. http://cafreshworks.com/. Accessed November 1, 2016.

15. New Orleans Fresh Food Retailers Initiative. http://www.nola.gov/city/fresh-food-retailers-initiative/. Accessed November 1, 2016.

16. Cummins S, Findlay A, Higgins C, Petticrew M, Sparks L, Thomson H. Reducing inequalities in health and diet: findings from a study on the impact of a food retail development. *Environment and Planning A*. 2008;40(2):402-422.

17. Cummins S, Findlay A, Petticrew M, Sparks L. Retail-led regeneration and storeswitching behaviour. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*. 2008;15(4):288-295.

18. Cummins S, Petticrew M, Higgins C, Findlay A, Sparks L. Large scale food retailing as an intervention for diet and health: quasi-experimental evaluation of a natural experiment. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2005;59(12):1035-1040.
19. Cummins S, Flint E, Matthews SA. New neighborhood grocery store increased awareness of food access but did not alter dietary habits or obesity. *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2014;33(2):283-291.

20. Elbel B, Mijanovich T, Kiszko K, Abrams C, Cantor J, Dixon LB. The introduction of a supermarket via tax-credits in a low-income area: the influence on purchasing and consumption. *Am J Health Promot*. 2015.

21. Elbel B, Moran A, Dixon LB, et al. Assessment of a government-subsidized supermarket in a high-need area on household food availability and children's dietary intakes. *Public Health Nutr.* 2015;18(15):2881-2890.

22. Dubowitz T, Ghosh-Dastidar M, Cohen DA, et al. Diet and perceptions change with supermarket introduction in a food desert, but not because of supermarket use. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2015;34(11):1858-1868.

23. Dubowitz T, Ncube C, Leuschner K, Tharp-Gilliam S. A natural experiment opportunity in two low-income urban food desert communities: research design, community engagement methods, and baseline results. *Health Educ Behav.* 2015;42(1 Suppl):87S-96S.

24. Wrigley N, Warm D, Margetts B. Deprivation, diet, and food-retail access: findings from the Leeds "food deserts" study. *Environment and Planning A*. 2003;35(1):151-188.

25. Wrigley N, Warm D, Margetts B, Lowe M. The Leeds "food deserts" intervention study: what the focus groups reveal. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*. 2004;32(2):123-136.

Wrigley N, Warm D, Margetts B, Whelan A. Assessing the impact of improved retail access on diet in a 'food desert': A preliminary report. *Urban Studies*.
2002;39(11):2061-2082.

27. Gill L, Rudkin S. Deconstructing supermarket intervention effects on fruit and vegetable consumption in areas of limited retail access: evidence from the Seacroft Study. *Environment and Planning A*. 2014;46(3):649-665.

28. Wang MC, MacLeod KE, Steadman C, et al. Is the opening of a neighborhood full-service grocery store followed by a change in the food behavior of residents? *J Hunger Environ Nutr.* 2007;2(1):3-18.

29. Sadler RC, Gilliland JA, Arku G. A food retail-based intervention on food security and consumption. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2013;10(8):3325-3346.

30. Sadler RC, Gilliland JA, Arku G. Community development and the influence of new food retail sources on the price and availability of nutritious food. *Journal of Urban Affairs*. 2013;35(4):471-491.

31. Freedman D. A community health case study: Creating a food oasis in a food desert. *The Community Psychologist*. 2007;40(2):67-70.

32. Freedman DA, Choi SK, Hurley T, Anadu E, Hebert JR. A farmers' market at a federally qualified health center improves fruit and vegetable intake among low-income diabetics. *Prev Med.* 2013;56(5):288-292.

33. Ruelas V, Iverson E, Kiekel P, Peters A. The role of farmers' markets in two low income, urban communities. *J Community Health*. 2012;37(3):554-562.

34. Payet J, Gilles M, Howat P. Gascoyne Growers Market: a sustainable health promotion activity developed in partnership with the community. *Aust J Rural Health*. 2005;13(5):309-314.

35. Woodruff RC, Coleman AM, Hermstad AK, et al. Increasing community access to fresh fruits and vegetables: a case study of the Farm Fresh Market pilot program in Cobb County, Georgia, 2014. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2016;13:E36.

36. Evans AE, Jennings R, Smiley AW, et al. Introduction of farm stands in lowincome communities increases fruit and vegetable among community residents. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1137-1143.

37. Abusabha R, Namjoshi D, Klein A. Increasing access and affordability of produce improves perceived consumption of vegetables in low-income seniors. *J Am Diet Assoc*.
2011;111(10):1549-1555.

38. Jennings A, Cassidy A, Winters T, et al. Positive effect of a targeted intervention to improve access and availability of fruit and vegetables in an area of deprivation. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1074-1078.

39. Ammerman AS, Lindquist CH, Lohr KN, Hersey J. The efficacy of behavioral interventions to modify dietary fat and fruit and vegetable intake: a review of the evidence. *Prev Med.* 2002;35(1):25-41.

40. Williams RA, Roe LS, Rolls BJ. Comparison of three methods to reduce energy density. Effects on daily energy intake. *Appetite*. 2013;66:75-83.

41. Bunnell R, O'Neil D, Soler R, et al. Fifty communities putting prevention to work: accelerating chronic disease prevention through policy, systems and environmental change. *J Community Health.* 2012;37(5):1081-1090.

42. Larsen K, Gilliland J. A farmers' market in a food desert: evaluating impacts on the price and availability of healthy food. *Health Place*. 2009;15(4):1158-1162.

43. Lucan SC, Maroko A, Shanker R, Jordan WB. Green Carts (mobile produce vendors) in the Bronx—optimally positioned to meet neighborhood fruit and vegetable needs? *J Urban Health*. 2011;88(5):977-981.

44. Chrisinger B. A mixed-method assessment of a new supermarket in a food desert: contributions to everyday life and health. *J Urban Health*. 2016;93(3):425-437.

45. Engler-Stringer R, Muhajarine N, Ridalls T, et al. The Good Food Junction: a community-based food store intervention to address nutritional health inequities. *JMIR Res Protoc*. 2016;5(2):e52.

46. Zhang YT, Laraia BA, Mujahid MS, et al. Is a reduction in distance to nearest supermarket associated with BMI change among type 2 diabetes patients? *Health Place*.
2016;40:15-20.

47. Escaron AL, Meinen AM, Nitzke SA, Martinez-Donate AP. Supermarket and grocery store-based interventions to promote healthful food choices and eating practices: a systematic review. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10:E50.

48. Liberato SC, Bailie R, Brimblecombe J. Nutrition interventions at point-of-sale to encourage healthier food purchasing: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*.
2014;14(1):919.

CHAPTER 3. Home Food Inventories and Shopping Frequency as Mediators of the Association between Access to Healthy Food Retailers and Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Abstract

Introduction: Disparities in access to healthy foods are well-documented and a likely determinant of dietary behavior, but the mechanism through which access to healthy food stores influences diet is poorly understood. This analysis explored the relationship between access to primary food stores and fruit and vegetable consumption and the extent to which frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables and home inventories of fruits and vegetables mediated this relationship.

Methods: An online survey was administered to a large national sample matched to the US population on age, race/ethnicity, geographic region, and annual household income. Of 4,942 respondents, 3,775 (76.4%) adults who reported some involvement with grocery shopping for their household and primarily shopped at a healthier food retailer were included in this analysis.

Results: Most respondents were white (68%), middle-aged (mean age: 45 yrs), women (57%), and lived in urban or suburban areas (70%). Most reported that they were the primary shoppers for their homes (80%) and that they primarily shopped at large chain grocery stores (55%). Greater distance to primary food store was significantly associated with greater fruit and vegetable consumption (β =.009, 95% CI: .001, .02, p=.03), but explained very little of the variability in the outcome (R²<1%). Home inventories of fruits and vegetables were a significant partial mediator of this relationship, such that greater

distance was associated with greater fruit and vegetable intake through greater home inventories of fruits and vegetables (indirect effect: β =.02, 95% CI: .001-.03, p=.03). Frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables was not a statistically significant mediator.

Conclusions: Contrary to expectations, individuals who travel greater distances to their primary food stores report greater fruit and vegetable consumption, presumably because they purchased a greater variety of fruits and vegetables while shopping, thus explaining greater home inventories. It is possible that consumers who eat diets rich in fruits and vegetables seek out stores with a better selection of these products, which are located farther from their homes, but more research is needed to confirm this finding.

Introduction

The typical American diet does not adhere to federal dietary guidelines,¹ and daily fruit and vegetable consumption is particularly low.² Recent national estimates indicate that Americans consume fruits and vegetables a median of 1.0 and 1.7 times per day respectively, and few meet recommendations fruit (12.2%) and vegetable (9.3%) outlined in *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*, which are individualized based on age, gender, sex, and physical activity levels.^{3,4} These dietary patterns are likely contributors to the high prevalence of overweight, obesity, and preventable chronic disease in the United States.^{5,6} Improving dietary quality by increasing fruit and vegetable consumption is an important public health priority.⁷

Disparities in access to healthy foods may partly explain inadequate fruit and vegetable consumption in the United States (US). Supermarkets, grocery stores, supercenters, and

warehouse clubs are often used as markers of access to healthy foods, as these retailers have been shown to carry a larger selection of healthier foods at lower prices compared to convenience stores and other small food stores.⁸⁻¹¹ However, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimates that nearly one-third (30.3%) of census tracts in the US do not have a retailer of healthy foods located within a half mile of their boundaries.¹⁰ Rural areas, those with predominantly minority residents, and those with lower area-level income and educational attainment have particularly limited access to healthy food options.^{9,10,12-15}

Although disparities in access to healthy food retailers are well-documented, to what extent they influence fruit and vegetable consumption and through what mechanisms remains an area of active research.^{15,16} One of the most common methods of operationalizing access to healthy food retailers is to use geospatial analysis to calculate the distance from an individual's residential address to the nearest retailer of healthy foods.¹⁷ However, associations between this measure of access and fruit and vegetable consumption have been mixed.¹⁶ Although documented effect sizes have been small and mostly non-significant, results have been inconsistent with some studies finding that greater distance is associated with lower consumption,¹⁸⁻²⁰ and others with higher consumption.^{19,21,22} One possible explanation for these mixed findings is that Americans do not typically shop at the food store located nearest to their homes,²³ suggesting that focusing on characteristics of the primary food store that consumers actually frequent may be a more appropriate conceptualization of the local food environment and its relationship with dietary behavior.¹⁶ However, few studies have assessed the relationship between distance to the primary food store and have either been conducted among highly specific populations (e.g., Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program participants)²⁴ or geographic areas (e.g., adults in New Orleans, LA).²⁵

Even if access to healthy food retailers is an important determinant of fruit and vegetable consumption, the mechanisms through which access influences diet remain largely unexplored. For example, individuals who live closer to healthy food retailers are able to shop for groceries more frequently, which enables them to purchase more produce and rely less on non-perishable, highly processed food items. Although grocery shopping behaviors and home inventories of fresh fruits and vegetables have been strongly associated with greater fruit and vegetable consumption,²⁵⁻²⁷ few studies have empirically tested these variables as mediators of the association between access to healthy food retailers and fruit and vegetable consumption. Two prior studies that used these variables as mediators tested them as part of a more complex model within a specific geographic area (i.e., New Orleans, LA and an eight-county region in South Carolina), and found some evidence of that frequency of shopping mediates the relationship between various measures of access to healthy food retailers and fruit and vegetable intake.^{28,29} Additionally, it is possible that the relationship between access to primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption and the mechanisms through which it operates varies by rurality. Rural areas are less populous, commercially dense, and have fewer retailers of healthy foods, such as supermarkets, as compared to urban areas.^{12,15} However, with a few exceptions,^{21,22} much of the existing research regarding the role of food environments in influencing dietary behavior has been conducted in urban metropolitan areas that do not have sufficient geographic variability to empirically test rurality as a moderating factor. One study found that among residents of the Brazos Valley in Texas,

greater distance to the nearest supermarket or supercenter was associated with reduced fruit and vegetable intake among rural residents, but not among urban residents.²² However, no known studies have replicated this finding among a national sample. The purpose of this study was to assess the relationship between distance to the primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption and to identify mediators of this relationship among a large national sample of adults in the United States who report shopping at a healthy food retailer as their primary store. Specifically, we sought to answer the following research questions: 1) Is self-reported distance from home to the primary food store associated with fruit and vegetable intake? and 2) To what extent is this relationship mediated by the frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables and home inventories of fruits and vegetables? Our hypotheses were that greater distance to primary food store would be associated with lower fruit and vegetable consumption, and that this association would be mediated through less frequent shopping and lower home inventories of fruits and vegetables. Additionally, as an exploratory analysis, we also investigated whether these relationships varied by rurality.

Methods

Participants and Procedures

The data for this study came from a self-administered, cross-sectional survey conducted in 2015 by Lightspeed Global Market Insite, Inc. (GMI), an online market research firm. GMI maintains panels of survey respondents who complete self-administered surveys online. All study procedures were approved by the Emory University Institutional Review Board. GMI emailed panelists who were 18-75 years of age, spoke English, and lived in the US with an invitation to take the survey. All participants provided written informed consent prior to participating in the survey and completed an eligibility screener. Participants who completed the survey were compensated with points they could use towards purchasing gift cards or other incentives through GMI. The sample was matched to the general US population based on age, race/ethnicity, geographic region and annual household income. The 82-item survey instrument was developed by the Emory Prevention Research Center, and contained questions on these domains: characteristics of the home food environment, food acquisition behaviors, perceived community-level access to healthy foods and social capital, dietary behavior, and demographic characteristics.

Of 4.942 respondents, 3,775 (76.4%) were eligible for this analysis. Eligibility criteria included: 1) involvement with grocery shopping for the household (i.e., being the primary food shopper, taking turns with someone else, or going food shopping with someone else), 2) that the primary food store for the household was a retailer of healthy foods (i.e., a large chain grocery store, smaller grocery store, superstore or supercenter, or warehouse club), and 3) complete data on all covariates.

<u>Measures</u>

Fruit and vegetable intake, the outcome variable for this analysis, was measured using the 18-item All-Day Screener developed by the National Cancer Institutes (NCI) as part of the Eating at America's Table study.³³ The screener includes questions about frequency and amount of consumption over the past month for the following fruits and vegetables: 100% fruit juice, fruit, lettuce salad, fried potatoes, other potatoes, dried beans, other vegetables, vegetable soups, and tomato sauce. Frequency response options

ranged from never to 5 or more times per day, and response options for amount consumed were reported in cup equivalents. Responses were used to compute the number of daily servings of fruits and vegetables consumed. The screener and scoring instructions are publicly available on NCI's website.³⁴ Validation analyses have shown that total fruit and vegetable intake estimated using this screener is positively correlated with estimates from multiple 24-hour dietary recalls (ρ =0.66 for men and 0.51 for women).³³ In keeping with the approach used in prior studies and with guidance obtained from NCI, participants who reported fruit and vegetable intake that exceeded three times the interquartile range, added to the third quartile (11.33 daily servings in this sample) were excluded (n=219).³⁰⁻³²

Distance to primary food store, the main predictor variable in this analysis, was measured using a single item created for this study. Participants were asked to report the distance in miles between their home and the store where they most frequently shopped for food. *Frequency of purchasing fresh fruits and vegetables*, a mediator in this analysis, was measured using two items, which asked participants how often in the last month the primary food shopper for their home purchased fresh fruit and fresh vegetables, respectively. Similar to previous studies,²⁶ responses to these items were combined into a single variable representing frequency of shopping for fresh fruits and vegetables, using the most frequent response reported in the original two items.

Home inventories of fruits and vegetables, a mediator in this analysis, measured the variety of fruits and vegetables in the home. Participants were asked whether 15 types of fresh or frozen fruits and 19 types of fresh or frozen vegetables were present in the home over the previous week. Participants could also write in other types of fruits and

vegetables they had in the home, which were categorized and included in the total. Responses were summed to create a total score indicating the number of fruits and vegetables available in the home. This measure was adapted from a previously published version; reported item-specific test-retest reliability for this measure has ranged from 0.63-0.90.³⁵

Rurality, a stratification variable in this analysis, was measured using a single item created for this study. Participants were asked, "How would you describe the area where you currently live?" Response options were rural, small town, suburban, or urban. An indicator variable for rurality was used to test for rural-urban differences, with urban and suburban residents categorized together and rural and small town residents categorized together.

Demographic characteristics, which were treated as covariates in this analysis, included age in years, gender, race/ethnicity, marital status, employment status, educational attainment, annual household income, the number of adults and children in the household, and car ownership. We also included an indicator variable for whether or not the participant reported growing edible plants or having a garden in adjusted models as a potential confounder.

Statistical Analyses

After examining the univariate distributions of all study variables, we assessed bivariate relationships between all explanatory variables and the outcome. Rural-urban differences were tested using independent samples t-tests, Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney tests, and chi-square tests.

Total fruit and vegetable consumption, the outcome for this analysis, was regressed onto distance to primary food store, frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables, and home inventory of fruits in separate linear regression models. Unstandardized parameter estimates for both bivariate and adjusted models are reported to facilitate direct interpretation of the parameter estimates. Rural-urban differences in these relationships were assessed by adding an interaction term between the predictor variable the indicator variable for rurality. For all analyses, the distribution of the residuals and the variations inflation and tolerance values were examined to ensure the regression assumptions were met and there was no evidence of multicollinearity.

Originally, we intended to use PATH analysis to estimate the effect of frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables and home inventories of fruits and vegetables as simultaneous mediators. However, our initial models that included both mediators did not have adequate model fit. After respecifying the model to improve fit, the model failed to produce precision estimates (e.g., standard errors and p-values), possibly because of the degree of correlation between frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables and home inventories of fruits and vegetables (ρ =.41) or recursive relationships between the model variables. We resolved this problem by testing each mediator separately, rather than using PATH analysis.

To assess mediation, we estimated the total, direct, and indirect effects for the total sample in both unadjusted and adjusted analyses using maximum likelihood estimation. The indirect effect was calculated as the product of the direct effects of the explanatory variable on the mediator and the mediator on the outcome,³⁶ and the significance of this parameter was tested using Sobel's test.³⁷ The total effect is the sum of the direct and

indirect effect of the explanatory variable on the outcome.³⁶ Standardized parameter estimates are reported to facilitate comparisons of effect sizes across models. In instances when there was evidence of statistically significant mediation, we computed the proportion of the total effect that was mediated.³⁶ We used a two-group modelling approach to test for rural-urban differences and tested the difference between the indirect effect estimates for the two groups using a Wald chi-square test of parameter equalities. SAS 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) was used for descriptive, bivariate, and regression analyses, and MPlus software (Version 7, Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén) was used for mediation analyses. Because of the right-skew of the outcome variable, we conducted sensitivity analyses using a log-transformed outcome. Results were not substantively different, and we report the untransformed results in this paper for ease of interpretation.

Results

Participant Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics

Respondents were predominantly middle-aged (mean=45.4 years, SD=15.10), female (56.5%), and White (68.0%; Table 1). Approximately 12.5% identified as African American or Black, 14.0% as Hispanic, and 4.9% as Asian. Most were married or living with a partner (56.0%) and either employed for wages or self-employed (55.3%). Almost half had a college degree or higher (49.6%). Annual household incomes ranged widely, with 13.5% earning less than \$15,000 annually. Most reported at least one other person in the household (72.0%), and 31.3% reported that at least one child was present in the home. The vast majority of respondents owned a car (91.1%). Most respondents reported living in an urban or suburban area (70.0%; Table 5).

Participant Grocery Shopping Patterns, Home Environment Characteristics, and Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Most respondents reported that they were involved in grocery shopping for their households (80.6%), and 19.5% reported sharing that responsibility with another person (Table 5). Respondents reported primarily shopping at large chain grocery stores (54.6%), superstores or supercenters (28.9%), smaller grocery stores (11.9%), and warehouse clubs (5.6%). Just under a third reported that they grow edible plants or have a garden (29.8%). Respondents reported a mean distance of 5.7 miles from their residences to their primary food store (SD=8.47). Most (58.6%) reported shopping for fruits and vegetables once per week, and had a mean of 13.7 types of fruits and vegetables in their homes in the previous week (SD=7.32). Respondents reported consuming 2.5 daily servings of fruits and vegetables on average (SD=2.04).

In bivariate analyses, rural and small town residents reported larger mean distance from their homes to the grocery store where they shopped (4.6 miles for urban and suburban residents vs. 8.1 miles for rural and small town residents; p<.0001) and slightly lower fruit and vegetable intake (2.5 servings/day for urban and suburban residents vs. 2.4 servings/day for rural and small town residents; p=.016). They also reported shopping for fruits and vegetables less frequently (24.0% of urban residents shopped more than once per week vs. 21.2% of rural and small town residents; p=.004) and had fewer types of fruits and vegetables in their homes (13.9 for urban and suburban residents vs. 13.3 for rural and small town residents; p=.014).

Associations Between Distance to Primary Food Store, Frequency of Shopping for Fruit and Vegetables, and Home Inventories with Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Greater distance to primary food store was associated with greater consumption of fruits and vegetables in both unadjusted and adjusted analyses (Table 6). In unadjusted models, for every 1-mile increase in distance to the primary food store, respondents reported consuming 0.02 additional servings of fruits and vegetables per day (95% CI: 0.01, 0.03, p<.0001). Adjusting for covariates attenuated the magnitude of the effect. In adjusted analyses, for every 1-mile increase in distance to the primary food store, respondents reported consuming 0.009 additional cup-equivalents of fruits and vegetables per day (95% CI: 0.001, 0.016, p=.03).

More frequent shopping for fruits and vegetables was associated with greater total consumption in both unadjusted and adjusted models. In unadjusted analyses, relative to those who reported shopping less than once per week, mean consumption of fruits and vegetables was 0.84 servings higher among those who shopped once per week (95% CI: 0.67, 1.00, p<.0001) and 2.05-servings higher among those who shopped more than once per week (95% CI: 1.85, 2.24, p<.0001). These associations were attenuated after adjusting for covariates. In adjusted models, relative to those who reported shopping less than once per week, mean consumption of fruits and vegetables was 0.72-servings higher among those who reported shopping less than once per week, mean consumption of fruits and vegetables was 0.72-servings higher among those who reported shopping once per week (95% CI: 0.56, 0.89, p<.0001) and 1.80-servings higher among those who shopped more than once per week (95% CI: 1.60, 1.99, p<.0001).

Larger home inventories of fruits and vegetables were associated with greater consumption in both unadjusted and adjusted models. In unadjusted models, for each additional type of fruit or vegetable in the home, respondents reported consuming 0.13 additional servings per day (95% CI: 0.12, 0.14, p<.0001). Results were similar after adjusting for covariates. For each additional type of fruit or vegetable in the home, respondents reported consuming 0.12 additional servings of fruits and vegetables per day (95% CI: 0.11, 0.13, p<.0001).

In adjusted analyses, distance to the primary food store explained very little of the variability in fruit and vegetable intake ($R^2 < 1\%$). A greater proportion of the variability in fruit and vegetable consumption was explained by frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables ($R^2=10.8\%$) and home inventories of fruits and vegetables ($R^2=20.8\%$). There was evidence of rural-urban differences in the association between distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption in unadjusted models (p=.002 for the interaction term). However, after adjusting for underlying differences in the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of rural/small town and urban/suburban residents, rurality was no longer a statistically significant moderator of this relationship (p=.11 for the interaction term). There was no evidence of significant rural-urban differences in the association between frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables or home inventories of fruits and vegetables on fruit and vegetables on sumption in unadjusted consumption in unadjusted analyses.

Mediation Results

Frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables was not a statistically significant mediator of the effect of distance to primary store on total fruit and vegetable intake in unadjusted (β =0.006, 95% CI: -0.004, 0.02, p=.22) or adjusted analyses (β =-0.006, 95%

CI: -0.004, 0.001 p=.24; Figure 3). Although in unadjusted models, the indirect effect varied by rurality (p=.02 for the difference in the indirect effect in unadjusted models), these differences were largely accounted for by demographic and socioeconomic differences between rural and urban residents (p=.07 for the difference in the indirect effect in adjusted models).

Home inventories of fruits and vegetables was a statistically significant mediator of the relationship between distance to primary store and total fruit and vegetable intake in both unadjusted (β =0.05, 95% CI: 0.04, 0.06, p<.0001) and adjusted analyses (β =0.02, 95% CI: 0.001, 0.03, p=.03; Figure 4). In unadjusted analyses, home inventories of fruits and vegetables accounted for 52.7% of the total effect of distance to primary store on fruit and vegetable consumption. In adjusted analyses, the indirect effect accounted for 83.3% of the total effect. Although the indirect effect through home inventories of fruits and vegetables varied by rurality in unadjusted analyses (p=.0003 for the difference in the indirect effect in unadjusted models), these differences were largely accounted for by demographic and socioeconomic differences between rural and urban residents (p=.08 for the difference in the indirect effect in adjusted models).

Discussion

This analysis sought to test the direction, magnitude, and mechanism through which access to healthy food retailers was associated with fruit and vegetable consumption in a large national sample of adults. Findings indicated that, contrary to expectations, distance to primary food store was positively associated with fruit and vegetable consumption and the magnitude of the effect size was very small. This relationship was mediated by home inventories of fruits and vegetables, but not frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables. Rurality was not a statistically significant modifier of these effects after adjust for demographic and socioeconomic characteristics.

Findings from this analysis indicated that greater distance between a participant's home and primary food retailer was associated with increased total fruit and vegetable consumption. Our original hypothesis was that greater distance would be associated with *lower* fruit and vegetable consumption because we conceptualized distance to primary food store as a proxy for access to healthy food retailers within a participant's community. Although unexpected, the direction and magnitude of the total effect of distance to the primary food store is similar to findings from a previous study in New Orleans, LA which found a positive relationship between street-network distance to primary store and fruit and vegetable consumption (OR: 1.06, 95% CI: 1.01-1.12, p<.05).²⁸ Additionally, although the association was statistically significant, the effect size was very small and explained little of the variability in consumption, which raises questions about the public health significance of a change of this magnitude. Because consumption is measured in cup-equivalents, we estimate that the observed effect size represents less than a half-teaspoon increase in total fruit and vegetable consumption per day for each additional mile traveled to the primary food store.

These findings suggest that distance to the primary food store may be not be an adequate proxy for *access* to healthy food retailers, but may instead tap into to other relevant constructs regarding shopping preferences. For example, it is possible that people who eat more fruits and vegetables are more likely to seek out stores with better prices, selection, or quality that may be located farther from their homes, thus explaining this unexpected association. Prior qualitative research has found that proximity is only one of many factors consumers weigh when making decisions about where to purchase their groceries; other relevant factors may include in-store characteristics, such as prices, selection, and quality of the products sold.^{38,39}

Mediation results did not support our original hypothesis that participants whose primary food store was located farther to their homes would eat fewer fruits and vegetables because they shopped for groceries less frequently and purchased less of them when they shopped. These results are inconsistent with previous research, showing that greater objectively measured distance to primary food store was associated with lower fruit and vegetable consumption through less frequent shopping for fruits and vegetables.^{28,29} However, differences in the measurement approaches used limit the comparability of results with those from this study. For example, these prior studies measured distance from home to primary food store using geospatial methods, whereas this study used a self-reported measure. Additionally, these studies assessed grocery shopping frequency, whereas this study assessed frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetables. The extent to which these different measurement approaches may influence the results is unknown. Home inventories did appear to be a significant mediator, but in the opposite direction as expected (i.e., that participants whose primary stores are located farther from their homes have higher home inventories and greater intake of fruits and vegetables). Presumably, consumers whose primary food stores are located farther from their homes purchase a greater variety of fresh and frozen fruits and vegetables when they shop for groceries, thus explaining higher home inventories. Although prior studies have documented significant associations between home inventories of fruits and vegetables and total consumption,²⁶ this analysis is the first to our knowledge to test home inventories of

fruits and vegetables as a mediator of the association between distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption.

Although we found evidence of significant rural-urban differences in unadjusted analyses, these differences were attenuated after accounting for demographic and socioeconomic differences between these populations. These results suggest that any observed differences between rural and urban residents can be accounted for by underlying demographic and socioeconomic differences between these two groups, and not necessarily by characteristics of their food environments. These findings are surprising, given that rural areas have fewer food outlets as compared to urban areas,¹⁵ with one national study estimating that zip codes located in rural and agricultural areas had 14% of the chain supermarkets that were available in urban zip codes.¹² Our findings differ those from one prior study that assessed variability in the relationship between the food environment and diet by rurality. This study found that of 2,260 adults in the Brazos Valley region of TX, greater objectively-measured distance to the nearest supermarket or supercenter was associated with reduced fruit and vegetable consumption among rural residents, though not among urban residents.²² However, results from this study cannot be directly compared to this previous one, due to the differences in measuring access (objective vs. self-reoported) and in sampling. Dean et al. assessed distance from residential address to nearest healthy food retailer among a community-based sample, whereas this study assessed self-reported distance from residential address to primary food store among shoppers at healthy food retailers.

Strengths of this analysis include that it uses data from a large, national sample with sufficient geographic variability to stratify by rurality. Additionally, the outcome

measures included questions about both frequency and amount consumed, which is a methodologically stronger approach than alternative measures that ask about frequency of consumption alone.

Limitations of this analysis include that it relies on cross-sectional data, limiting our ability to test causal relationships. Additionally, though the dataset included a large national sample balanced to the US population on key demographic characteristics, this analysis reports results from a subset of respondents, and the extent to which these results are representative of shoppers at healthy food retailers in the United States is unknown. Additionally, the method of constructing the sample may have introduced bias. For example, although less than 5% of respondents were excluded because they do not use a traditional retailer of healthy foods as their primary food store, by systematically excluding these respondents, we may have also systematically excluded people with lower access to healthy foods within their communities and/or rural residents. This limits the comparability of this study with other similar studies that assessed objectively measured access to healthy food retailers among a community-based sample. Regarding the measures used in this study, we were unable to measure objective access to healthy food retailers within participants' communities, and instead conceptualized proximity to primary food retailer as a proxy for access. However, results from this study raise questions about the extent to which this measure is a good proxy for access, as it may be tapping into preferences or other factors adults use when deciding where to shop for food. Additionally, several of the measures asked participants about different sources of fruits and vegetables in their diets. For example, the outcome measure asked about consumption of fresh, frozen, and canned fruits and vegetables. By contrast, the mediator

about shopping frequency asked about purchasing fresh fruits and vegetables, and the mediator of home inventories asked about the availability of fresh and frozen fruits and vegetables in the home. This measure created for this study by the investigators and its psychometric properties are unknown.

Despite these limitations, these results add to the growing area of research investigating food acquisition practices as a potential mechanism through which consumers navigate their food environments. Recommendations for future research include using an objective measure of access to healthy food retailers, using a community-based sample, and assessing other potential food acquisition behaviors, such as store type of quantity of fruits and vegetables in the home, as mediators. These results combined with those of the present study will add to the growing body of literature assessing the mechanisms through which food retailer environments may influence dietary behavior.

Figures and Tables

	Total N=3,775		Urban and Suburban Residents n=2,642		Rural and Small Town Residents n=1,133		
	mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD or n (%)		mean \pm SD or n (%)		р
Age (years)	45.4	+15.10	45.2	+ 15.16	46.1	+14.94	.08
Female	2.136	(56.6)	1.476	(55.9)	660	(58.3)	.00
Race	2,100	(2010)	1,170	(00.0)	000	(00.0)	< .0001
White	2.567	(68.0)	1.681	(63.6)	886	(78.2)	
African American or Black	473	(12.5)	392	(14.8)	81	(7.2)	
Hispanic	527	(14.0)	407	(15.4)	120	(10.6)	
Asian	184	(4.9)	147	(5.6)	37	(3.3)	
Other	24	(0.6)	15	(0.6)	9	(0.8)	
Marital Status							.003
Married or living with partner	2,113	(56.0)	1,447	(54.8)	666	(58.8)	
Divorced, separated, or widowed	597	(15.8)	407	(15.4)	190	(16.8)	
Single	1,065	(28.2)	788	(29.8)	277	(24.5)	
Employment Status							<.0001
Employed for wages or self-employed	2,088	(55.3)	1,527	(57.8)	561	(49.5)	
Retired, a homemaker, or a student	1,356	(35.9)	893	(33.8)	463	(40.9)	
Unemployed	331	(8.8)	222	(8.4)	109	(9.6)	
Education							<.0001
Some high school or less	91	(2.4)	53	(2.0)	38	(3.4)	
High school or GED	618	(16.4)	360	(13.6)	258	(22.8)	
Some college/technical school	1,194	(31.6)	800	(30.3)	394	(34.8)	
College graduate or higher	1,872	(49.6)	1,429	(54.1)	443	(39.1)	
Household Income							<.0001
Less than \$15,000	510	(13.5)	329	(12.5)	181	(16.0)	

Table 5. Characteristics of National Home Environment Survey Respondents, Stratified by Rurality (N=3,775)

	Total		Urban and Suburban		Rural and Small		
	N=3,775		Residents n=2,642		Town Residents n=1,133		
	mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD		р
	or n (%)		or n (%)		or n (%)		
\$15,000 - \$49,999	1,418	(37.6)	942	(35.7)	476	(42.0)	
\$50,000 or more	1,847	(48.9)	1,371	(51.9)	476	(42.0)	
Household size							.002
1	1,056	(28.0)	760	(28.8)	296	(26.1)	
2	1,126	(29.8)	764	(28.9)	362	(32.0)	
3	684	(18.1)	491	(18.6)	193	(17.0)	
4	569	(15.1)	415	(15.7)	154	(13.6)	
5+	340	(9.0)	212	(8.0)	128	(11.3)	
Children Present in the Household	1,180	(31.3)	823	(31.2)	357	(31.5)	.83
Owns at Least One Car	3,438	(91.1)	2,384	(90.2)	1,054	(93.0)	.006
Grocery Shopping Involvement							.24
I am the only primary food shopper	3,041	(80.6)	2,146	(81.2)	895	(79.0)	
I take turns with someone else	400	(10.6)	274	(10.4)	126	(11.1)	
I go with someone else	334	(8.9)	222	(8.4)	112	(9.9)	
Primary Food Store Type							<.0001
Large chain grocery store	2,062	(54.6)	1,523	(57.7)	539	(47.6)	
Smaller grocery store	450	(11.9)	269	(10.2)	181	(16.0)	
Superstore or supercenter	1,090	(28.9)	706	(26.7)	384	(33.9)	
(e.g., Wal-Mart or Target)							
Warehouse Club (e.g., Sam's	173	(5.6)	144	(5.5)	29	(2.6)	
Club or Costco)							
Grows Edible Plants or Gardens	1,124	(29.8)	714	(27.0)	410	(36.2)	<.0001
Self-Reported Distance from Home	5.7	± 8.47	4.6	± 7.70	8.1	± 9.61	<.0001
to Primary Food Store (mi)							
Frequency of Shopping for Fruits							.004
and Vegetables							
Less than once per week	686	(18.2)	446	(16.9)	240	(21.2)	

	Total		Urban and Suburban		Rural and Small		
	N=3,775		Residents n=2,642		Town Residents n=1,133		
	mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD		p
	or n (%)		or n (%)		or n (%)		
Once per week	2,215	(58.7)	1,561	(59.1)	654	(57.7)	
More than once per week	874	(23.2)	635	(24.0)	239	(21.1)	
Home Inventory of Fruits and Vegetables	13.7	± 7.32	13.9	± 7.47	13.3	± 6.93	.014
Fruit and Vegetable Intake (Daily Servings)	2.5	± 2.04	2.5	± 2.07	2.4	± 1.97	.016

Variable		Unadjusted		Rural-		1	Rural-	
		Estimates		Urban		Estimates		Urban
				Difference				Difference
	β	(95% CI)	р	р	β	(95% CI)	р	р
Distance to Primary Food Store (mi)	0.02	(0.02,	<.0001	.0007	0.009	(0.001,	.03	.11
		0.03)				0.02)		
Frequency of Shopping for Fruits and								
Vegetables								
Less than once per week	ref				ref			
Once per week	0.83	(0.67,	<.0001	.13	0.72	(0.56,	<.0001	.09
		1.0)				0.89)		
More than once per week	2.0	(1.9, 2.2)	<.0001	.63	1.80	(1.60,	<.0001	.64
						1.99)		
Home Inventory of Fruits and	0.13	(0.12,	<.0001	.17	0.12	(0.11,	<.0001	.60
Vegetables		0.14)				0.13)		

Table 6. Community and Home Food Environment Predictors of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption among National Home Environment Survey Respondents and Evidence of Rural-Urban Variability (N=3,775)

Note. Each predictor was tested in a separate linear regression model, using total fruit and vegetable intake (number of daily servings) as the outcome. All parameter estimates are unstandardized. Rural-urban differences were tested using an interaction term between the predictor and an indicator variable for rurality. Adjusted models include the following covariates: age, sex, race, marital status, education, income, household size, the presence of children in the home, car ownership, role in grocery shopping, primary store type, and home gardening.

Figure 3. Frequency of Shopping for Fruits and Vegetables as Mediator of the Association between Distance to Primary Food Store and Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among National Home Environment Survey Respondents (N=3,775)



*p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001, ****p<.0001

Note. Solid lines indicate direct effects and dashed line indicates the indirect effect. Parameter estimates are presented with standard errors in parentheses. All parameter estimates are standardized and adjusted for the following covariates: age, sex, race, marital status, education, income, household size, the presence of children in the home, car ownership, role in grocery shopping, primary store type, and gardening.

Figure 4. Home Inventories of Fruit and Vegetables as a Mediator of the Association between Distance to Primary Food Store and Fruit and Vegetable Consumption Among National Home Environment Survey Respondents (N=3,775)



*p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001, ****p<.0001

Note. Solid lines indicate direct effects and dashed line indicates the indirect effect. Parameter estimates are presented with standard errors in parentheses. All parameter estimates are standardized and adjusted for the following covariates: age, sex, race, marital status, education, income, household size, the presence of children in the home, car ownership, role in grocery shopping, primary store type, and gardening.

References

1. Wang DD, Leung CW, Li Y, et al. Trends in dietary quality among adults in the United States, 1999 through 2010. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 2014;174(10):1587-1595.

 Moore LV, Thompson FE. Adults meeting fruit and vegetable intake recommendations—United States, 2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2015;64(26):709-713.

3. Lee-Kwan SH, Moore LV, Blanck HM, Harris DM, Galuska D. Disparities in State-Specific Adult Fruit and Vegetable Consumption, United States, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66(45):1241-1247.

4. U.S. Department of Agriculture, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2010.* Washington, DC 2010.

5. Hung H-C, Joshipura KJ, Jiang R, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and risk of major chronic disease. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2004;96(21):1577-1584.

6. Ledoux T, Hingle M, Baranowski T. Relationship of fruit and vegetable intake with adiposity: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(5).

US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020 Objectives.
 2020;

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/objectiveslist.aspx?topicid=5. Accessed January 23, 2017.

Glanz K, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD. Nutrition Environment Measures
 Survey in stores (NEMS-S): development and evaluation. *Am J Prev Med.* 2007;32(4):282-289.

9. Franco M, Roux AVD, Glass TA, Caballero B, Brancati FL. Neighborhood characteristics and availability of healthy foods in Baltimore. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;35(6):561-567.

 Grimm KA, Moore LV, Scanlon KS. Access to healthier food retailers—United States, 2011. *CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report—United States*, 2013.
 2013;62(3):20.

11. Sharkey JR. Measuring potential access to food stores and food-service places in rural areas in the US. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009;36(4):S151-S155.

12. Powell LM, Slater S, Mirtcheva D, Bao Y, Chaloupka FJ. Food store availability and neighborhood characteristics in the United States. *Prev Med.* 2007;44(3):189-195.

Morland K, Wing S, Roux AD, Poole C. Neighborhood characteristics associated with the location of food stores and food service places. *Am J Prev Med.* 2002;22(1):23-29.

14. Zenk SN, Schulz AJ, Israel BA, James SA, Bao S, Wilson ML. Neighborhood racial composition, neighborhood poverty, and the spatial accessibility of supermarkets in metropolitan Detroit. *Am J Public Health*. 2005;95(4):660-667.

15. Larson NI, Story MT, Nelson MC. Neighborhood environments: disparities in access to healthy foods in the US. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009;36(1):74-81. e10.

16. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: a systematic review. *Health Place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187.

17. Charreire H, Casey R, Salze P, et al. Measuring the food environment using geographical information systems: a methodological review. *Public Health Nutr*.
2010;13(11):1773-1785.

 Zenk SN, Lachance LL, Schulz AJ, Mentz G, Kannan S, Ridella W.
 Neighborhood retail food environment and fruit and vegetable intake in a multiethnic urban population. *Am J Health Promot.* 2009;23(4):255-264.

19. Bodor JN, Rose D, Farley TA, Swalm C, Scott SK. Neighbourhood fruit and vegetable availability and consumption: the role of small food stores in an urban environment. *Public Health Nutr.* 2008;11(04):413-420.

20. Caspi CE, Kawachi I, Subramanian S, Adamkiewicz G, Sorensen G. The relationship between diet and perceived and objective access to supermarkets among low-income housing residents. *Soc Sci Med.* 2012;75(7):1254-1262.

21. Gustafson AA, Sharkey J, Samuel-Hodge CD, et al. Perceived and objective measures of the food store environment and the association with weight and diet among low-income women in North Carolina. *Public Health Nutr.* 2011;14(06):1032-1038.

22. Dean WR, Sharkey JR. Rural and urban differences in the associations between characteristics of the community food environment and fruit and vegetable intake. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2011;43(6):426-433.

23. Ver Ploeg M, Mancino L, Todd JE, Clay DM, Scharadin B. *Where Do Americans Usually Shop for Food and how Do They Travel to Get There?: Initial Findings from the National Household Food Acquisition and Purchase Survey.* United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2015.

24. Rose D, Richards R. Food store access and household fruit and vegetable use among participants in the US Food Stamp Program. *Public Health Nutr*. 2004;7(08):1081-1088.

25. Gustat J, Lee Y-S, O'Malley K, et al. Personal characteristics, cooking at home and shopping frequency influence consumption. *Prev Med Rep.* 2017;6:104-110.

26. Kegler MC, Alcantara I, Haardörfer R, Gazmararian JA, Ballard D, Sabbs D. The Influence of Home Food Environments on Eating Behaviors of Overweight and Obese Women. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2014;46(3):188-196.

27. Kegler MC, Swan DW, Alcantara I, Feldman L, Glanz K. The influence of rural home and neighborhood environments on healthy eating, physical activity, and weight. *Prev Sci.* 2014;15(1):1-11.

28. Gustat J, O'Malley K, Luckett BG, Johnson CC. Fresh produce consumption and the association between frequency of food shopping, car access, and distance to supermarkets. *Prev Med Rep.* 2015;2:47-52.

29. Liese AD, Bell BA, Barnes TL, et al. Environmental influences on fruit and vegetable intake: results from a path analytic model. *Public Health Nutr*.
2014;17(11):2595-2604.

30. Peterson KE, Hebert JR, Hurley TG, et al. Accuracy and precision of two short screeners to assess change in fruit and vegetable consumption among diverse populations participating in health promotion intervention trials. *J Nutr.* 2008;138(1):218S-225S.

31. Yaroch AL, Tooze J, Thompson FE, et al. Evaluation of three short dietary instruments to assess fruit and vegetable intake: the National Cancer Institute's Food Attitudes and Behaviors Survey. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2012;112(10):1570-1577.

32. Greene GW, Resnicow K, Thompson FE, et al. Correspondence of the NCI Fruit and Vegetable Screener to repeat 24-H recalls and serum carotenoids in behavioral intervention trials. *J Nutr.* 2008;138(1):200S-204S. 33. Thompson FE, Subar AF, Smith AF, et al. Fruit and vegetable assessment: performance of 2 new short instruments and a food frequency questionnaire. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2002;102(12):1764-1772.

34. National Cancer Institute. Fruit & Vegetable Screeners in the Eating at America'sTable Study (EATS): Instruments.

https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/diet/screeners/fruitveg/instrument.html. Accessed June 1, 2014.

35. Gattshall ML, Shoup JA, Marshall JA, Crane LA, Estabrooks PA. Validation of a survey instrument to assess home environments for physical activity and healthy eating in overweight children. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2008;5(1):3.

MacKinnon DP, Fairchild AJ, Fritz MS. Mediation analysis. *Annu Rev Psychol*.
 2007;58:593-614.

37. Sobel ME. Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. *Sociol Methodol*. 1982;13:290-312.

38. Raskind IG, Woodruff RC, Ballard D, et al. Decision-making processes shaping the home food environments of young adult women with and without children. *Appetite*. 2017;113:124-133.

39. Krukowski RA, McSweeney J, Sparks C, West DS. Qualitative study of influences on food store choice. *Appetite*. 2012;59(2):510-516.

CHAPTER 4. Does the Food Retail Environment Modify the Efficacy of a Behavioral Intervention to Improve Dietary Quality?

Abstract

Introduction: The typical American diet does not adhere to federal nutrition guidelines, and few low-cost behavioral interventions to improve diet quality exist. Even if such interventions can be identified, they may not be uniformly effective for all participants. The aims of this study were to assess the efficacy of a home environment-focused coaching intervention for improving dietary quality and to explore three measures of access to healthy food retailers as potential moderators of the intervention efficacy. **Methods:** The intervention was evaluated using a two-group randomized design with 6 and 12-months follow-up. Dietary quality was measured using multiple 24-hr recalls and scored using the Healthy Eating Index-2010 (HEI-2010). Tested moderators included proximity to the nearest healthy food retailer and the availability and density of healthy food retailers within a 1-mile radial buffer of participants' residential addresses. **Results:** Trial participants were 349 middle-aged overweight or obese women living in the Georgia. Intervention participants reported small but significant improvements in dietary quality at six-months follow-up relative to control participants ($+3.41 \pm 13.43$ intervention vs. $\pm 2.02 \pm 12.26$ control, p=.008; Cohen's D=0.16). Subcomponent analysis indicated that intervention participants reported greater vegetable consumption and reduced intake of solid fats, alcoholic beverages, and added sugars. No statistically significant intervention effect was evident at twelve-months follow-up. Although moderation results were not statistically significant, they suggested that the intervention may have attenuated the effect of limited access to healthy food retailers on dietary

quality, with the proximity measure access showing the strongest effect. The effect of a 1-mile increase to the nearest healthy food retailer on HEI-2010 total score was greater among control participants (β =-0.18, 95% CI: -0.42, 0.07) relative to intervention group participants (β =0.01, 95% CI: -0.24, 0.25).

Discussion: Consistent with the intervention's theory of change, the intervention resulted in small but significant short-term improvements in dietary quality. Though we found no evidence of statistically significant moderation, results suggest that exposure to the HHHF intervention may have attenuated the effect of access to healthy food retailers on dietary quality. More research is needed regarding the potential moderating effect of local food environments on intervention efficacy.

Introduction

The quality of the typical American diet does not adhere to federal nutrition guidelines, which may partly explain the high prevalence of obesity and chronic disease in this country.¹ The federal government defines a healthy diet as rich in fruits and vegetables, whole grains, low-fat dairy products, and lean proteins, and limited in saturated and trans fats, sodium, and added sugars.² However, the majority of Americans do not meet the federal government's minimum recommended intake of fruits, vegetables, and whole grains.³ Instead, energy intake disproportionately comes from energy-dense food sources, including solid fats, added sugars, and alcoholic beverages.³ According to recent meta-analyses, populations consuming diets that better adhere to federal nutrition guidelines have lower rates of all-cause mortality and incident cardiovascular disease, cancer, and diabetes mellitus.^{4,5} Low-cost behavioral interventions to improve dietary quality are needed.
The home food environment may be an appropriate target for interventions to improve dietary quality. Characteristics of the home food environment, including the availability of healthy and unhealthy foods, the use of non-home food sources, grocery shopping practices, and food preparation method, are associated with a range of dietary behaviors among adults and children,⁶⁻⁸ including dietary quality.^{9,10} Several interventions to improve the home food environment have resulted in increased fruit and vegetable consumption,¹¹ decreased total energy intake,¹² and improve weight-related outcomes.¹²⁻¹⁴ However, no known evaluations have assessed the impact of these interventions on overall dietary quality.

Even if interventions to improve dietary quality can be developed and implemented, they may not be uniformly effective for all participants. Many behavioral interventions to modify dietary behavior involve participants changing how they relate to their food environments by altering their food purchasing patterns.¹¹⁻¹⁴ Neighborhoods with greater access to healthy food retailers may help facilitate participants in making health-promoting changes to their food shopping behaviors and diets, while neighborhoods with limited healthy food retailers may hinder them.

Several prior studies have documented that characteristics of the broader neighborhood food retail environment may moderate the efficacy of interventions to improve dietary behavior and weight-related outcomes.¹⁵⁻¹⁹ Results have been mixed; some studies have found evidence of statistically significant moderation,^{15,17,19} although others have not.¹⁸ However, these results are difficult to compare, as they have focused on different interventions, populations, outcome measures, and definitions of the food retail environment. Consistent with the observational literature,²⁰ the most commonly used

measures of access to healthy food retailers have been proximity to the nearest retailer^{15,17,19} or the presence or density of supermarkets within geographic areas ranging from 0.5-3 miles around the participants' residence.^{15,18,19} Other less commonly used measures included perceptions of the local food environment and the modified retail food environment index.¹⁹

The purpose of this study was to conduct a secondary analysis of data from the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families (HHHF) randomized trial to assess whether a home environment-focused coaching intervention to prevent weight gain resulted in improved dietary quality among low-income overweight and obese women. Additionally, we sought to investigate the extent to which neighborhood-level access to healthy foods modified the efficacy of the intervention at improving dietary quality. We hypothesized that participants randomized to the intervention would show greater improvements in dietary quality relative to those randomized to the control condition and that the intervention effect would be stronger among participants living in areas with greater access to healthy food retailers.

Methods

This study is a secondary analysis of data from a randomized trial that evaluated the Healthy Homes / Healthy Families intervention.¹² Trial participants were referred to the study between February 2011 and December 2012 by providers at nine community health center clinical sites in the southwestern region of Georgia. Eligible participants were overweight and obese women aged 35-65 years who were not pregnant and who lived with at least one other person no farther than 30 miles from the referring clinic. Trained interviewers collected data by telephone at baseline, six, and twelve-months follow-up. Of the 948 women referred to the study, 751 were screened for eligibility, and 349 completed baseline data collection and were randomized to condition. The majority of participants (n=288, 82.5%) completed data collection at six-months follow-up, and 268 participants (76.8%) at twelve-months follow-up. All study procedures were approved by the Emory University Institutional Review Board.

Intervention Description

Condition (intervention vs. control) was the main exposure variable for this analysis. Participants randomized to the intervention group received the HHHF intervention, and those randomized to the control condition received three mailings of nutrition and physical activity educational materials developed by the federal government. A detailed description of the intervention has been published previously.¹² Briefly, HHHF is an intervention to prevent weight gain by making the home nutrition and physical activity environments more supportive of healthy eating.

The intervention consisted of seven contacts (three in-person and four by telephone) with a health coach over sixteen weeks. All participants received a home environment profile indicating healthy and less healthy aspects of the home environment that was tailored on results from the baseline survey responses. Health coaches used the home environment profile to guide each participant to select a total of six healthy actions to make the home environment more supportive of healthy eating and physical activity (e.g., always having a low-calorie beverage at home instead of sugar soda and/or sweet tea or keeping one piece of exercise equipment in a visible location and committing to using it once a week). Each healthy action was recorded in a family contract, which was signed by the participant and the coach. Participants were mailed materials to support these healthy actions (e.g., a portion plate or a water bottle). Process evaluation results

indicated that most participants (74.4%) randomized to the intervention condition received the entire intervention.¹²

Measures

Dietary Quality

Dietary quality, operationalized as the Healthy Eating Index-2010 (HEI-2010) at six and twelve-month follow-up, was the outcome variable for this analysis. Self-reported dietary intake data was collected by interviewer-administered 24-hour dietary recalls on one weekday and one weekend day on unannounced, nonconsecutive days using the Nutritional Data System for Research (NDSR, version 2010, Nutrition Coordinating Center, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN). Prior to the interviews, participants received a printed food amount booklet to aid them in estimating portion sizes. The 24-hour dietary recall is the gold standard measure of self-reported dietary intake, and is more highly correlated with serum carotenoid levels (r=.42) as compared to brief fruit and vegetable consumption measures.²¹

We used the 24-hour dietary recall data to calculate the HEI-2010, which is a measure of adherence to Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2010, the federal government's nutrition guidelines at the time of the study.^{22,23} The HEI-2010 total score ranges from 0-100 and is comprised of twelve subcomponents: consumption of total fruit; whole fruit; total vegetables; dark-green and orange vegetables and legumes; total grains; whole grains; milk; meat and beans; oils; saturated fats; sodium; and solid fats, alcoholic beverages, and added sugars (SoFASS). Higher total and subcomponent scores indicate better dietary quality. As described in more detail in a previous publication, the HEI-2010 score was calculated for each recall day, and the scores from the two days were averaged.⁹

Prior research has shown that higher HEI scores are correlated with a range of plasma biomarkers indicative of better dietary quality,²⁴ that the HEI-2010 can distinguish between populations known to have differences in dietary quality,²⁵ and it is a reliable method of measuring dietary quality (Cronbach's alpha=.68).²⁵

Access to Healthy Food Retailers

The moderator for this analysis was access to healthy food retailers, which was operationalized in three ways: proximity, availability, and density of healthy food retailers relative to the participant's residential address.

Participants provided their residential addresses at baseline, which were geocoded in ArcMap 10.5.1 (Environmental Systems Research Institute [ESRI]. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA) using an address locator from 2012 obtained from ESRI. Of the 349 participants, 264 addresses (76%) were matched; 5 (1%) were tied, meaning there was more than one candidate for the best match; and 80 (23%) were unmatched. Unmatched addresses were resolved by searching for their location using Google Maps, an open-source mapping software, and importing the latitude and longitude coordinates. Of the 80 unmatched addresses, 25 could not be rematched and were excluded from the moderation analysis.

The locations of all food retailers open for business in the study area in 2012 was obtained from a commercial mailing list from ReferenceUSA. Addresses were geocoded using the same procedure that was used to geocode residential addresses. In total, 2,825 stores (88%) were matched, 30 (1%) were tied, and 340 (11%) were unmatched. Of the unmatched addresses, 274 were located in Google Maps. Of the total stores geocoded, 114 were defined as healthy food retailers, which were identified by their primary North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code and name recognition. Healthy food retailers included supermarkets (NAICS: 44511001-5 with 50+ employees, n=74), supercenters (NAICS: 452111, n=35), and warehouse clubs (NAICS: 425910 & 45291001, n=5).

All moderator variables were created in ArcGIS. For the proximity measure, the spatial join function was used to calculate the Euclidean (straight-line) distance in miles from the participant's home to the nearest healthy food retailer. Proximity was treated as a continuous variable in all analyses. For the availability measure, we constructed 1-mile buffers around each participants' home and created a dichotomous indicator variable for the presence of at least one healthy food retailer within the buffer (coded as 0/1). For the density measure, a spatial join was used to calculate the number of healthy food retailers within the 1-mile buffer. We trichotomized the responses for this variable into three levels (0, 1, and 2+) due to concerns about sparse data, as only two participants had greater than two healthy food retailers within the buffer. We selected these geographic buffers to facilitate comparisons with similar studies that have been previously published.^{15,19}

Covariates

Both individual- and neighborhood- level variables were included as potential covariates. At baseline, participants reported their age, race, marital status, employment status, educational attainment, annual household income, the number of adults, and the presence of children living in the home. Self-reported height and weight was used to calculate body mass index (kg/m^2) at baseline.

Neighborhood-level variables included an indicator variable for urban vs. rural and two measures of area-level socioeconomic status. We used the US Census' method of characterizing participants as living in a rural vs. urban area. Participant addresses that fell within a 2010 US Census-designated urbanized area, defined as an area with 50,000 or more people, were coded as urban; all others were coded rural. Participants' census tract of residence was determined in ArcGIS and matched to census data to determine the percent of residents living in poverty and the median household income.

Statistical Analysis

The univariate distribution of the main outcome variable was assessed for normality, missingness, and geospatial clustering. Participants who were lost to follow-up were older (p=.003) and more likely to have been randomized to the intervention condition (p=.03). There was negligible evidence of geospatial clustering of the outcome at the census tract-level (intraclass correlation coefficient=6.83% for the HEI-2010 total score at baseline). Bivariate associations between all study variables were also assessed. Variables that were theoretical confounders and those that were associated with the main exposure, outcome, moderator, or with an indicator variable for those who were unable to be geocoded at p<.10 were treated as covariates in adjusted models. Two participants had missing data on covariates and were excluded from adjusted analyses.

The main effect of the intervention on six and twelve-month change in HEI-2010 total and subcomponent scores were estimated using linear regression. For these models, we regressed the HEI-2010 total and subcomponent scores at follow-up onto the baseline values and the main exposure variable of group (intervention vs. control). This is the preferred method of analyzing continuous outcome data from a randomized trial in instances when there are differences in the outcome at baseline despite randomization and the baseline and follow-up scores and not strongly correlated.²⁶ The coefficient of the group variable represents the main intervention effect (i.e., the mean difference in the outcome comparing the intervention and control groups). The standardized effect size of the intervention was estimated using Cohen's D.²⁷ Unadjusted results are reported, though we also conducted a sensitivity analysis for the main intervention effect adjusting for covariates, and the statistical significance remained the same. For all analyses, the distribution of the residuals and the variance inflation and tolerance values were examined to ensure the regression assumptions were met.

Moderation analyses were conducted among the 324 participants whose residential addresses could be geocoded. To assess moderation, the variable for access to healthy food retailers and an interaction term between that variable and group were added to the models as predictors. Several sensitivity analyses were conducted for each moderator. For the availability and density measures, results for the 1-mile buffer were compared with a 5- and 10-mile buffer. For all moderation analyses, we centered the HEI-2010 total score by subtracting it from the mean score among all participants to improve the interpretability of the intercept. Results were adjusted for the following covariates: participant age, marital status, employment status, educational attainment, annual household income, the number of adults in the household, the number of children in the household, an indicator variable for urban vs. rural, percent poverty within the census tract, and median household income within the census tract. Additionally, for the availability and density-based measures of access to a healthy food retailer, we attempted to control for the total number of food retailers within the geographic area, but were

unable to include this as a covariate due to variance inflation resulting from multicollinearity. All analyses were conducted in SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

Results

Characteristics of Trial Participants

The majority of HHHF trial participants were middle-aged (mean age=50.2 years, SD=8.1) African American (84.5%) women who were overweight or obese at baseline (mean BMI=28.2, SD=8.5; Table 1. Approximately 36.4% reported that they had a high school degree or equivalent, and 11.6% reported that they had graduated from college. Many reported full- (34.1%) or part-time employment (10.0%). Almost one-third of participants reported an annual household income of less than \$10,000 per year, and nearly half reported that they were either married or living with a partner (46.1%). There were no statistically significant differences in demographic variables between the intervention and control groups.

Of the 324 participants whose addresses could be geocoded, most (n=208, 64.2%) lived in an urban area (Table 1). Participants' census tracts of residence had a mean poverty rate of 32.4%, and the median household income was \$32,040 on average. Participants' residential addresses were located an average of 6.56 miles from the nearest healthy food retailer. Approximately 24.4% of participants had at least one healthy food retailer within 1 mile of their home, with 15.4% having one healthy food retailer and 8.9% having two or more healthy food retailers within 1 mile. The only statistically significant difference between groups was that participants randomized to the control group were more likely to have at least one healthy food retailer within 1 mile of their home (p=.03).

At baseline, intervention participants had slightly higher HEI-2010 scores (51.09 ± 11.61 for intervention vs. 49.50 ± 11.09 for control), though this difference was not statistically significant (p=.19; Table 3). Subcomponent analysis indicated that intervention and control participants differed on consumption of total vegetables (2.58 ± 1.38 for intervention vs. 2.28 ± 1.33 for control, p=.04), dark-green and orange vegetables and legumes (2.08 ± 1.80 for intervention, 1.61 ± 1.65 for control, p=.01), and saturated fat (6.40 ± 2.67 for intervention, 5.62 ± 2.93 for control p=.01).

Intervention Impact on Dietary Quality

At six-months follow-up, intervention participants showed greater improvements in dietary quality relative to control participants ($+3.41 \pm 13.43$ for intervention group vs. $+2.02 \pm 12.26$ for control group, p=.008). Subcomponent analysis indicated that intervention participants reported greater consumption of total vegetables ($+0.37 \pm 1.88$ among intervention group vs. $+0.26 \pm 1.91$ among control group, p=.008) and reduced consumption of solid fats, alcoholic beverages, and added sugar ($+1.70 \pm 4.99$ among intervention group vs. $+0.90 \pm 5.24$ among control group, p=.02). No statistically significant intervention effect was evident at twelve-months follow-up. The standardized effect size was 0.16 at six months and 0.13 at twelve-months follow-up.

Moderation by Access to Healthy Food Retailers

Proximity to a Healthy Food Retailer

Results for the moderating effect of distance to the nearest healthy food retailer from the participant's residence are shown in Table 3 and Figure 1. Although all results were statistically non-significant, the direction and magnitude of the effect sizes suggested that distance to the nearest healthy food retailer had an inverse effect on HEI- 2010 scores at six-months follow-up among control group participants, but was attenuated among intervention group participants. Among the control group, for each 1-mile increase in distance to the nearest healthy food retailer, mean HEI-2010 scores were 0.18-units lower at follow-up, though this association was not statistically significant (95% CI: -0.42, 0.07, p=.16). Among the intervention group, for each 1-mile increase in distance to the nearest healthy food retailer, HEI-2010 scores increased by 0.01-units, although this association was also not statistically significant (95% CI: -0.24, 0.25, p=.96). The interaction term, testing the difference in the association between proximity to a healthy food retailer and HEI-2010 scores at follow-up conditional on group assignment was not statistically significant (β =0.18, 95% CI: -0.13, 0.50, p=.25). *Availability of a Healthy Food Retailer*

Results for the moderating effect of the presence of a healthy food retailer within one mile of the participant's residence are shown in Table 3. Although all results were statistically non-significant, the direction and magnitude of the effect sizes suggest that the presence of a healthy food retailer within one mile had a positive effect on HEI-2010 scores among both groups, and was stronger for control group participants. Control group participants with a healthy food retailer within 1 mile scored 3.61-units higher on HEI-2010 at follow-up as compared to those who did not, though this relationship was not statistically significant (95% CI: -0.76, 7.99, p=.11). Intervention group participants with a healthy food retailer within 1 mile scored 2.64-units higher on the HEI-2010 at followup as compared to those who did not, though this relationship was also up as compared to those who did not, though this relationship was also not statistically significant (95% CI: -2.36, 7.64, p=.30). The interaction term, testing the difference in the association between the availability of a healthy food retailer and HEI-2010 scores at follow-up conditional on group assignment, was not statistically significant (β =-0.97, 95% CI: -7.39, 5.44, p=.77).

Density of Healthy Food Retailers

Results for the moderating effect of density of healthy food retailers within a 1mile buffer of the participant's residence are shown in Table 3 and Figure 2. Although all results were statistically non-significant, the direction and magnitude of the effect sizes suggest that the presence of a healthy food retailers within one mile had a positive effect on HEI-2010 scores among both groups, and was stronger for control group participants. In unadjusted and adjusted analyses, there was a positive relationship between the number of healthy food retailers and HEI-2010 scores at 6-months follow-up among intervention and control groups, but the effect of the food retailer environment on dietary quality was stronger for control group participants. For each additional healthy food retailer within 1 mile, HEI-2010 scores increased by 2.74-units among the control group, and this association was statistically significant (95% CI: 0.69, 4.79, p=.009). For each additional healthy food retailer within 1 mile, HEI-2010 scores increased by 2.63-units among the intervention group, though this association was not statistically significant (95% CI: -0.73, 5.98, p=.12). The interaction term, testing the difference in the association between density of healthy food retailers within 1 mile and HEI-2010 scores at follow up conditional on group assignment was not statistically significant (β =-.11, 95% CI: -3.98, 3.71, p=.95).

Discussion

Results suggest that a moderate-intensity coaching intervention focused on making health-promoting changes to the home environment resulted in short-term improvements in the quality of overweight and obese women's diets to make them better aligned with federal nutrition guidelines. Changes in diet appeared to be driven by improvements in consumption of total vegetables and solid fats, alcoholic beverages, and added sugars. These findings are consistent with results from a previously published process evaluation of the intervention, which documented that the healthy actions most commonly selected by intervention participants included always having a low-calorie beverage available instead of sugar soda and/or sweet tea (51.2%), identifying one unhealthy food or drink and not allowing it in the home (53.6%), and purchasing fresh vegetables and fruits at least once a week and making them easy to see and grab (43.6%).¹²

Although the intervention effect on dietary quality was statistically significant, the standardized effect size was small (i.e.,<0.20).²⁷ The clinical significance of a change in HEI-2010 scores of this magnitude is yet unknown. To date, most studies that have used the HEI-2010 have been cross-sectional and descriptive; few longitudinal studies or experimental studies have been published. Intervention participants reported a mean improvement of +3.41 units in the HEI-2010 total score from baseline to six-months follow-up, which is consistent with the magnitude observed in previous intervention studies (range: +2.6-6.1-unit increases).²⁸⁻³¹ However, none of these interventions was comparable to HHHF. For example, tested interventions included an evaluation of the USDA-funded nutrition education intervention for low-income people,²⁸ financial incentives to increase fruit and vegetable purchase among SNAP recipients,³⁰ a health education intervention to reduce sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among adults,²⁹ and a church-based diet and physical activity intervention among African Americans.³¹

Although not explicitly tested as part of this analysis, these results help interpret previous findings from this trial and clarify the intervention's mechanisms of change. As reported previously, HHHF participants reported significant and sustained reductions in total energy intake. At 6-months follow-up, HHHF intervention participants reported greater reductions in total energy intake relative to control participants (-274 \pm 583 kcal/d among intervention group vs. -69 \pm 594 kcal/d among control group, p=.003).¹² Given that previous research has shown that the HEI-2010 measures dietary quality independent of energy intake,²⁵ these results suggest that HHHF participants may have decreased their total caloric intake in part by improving the diets such that they better aligned with federal nutrition guidance. Furthermore, these modifications were enough to result in differential self-reported weight loss between the two groups (-9.1 \pm 16.5 lbs among intervention group vs. -5.0 \pm 13.7 lbs among control group, p=.03).¹²

This study also found evidence suggesting that the HHHF may have attenuated the effect of poor access to healthy foods on dietary quality. This finding differed from our original hypothesis that the effect of the HHHF intervention on dietary quality would be stronger among participants who lived in communities with greater access to healthy food retailers because these environments would support participants in making health-promoting changes to their home food environment and diet. Our results did not support this hypothesis, but suggested a new direction for future research instead. We found evidence that control group participants with poorer access to healthy food retailers (defined by either proximity, presence, or density) had poorer dietary quality, but that this relationship was attenuated by participants involved changing food purchasing patterns. Though not formally tested by this study, it is possible that the HHHF intervention motivated participants to change their food purchasing patterns, regardless of the characteristics of their community food environments.

To our knowledge, only two previous studies have examined access to healthy food retailers as a potential moderator of interventions to improve dietary quality. One study used data from a lifestyle intervention to reduce cardiovascular disease risk among 249 adults in North Carolina.¹⁹ This analysis found that 6-month change in dietary quality, measured by the Dietary Risk Assessment, was not correlated with street network distance to the nearest supermarket in miles ($\rho=0.07$, p=.38) or the density of supermarkets within a 1-mile buffer of the participant's home (ρ =-0.10, p=.17). A different study used data from a health education intervention to improve dietary fiber intake among 204 obese adults with metabolic syndrome in Massachusetts.¹⁵ This analysis found that increased distance from the participant's residence to the nearest healthy food retailer attenuated 6-month improvements in dietary quality, measured using the Alternate Healthy Eating Index, among the intervention group, though this relationship was not statistically significant (β =-0.37, 95% CI: -1.07, .33). This study also examined the density of healthy food retailers within a 1-mile buffer, but found no evidence of statistically significant moderation, and did not present parameter estimates in the paper.

Given that none of the interventions tested in this literature, including HHHF, were explicitly designed to improve dietary quality and that all studies were likely not powered to conduct these secondary analyses, it is not surprising that most results were not statistically significant. Still, these results are suggestive of a potential moderating

114

influence of the community food retailer environment on intervention efficacy and warrant further exploration in future studies.

Strengths of this study include the two-group randomized design and the use of multiple 24-hour dietary recalls to measure dietary intake. Limitations of this analysis include that this trial was not powered to detect changes in the HEI-2010; the original power calculations were based on total energy intake and body weight in pounds. Statistical power may have been especially impacted by the small sample size available for moderation analysis, as 7% of the original sample had to be excluded because the residential addresses could not be geocoded. Additionally, the moderator variables were generated using addresses from a single unvalidated dataset purchased from a commercial vendor. Although this is a frequently used approach to conducting geospatial analysis regarding community food environments, a recent systematic review investigating the validity of commercial food retailer data sources reported moderate concordance (0.42-0.44), sensitivity (0.59-0.65), and positive predictive values (0.49-(0.62) of commercial address data relative to ground-truthed locations of food retailers.³² Future research should use multiple data sources, validate the locations of food retailers, and conduct in-store audits to verify the availability of healthy food items within the stores. Additionally, as reported in a previous publication, we suspect underreporting in the 24-hour dietary recall data,¹² however the extent to which this would affect HEI-2010 scores is unknown. The HEI-2010 scores reported by HHHF trial participants at baseline are comparable to national surveillance estimates among women in the United States.²³ Taken together, results from this analysis suggest that a moderate-intensity coaching intervention focused explicitly on making health-promoting changes to home food

environments can result in participants altering their diets such that they are better aligned with federal dietary guidance, and that these modifications may result in reduced energy intake and weight loss. Future research is needed to develop low-cost interventions to improve dietary quality.

Figures and Tables

	Interv	ention	Con	trol	
	Group		Group		
	(n-172)		(n-177)		
	(II=1/2)		(11-1/7)		n
	$\frac{11(\%)01}{50}$		$\frac{11}{10} \frac{70}{10} \frac{10}{10}$		p
Individuo		$\pm SD$	mean	± δD	
	<u>1-Level va</u>		40.8	+ 0 10	41
Age	30.3	± 7.98	49.8	± 0.10	.41
Race	140	(05, 4)	140	(0,1,2)	.95
African American	140	(85.4)	149	(84.2)	
white	25	(14.6)	26	(14./)	
Other	0	(0.0)	2	(1.1)	0.0
Marital Status			-		.09
Married or living with partner	82	(47.7)	/9	(44.6)	
Divorced, separated,	58	(33.7)	48	(27.1)	
or widowed					
Not married	32	(18.6)	50	(28.2)	_
Employment Status					.62
Not employed, homemaker,	86	(50.0)	85	(48.0)	
student,					
or on disability					
Working full-time	61	(35.5)	58	(32.8)	
Working part-time	16	(9.3)	19	(10.7)	
Retired	9	(5.2)	15	(8.5)	
Education					.72
\leq Some high school	37	(21.6)	34	(19.2)	
High school or GED	65	(38.0)	62	(35.0)	
Some college/technical school	52	(30.4)	58	(32.8)	
\geq college graduate	17	(9.9)	23	(13.0)	
Household Income					.69
\$10,000 or less	56	(33.1)	58	(33.5)	
\$10,001 - \$25,000	64	(37.9)	57	(33.0)	
\$25,001 - \$50,000	37	(21.9)	41	(23.7)	
\$50,000 or more	12	(7.1)	17	(9.8)	
Number of Adults in Household					.29
None	16	(9.3)	21	(11.9)	
1	88	(51.2)	97	(55.1)	
2	49	(28.5)	35	(19.9)	
3+	19	(11.1)	23	(13.1)	
Number of Children in Household					.40
None	82	(47.7)	92	(52.3)	

Table 7. Baseline Demographic, Socioeconomic, and Neighborhood-Level Characteristics of Participants in the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Randomized Trial (N=349)

	Inter	vention	Co		
	G	roup	Gr		
	(n=	(n=172)		(n=177)	
	n (n (%) or		n (%) or	
	mea	mean \pm SD		mean \pm SD	
1	44	(25.6)	46	(26.1)	
2	33	(19.2)	19	(10.8)	
3+	13	(7.6)	19	(10.8)	
Nei	ghborhood-Level	Variables ^a			
Neighborhood Type					.31
Urban	99	(57.6)	109	(61.6)	
Rural	62	(36.0)	54	(30.5)	
Percent Living in	32.4	± 14.7	32.4	± 14.1	.99
Poverty (%)					
Median Income (\$)	32,879	±	31,212	±	.29
		15,195		12,935	
Distance to Nearest	7.15	± 8.74	5.98	± 7.73	.20
Healthy Food Retailer					
(mi)					
Presence of Healthy	31	± 19.25	48	± 29.45	.03
Food Retailer within					
1 Mile Buffer					
Number of Healthy					.10
Food Retailer within					
1 Mile Buffer					
0	130	(75.6)	115	(65.0)	
1	20	(11.6)	30	(16.9)	
2+	11	(6.4)	18	(10.2)	

Note. P-values were generated using independent samples t-tests, chi-square, and Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney tests. Missing values were excluded from all statistical tests. ^{a-}Response missing for 25 participants whose residential addresses could not be geocoded.

• • • •			Change		Change	
			Baseline		Baseline	
HEI-2010			to 6-Months		to 12-Months	
Component	Baseline		Follow-Up		Follow-Up	
(Max Score)	(N=349)	p^{a}	(n=287)	p^{b}	(n=263)	p^{b}
	mean \pm SD	•	mean \pm SD	•	mean \pm SD	•
HEI-2010 Total		.19		.008		.05
Score (100)						
Intervention	$51.09 \pm$		$+3.41 \pm 13.43$		$+1.73\pm13.44$	
	11.61					
Control	$49.50 \pm$		$+2.02\pm12.26$		$+0.89\pm12.66$	
	11.09					
Total Fruit (5)		.86		.16		.21
Intervention	1.53 ± 1.63		$+0.37\pm1.85$		$+.005\pm2.00$	
Control	1.56 ± 1.59		$+0.17 \pm 1.95$		-0.11 ± 1.81	
Whole Fruit (5)		.55		.12		.24
Intervention	1.39 ± 1.71		$+0.37\pm2.03$		-0.02 ± 1.95	
Control	1.50 ± 1.69		$+0.06\pm1.81$		-0.21 ± 1.78	
Total Vegetables (5)		.04		.008		.10
Intervention	2.58 ± 1.38		$+0.37\pm1.88$		$+0.37\pm1.70$	
Control	2.28 ± 1.33		$+0.26\pm1.91$		$+0.30\pm1.70$	
Dark-green and		.01		.08		.009
Orange						
Vegetables and						
Legumes (5)						
Intervention	2.08 ± 1.80		$+0.00 \pm 2.41$		$+0.31\pm2.26$	
Control	1.61 ± 1.65		$+0.28\pm2.15$		$+0.28\pm2.23$	
Total Grains (5)		.67		.15		.05
Intervention	0.98 ± 1.36		$+0.33\pm1.83$		$+0.39\pm1.95$	
Control	0.92 ± 1.33		$+0.06\pm1.61$		-0.04 ± 1.64	
Whole Grains (5)		.64		.63		.25
Intervention	2.80 ± 2.58		$+0.14\pm3.26$		$+0.03\pm3.10$	
Control	2.67 ± 2.40		$+0.24\pm2.74$		-0.05 ± 2.85	
Milk (10)		.39		.13		.55
Intervention	8.97 ± 1.77		-0.02 ± 1.94		-0.17 ± 2.01	
Control	8.81 ± 1.68		-0.05 ± 2.27		$+0.23\pm2.12$	
Meat and Beans		.99		.58		.70
(10)						
Intervention	2.51 ± 3.02		-0.12 ± 4.29		-0.51 ± 4.27	
Control	2.51 ± 3.11		-0.17 ± 3.88		-0.22 ± 3.87	
Oils (10)		.98		.56		.95
Intervention	5.50 ± 2.58		$+0.13\pm3.52$		$+0.26\pm3.35$	
Control	5.51 ± 2.68		-0.01 ± 3.44		$+0.27\pm3.58$	

Table 8. Impact of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention on the Healthy Eating Index-2010 (HEI-2010) Total and Subcomponent Scores at 6 and 12-Month Follow-Up (N=349)

			Change		Change	
			Baseline		Baseline	
HEI-2010			to 6-Months		to 12-Months	
Component	Basalina		Follow Up		Follow Up	
Component		а	10110w-0p	h		h
(Max Score)	(N=349)	p^{a}	(n=287)	p^{o}	(n=263)	p^{o}
Saturated Fats (10)		.01		.74		.38
Intervention	6.40 ± 2.67		-0.50 ± 3.50		-0.20 ± 3.58	
Control	5.62 ± 2.93		$+0.22 \pm 3.44$		0.05 ± 3.79	
Sodium (10)		.12		.49		.96
Intervention	3.54 ± 2.75		$+0.67 \pm 3.80$		-0.07 ± 3.61	
Control	4.00 ± 2.81		$+0.07\pm3.32$		-0.35 ± 3.28	
Solid Fats,		.57		.02		.12
Alcoholic						
Beverages, and						
Added Sugars (20)						
Intervention	$12.82 \pm$		$+1.70\pm4.99$		$+1.28\pm5.27$	
	5.23					
Control	$12.51 \pm$		$+0.90 \pm 5.24$		$+0.76\pm5.67$	
	5.03					

Abbreviations SD=standard deviation

Note. Higher HEI-2010 total and subcomponent scores indicate better dietary quality. ^a–p-values generated using independent samples t-tests to assess differences in HEI-2010 total and subcomponent scores between intervention and control group at baseline. ^b–p-values generated using baseline-adjusted linear regression. **Table 9.** Access to Healthy Food Retailers as a Moderator of the Efficacy of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention to Improve Dietary Quality, as Measured by the Healthy Eating Index-2010 Total Score at Six Months Follow-Up (N=262)

	Measure of Access to Heathy Food Retailers				
	Proximity:	Availability:	Density:		
	Distance to nearest healthy	Presence of a healthy food	Number of healthy food		
	food retailer (mi)	retailer within 1 mi	retailers within 1 mi		
	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)		
Intercept	46.79 (29.50, 64.08)****	42.76 (25.38, 60.38)****	43.20 (26.18, 60.22)****		
Group	2.26 (-1.27, 5.79)	3.99 (0.73, 7.07)*	3.87 (0.87, 6.87)*		
Access to Healthy	-0.18 (-0.42, 0.07)	3.61 (-0.76, 7.99)	2.74 (0.69, 4.79)**		
Food Retailers when					
Group=0					
Access to Healthy	0.01 (-0.24, 0.25)	2.64 (-2.36, 7.64)	2.63 (-0.73, 5.98)		
Food Retailers when					
Group=1					
Interaction term	0.18 (-0.13, 0.50)	-0.97 (-7.39, 5.44)	-0.11 (-3.93, 3.71)		

†p<.10, *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001, ****p<.0001

Note. Parameter estimates were generated using baseline-adjusted linear regression models, using the HEI-2010 total score at six-month follow-up as the outcome variable. Predictors included group, access to healthy food retailer, and an interaction term between group and access to healthy food retailer. Models were adjusted for mean-centered HEI-2010 score at baseline and the following covariates: age, marital status, employment status, educational attainment, annual household income, the number of adults in the household, the number of children in the household, an indicator variable for urban vs. rural, percent poverty within the census tract, and median household income within the census tract.

Figure 5. Distance to the Nearest Healthy Food Retailer as a Moderator of the Efficacy of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention for Improving Dietary Quality (N=262)



Linear equations:

Control group: y=46.79-0.18x Intervention group: y=49.05+0.01x

Note. Parameters estimates generated with baseline-adjusted linear regression models, using HEI-2010 total score at six-month follow-up as the outcome variable. Models were adjusted for mean-centered HEI-2010 score at baseline and the following covariates: age, marital status, employment status, educational attainment, annual household income, the number of adults in the household, the number of children in the household, an indicator variable for urban vs. rural, percent poverty within the census tract, and median household income within the census tract.

Figure 6. Number of Healthy Food Retailers within 1-Mile of a Participant's Home as a Moderator of the Efficacy of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families Intervention for Improving Dietary Quality (N=262)



Linear equations:

Control group: y=43.2+2.74x

Intervention group: y=47.07+2.63x

Note. Parameters estimates generated with baseline-adjusted linear regression models, using HEI-2010 total score at six-month follow-up as the outcome variable. Models were adjusted for mean-centered HEI-2010 score at baseline and the following covariates: age, marital status, employment status, educational attainment, annual household income, the number of adults in the household, the number of children in the household, an indicator variable for urban vs. rural, percent poverty within the census tract, and median household income within the census tract.

References

- Wang DD, Leung CW, Li Y, et al. Trends in dietary quality among adults in the United States, 1999 through 2010. *JAMA internal medicine*. 2014;174(10):1587-1595.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans* 2015-2020. Skyhorse Publishing Inc.; 2017.
- 3. Krebs-Smith SM, Guenther PM, Subar AF, Kirkpatrick SI, Dodd KW. Americans do not meet federal dietary recommendations. *J Nutr.* 2010;140(10):1832-1838.
- Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Diet quality as assessed by the Healthy Eating Index, the Alternate Healthy Eating Index, the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension score, and health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2015;115(5):780-800. e785.
- 5. Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Miller PE, et al. Higher diet quality is associated with decreased risk of all-cause, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality among older adults. *J Nutr.* 2014;144(6):881-889.
- 6. Kegler MC, Alcantara I, Haardörfer R, Gazmararian JA, Ballard D, Sabbs D. The influence of home food environments on eating behaviors of overweight and obese women. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2014;46(3):188-196.
- Amuta AO, Jacobs W, Idoko EE, Barry AE, McKyer ELJ. Influence of the home food environment on children's fruit and vegetable consumption: a study of rural low-income families. *Health Promot Pract.* 2015;16(5):689-698.
- Ding D, Sallis JF, Norman GJ, et al. Community food environment, home food environment, and fruit and vegetable intake of children and adolescents. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2012;44(6):634-638.

- Hartman TJ, Haardorfer R, Whitaker LL, et al. Dietary and behavioral factors associated with diet quality among low-income overweight and obese African American women. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 2015;34(5):416-424.
- Couch SC, Glanz K, Zhou C, Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Home food environment in relation to children's diet quality and weight status. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2014;114(10):1569-1579. e1561.
- Fulkerson JA, Rydell S, Kubik MY, et al. Healthy Home Offerings via the Mealtime Environment (HOME): feasibility, acceptability, and outcomes of a pilot study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2010;18 Suppl 1(S1):S69-74.
- Kegler MC, Haardorfer R, Alcantara IC, et al. Impact of improving home environments on energy intake and physical activity: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Public Health*. 2016;106(1):143-152.
- Gorin AA, Raynor HA, Fava J, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a comprehensive home environment-focused weight-loss program for adults. *Health Psychol.* 2013;32(2):128-137.
- 14. French SA, Gerlach AF, Mitchell NR, Hannan PJ, Welsh EM. Household obesity prevention: Take Action--a group-randomized trial. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*.
 2011;19(10):2082-2088.
- 15. Wedick NM, Ma Y, Olendzki BC, et al. Access to healthy food stores modifies effect of a dietary intervention. *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;48(3):309-317.
- Gustafson AA, Sharkey J, Samuel-Hodge CD, Jones-Smith JC, Cai J, Ammerman AS. Food store environment modifies intervention effect on fruit and vegetable intake among low-income women in North Carolina. *J Nutr Metab.* 2012;2012.

- 17. Fiechtner L, Kleinman K, Melly SJ, et al. Effects of proximity to supermarkets on a randomized trial studying interventions for obesity. *Am J Public Health*.
 2016;106(3):557-562.
- Mendez DD, Gary-Webb TL, Goode R, et al. Neighborhood factors and sixmonth weight change among overweight individuals in a weight loss intervention. *Prev Med Rep.* 2016;4:569-573.
- 19. Pitts SBJ, Keyserling TC, Johnston LF, et al. Examining the association between intervention-related changes in diet, physical activity, and weight as moderated by the food and physical activity environments among rural, Southern adults. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* 2017.
- 20. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian S, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: a systematic review. *Health & place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187.
- Resnicow K, Odom E, Wang T, et al. Validation of three food frequency questionnaires and 24-hour recalls with serum carotenoid levels in a sample of African-American adults. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2000;152(11):1072-1080.
- 22. Guenther PM, Casavale KO, Reedy J, et al. Update of the Healthy Eating Index: HEI-2010. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2013;113(4):569-580.
- Guenther PM, Kirkpatrick SI, Reedy J, et al. The Healthy Eating Index-2010 is a valid and reliable measure of diet quality according to the 2010 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. *J Nutr.* 2014:jn. 113.183079.
- Hann CS, Rock CL, King I, Drewnowski A. Validation of the Healthy Eating Index with use of plasma biomarkers in a clinical sample of women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2001;74(4):479-486.

- Guenther PM, Kirkpatrick SI, Krebs-Smith SM, et al. Evaluation of the Healthy Eating Index-2010 (HEI-2010). *The FASEB Journal*. 2013;27(1 Supplement):230.235-230.235.
- 26. Vickers AJ, Altman DG. Analysing controlled trials with baseline and follow up measurements. *BMJ*. 2001;323(7321):1123-1124.
- 27. Cohen J. A power primer. *Psychol Bull*. 1992;112(1):155-159.
- Guenther PM, Luick BR. Improved overall quality of diets reported by Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Program participants in the mountain region. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2015;47(5):421-426. e421.
- 29. Hedrick VE, Davy BM, You W, Porter KJ, Estabrooks PA, Zoellner JM. Dietary quality changes in response to a sugar-sweetened beverage-reduction intervention: results from the Talking Health randomized controlled clinical trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2017;105(4):824-833.
- 30. Olsho LE, Klerman JA, Wilde PE, Bartlett S. Financial incentives increase fruit and vegetable intake among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program participants: a randomized controlled trial of the USDA Healthy Incentives Pilot. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;104(2):423-435.
- 31. Tussing-Humphreys L, Thomson JL, Mayo T, Edmond E. A church-based diet and physical activity intervention for rural, lower Mississippi Delta African American adults: Delta Body and Soul effectiveness study, 2010–2011. Prev Chronic Dis. 2013;10.

CHAPTER 5. Summary and Conclusions

The purpose of this dissertation was to conduct three research studies investigating various aspects of the relationship between food retail environments and dietary behavior in the United States. Ecologic approaches to health promotion suggest that structuring community food environments to facilitate healthy eating behaviors is an important component of chronic disease prevention efforts.¹⁻³ However, a large body of research has documented that many neighborhoods in the United States lack access to retailers of healthy foods⁴⁻⁶ and have limited availability of healthy foods within their boundaries.^{7,8} Low-income neighborhoods, those located in rural areas, and those with predominantly racial and ethnic minority residents are particularly underserved by healthy food retailers.⁶ Increasing access to healthy food retailers is currently a developmental objective of Healthy People 2020,⁹ and large-scale healthy food financing initiatives are underway to improve community retail food environments, in part through incentivizing the development of new retailers of healthy foods in underserved areas.¹⁰⁻¹⁴ However, many questions remain as to the potential effectiveness of this approach to improving community environments. Specifically, this area of research is largely atheoretical, heavily reliant on cross-sectional observational studies, and has produced mixed results.

The purpose of this dissertation was to address these research gaps through the following aims:

• <u>Specific Aim #1:</u> Conduct a systematic review examining the impact of new openings of healthy food retailers on dietary behavior.

- <u>Specific Aim #2:</u> Investigate the relationship between an alternate measure of access to healthy food retailers and fruit and vegetable intake, and assess food acquisition behaviors as mediators of this relationship.
- <u>Specific Aim #3:</u> Assess to what extent access to healthy food retailers moderates the efficacy of a health promotion intervention to improve dietary quality.

Summary of Key Findings

Key findings from each chapter are summarized below and in Table 10. **Chapter 2** reported results from a systematic review assessing the impact of openings of new retailers of healthy foods on fruit and vegetable consumption among adults. This study resulted in three main findings. First, the methodological rigor of the included studies ranged widely, and relied heavily on pre-experimental and quasi-experimental designs. Second, we found some evidence of modest short-term increases in fruit and vegetable consumption among adults who chose to shop at the new retailer in the seven studies that used a repeated measures design. However, most of these estimates were not statistically significant. The extent to which these studies were adequately powered is unknown, as power analyses were not presented in any studies. Finally, the impact of these retailers on fruit and vegetable consumption among the general population of residents in the neighborhood, regardless of whether they began shopping there, remains unknown.

Taken together, these results suggest that opening a new retailer of healthy foods within a community may be necessary for increasing access to healthy foods, but may not be sufficient. Any improvements in dietary behavior are contingent upon consumers shopping at the new retailer to purchase their food. More research is needed to confirm these findings and explore the impact of these retailers on longer-term change in dietary behavior, among children, and on other individual- (e.g., total caloric intake, body mass index, etc.) and area-level outcomes of interest (e.g., access to healthy foods, etc.).

Chapter 3 reported results from a mediation analysis assessing to what extent food acquisition behaviors mediated the relationship between distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption among a large national sample of adults who shop at a healthy food retailer as their primary store. Our original hypothesis was that people who reported that their primary food store was located farther from their home would report *lower* fruit and vegetable consumption, because we conceptualized this as a marker of poorer access within their neighborhood environments. Additionally, we hypothesized that this relationship would be explained by less frequent grocery shopping and lower home inventories of fruits and vegetables.

This study resulted in two key findings. First, we did not find evidence to support our hypothesis that the distance to primary food store would be negatively associated with fruit and vegetable consumption. Instead, our findings showed that distance was *positively* associated with fruit and vegetable consumption, such that people who reported greater distances to their primary food store reported *greater* fruit and vegetable consumption. Although the association was statistically significant, the effect size was very small and explained very little of the variability in the outcome. The second key finding was that greater home inventories of fruits and vegetables was a significant partial mediator of this relationship, although frequency of grocery shopping was not.

Taken together, these results suggest that distance to primary food store may not represent access, but may tap into other constructs, such as consumer preferences for food shopping. For example, individuals who consume large amounts of fruits and vegetables may seek out retailers that offer large, high-quality selections of these products, which may be located farther from their homes, thus explaining the unexpected association between these variables. Additionally, results suggest that distance to primary food store may not influence how frequently consumers shop for food, but rather that consumers purchase more fruits and vegetables when they shop, thus explaining the mediating effect of home inventories.

Chapter 4 reports results of a moderation analysis examining to what extent three measures of access to healthy food retailers moderated the efficacy of the Healthy Homes/Healthy Families intervention for improving a secondary outcome of dietary quality. Because the intervention involved participants changing how they relate to their food environments by altering their food purchasing behaviors, we hypothesized that those with greater access to healthy foods would report a stronger intervention effect, as greater access would facilitate changes to their behavior.

This study resulted in two key findings. First, as expected, we found that poorer access to healthy food retailers was associated with lower dietary quality among control group participants, although the effect sizes tended to be small and most results were not statistically significant. Second, we found that the effect of limited access to healthy food retailers on dietary quality was attenuated among the intervention group, though these results were also not statistically significant. Finally, of the three tested measures of access to healthy food retailers, distance in miles to the nearest healthy food retailers showed the strongest potential moderating effect.

These results were contrary to our hypothesis that the intervention effect would be strengthened among participants living in environments that facilitate health-promoting dietary change. Instead, we found that randomization to a behavioral intervention that involved, in part, modifying grocery shopping practices may have helped attenuate the negative effects of poor access to healthy food retailers on dietary quality, perhaps by altering participants' shopping behaviors.

Importance of Food Acquisition Behavior as a Cross-Cutting Theme

The importance of food acquisition behaviors emerged as a cross-cutting theme in this dissertation. Food acquisition behaviors refer to grocery shopping and other food procurement practices, including decisions about where to shop, frequency of shopping, types of foods purchased, dollar amount spent per shopping trip, and mode of transportation to the store. Although this dissertation was not designed to systematically assess food acquisition behaviors and their associations between food environments or dietary behaviors, each paper included results related to food acquisition, including the use of specific food retailers, frequency of grocery shopping, and home inventories of fruits and vegetables.

For example, in Chapter 2, a key finding was that the introduction of a new retailer into a community had the largest impact on fruit and vegetable consumption among consumers who *reported shopping at the new retailer*. In Chapter 3, a key finding was that *home inventories of fruits and vegetables* mediated the effect of proximity to primary food store on fruit and vegetable consumption among a large national sample of shoppers at healthy food retailers. In Chapter 4, a key finding was that an intervention to improve home food environments, in part through *modifying grocery shopping practices*, may have attenuated the negative impact of access to healthy food retailers on dietary quality.

These findings have important implications for both future research and practice. As has been noted in a recent systematic review, the dominant method of examining the impact of access to healthy food retailers on dietary behavior has been to estimate the magnitude and precision of the direct effect of various operational definitions of access to healthy food retailers on dietary outcomes.¹⁵ Although this focus on direct effects is appropriate analytically for an emerging body of research, it is not reflective of the complex, as-yet poorly understood relationships between individuals and their environments. Furthermore, continued focus on quantifying the direct effects of environments on dietary behavior could be critiqued as suggesting that individual-level dietary behavior is a simple function of access to sources of healthy foods.

Results from this dissertation contradict simplistic understandings of how access to healthy food retailers influences diet. Results from each study in this dissertation suggest that instead of being passively exposed to their environments, individuals actively navigate them through their food acquisition behaviors. This finding is consistent with theoretical framework recognizing that access is multifaceted, encompassing more than simple availability or accessibility to a healthy food retailer.^{15,16} According to these frameworks, access also includes the affordability of the products sold and the acceptability of these products to patrons, and the ability of the retailer to accommodate consumer shopping needs.^{15,16} The importance of food acquisition behaviors is also consistent with current research, indicating that consumer decisions about where to purchase food and how to navigate their food environments are complex and relate to convenience, daily commute patterns, perceived quality of products sold, and other considerations.¹⁷⁻¹⁹

Strengths & Limitations

This dissertation had several limitations. Study-specific limitations are discussed in depth in Chapters 2-4 and are summarized in Table 11. In addition to these studyspecific limitations, the dissertation as a whole had important limitations. The major limitation of this dissertation is that it focused on access to healthy food retailers as a feature of the food retail environment in participant's residential neighborhoods. The impact of other features of the community food environment (e.g., access to other categories of retailers, including restaurants, dollar stores, convenience stores, and corner stores) and features of the in-store environment (e.g., the quantity, quality, and price of specific food products sold) were not investigated as part of these studies. Additionally, though this approach is consistent with most of the previously published literature,¹⁵ consumers may obtain food from places outside of their residential neighborhoods, including areas around their schools, workplaces, or along their daily commute routes.²⁰ The ideal method of measuring access to healthy food retailers in this broader environment is to use GPS tracking to identify an individual's daily activity space,²⁰ but this approach was not feasible for this dissertation.

The primary strength of this dissertation project was that it answered novel and innovative research questions. At the time that these studies were conceptualized, no known systematic reviews had synthesized research findings regarding the impact of openings of new healthy food retailers on dietary behavior or had examined food acquisition variables as mediators of the impact of community food environments on dietary behavior. Additionally, only two known studies had assessed food acquisition
behaviors as potential moderators of the efficacy of behavioral interventions to improve dietary behavior,^{21,22} although others have been published since that time.²³⁻²⁵

Additionally, a feature of this dissertation was that it did not address a single, cohesive research question. Instead, the dissertation explored the effect of food retail environments on dietary behavior, using multiple conceptualizations of the food retail environment (e.g., initiatives to improve access to healthy food retailers, objectively distance to nearest healthy food retailer, self-reported distance to primary food retailer) and dietary behavior (e.g., fruit and vegetable intake, dietary quality). Though this approach allowed for a nuanced, multifaceted approach to studying these relationships, it limits our ability to draw strong conclusions across studies.

Implications for Public Health Practice

Results from this dissertation have implications for public health initiatives to increase access to healthy foods throughout the United States.

1. <u>Exercise caution in relying solely on opening new retailers of healthy foods in</u> limited-access communities as a chronic disease prevention strategy.

In light of the well-documented disparities in access to healthy foods in many communities throughout the United States,^{4,6,26} continued efforts are needed to increase access to healthy food retailers nationwide.⁹ One approach to achieving this goal, and the focus on Chapter 2 of this dissertation, is to open new retailers of healthy foods into limited-access communities. Although this approach has been a component activity of the Healthy Food Financing Initiative,¹⁰ and other similar state-level programs,¹¹⁻¹⁴ the evidence base regarding this approach remains weak. Few studies have tested the potential impact of these initiatives on dietary behavior or other chronic disease-relevant

outcomes, and those that have relied heavily on pre- and quasi-experimental designs that have limited ability to causally attribute any change in the outcome to the new retailer itself.

Furthermore, although we did find some evidence of increased fruit and vegetable consumption, the effect sizes were modest in size, mostly non-significant, occurred in the short-term, and appeared to be limited to individuals who began shopping at the new retailer. If this strategy is to be a continued component of chronic disease prevention strategies, resources need to be invested in identifying and implementing marketing and effective outreach efforts to encourage residents of the new community to use the new retailer for their grocery shopping needs. Interdisciplinary partnerships between the business community and marketing and communications professionals may be useful in planning these activities, insofar as they fall outside of the areas of competency of public health professionals.

Additionally, though not empirically assessed in this dissertation, opening a new retailer of healthy foods in a community is an expensive, resource, and time-intensive endeavor, and the success of these initiatives is likely directly tied to their economic sustainability. If limited-access communities lack the economic base to sustain such a retailer, this approach is unlikely to be successful, and alternative approaches to increasing access to healthy food retailers should be considered.

 <u>Consider implementing environmental interventions to increase stocking of healthy</u> foods in small food stores in limited-access communities as a complementary or <u>alternative approach to opening new retailers of healthy foods.</u> Another approach to increasing access to healthy food retailers is to partner with food retailers that are ubiquitous in limited-access communities throughout the United States, such as dollar stores, convenience stores, corner stores, bodegas, and *tiendas*, to equip them to sell food products aligned with *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*.^{6,27,28} Instore audits have found that these types of small food stores tend to sell energy-dense food items as compared to healthier alternatives.²⁹ Small food store interventions typically involve partnering with store owners to increase stocking of healthy food items coupled with other changes to the in-store food environment, such as promoting healthy food options through marketing and discounts, offering taste tests and cooking demonstrations, or general nutrition education in the store.^{28,30}

According to a recent systematic review, small food store interventions are supported by a larger and methodologically stronger body of research as compared to new retailer openings, and show promise for achieving intended outcomes.³⁰ Formative and process evaluations have shown that these initiatives are acceptable to small food store owners,³¹ are feasible,^{32,33} and can be implemented with fidelity.³²⁻³⁴ Outcome evaluations have documented increased stocking of healthy foods,^{34,35} purchasing of healthy foods,³⁶ and improved dietary behaviors.³⁷ These results suggest that these initiatives have a stronger evidence base supporting their use, and may be used as a complementary or alternative approach to building new retailers of healthy foods within a limited-access community. By capitalizing on the existing food retail infrastructure, these initiatives are likely to be less costly and may be more economically sustainable in the longer term as compared to building new retailers of healthy foods. 3. <u>Implement evidence-based interventions at other levels of the social ecology in</u> addition to increasing access to healthy food reatilers at the community level.

One key finding from this dissertation is that consumers are not passively exposed to their food retail environments, but instead actively navigate them through their food acquisition behaviors. As a result, initiatives focused solely on increasing access to healthy food retailers, either through opening new retailers or healthy corner store interventions, may be necessary for achieving behavior change, but are likely insufficient. Any dietary change attributable to these initiatives will be a result of intermediary proximal behavior change.

For example, in order for dietary change to be achieved, consumers must begin shopping at the retailer offering healthy food options, purchasing the healthier food items over other competing items in the store, and preparing these purchases in their home at home. Each intermediary step could be subject to other influences at the community-, store-, household- and individual-levels. Efforts to build new retailers of healthy foods or encourage existing retailers to stock more healthy food options may be strengthened if they were accompanied by:

- Community-level interventions to address different components of access (e.g., infrastructure changes to increasing methods of transportation to the new retailer or financial incentives or subsidies to increase the affordability of healthy products available to consumers).^{38,39}
- Behavioral design interventions, which refers to modifications to the in-store environment to ensure that the healthy food items are attractively and conveniently

placed within the store, well marketed and promoted, and that the selection of healthy food items offered is culturally appropriate for consumers' needs.^{30,32,35}

- Family-level interventions to motivate consumers to improve their home food environments by modifying their grocery shopping and food preparation practices.⁴⁰⁻
 43
- Individual-level interventions focused on general nutrition education.^{44,45}

Although each of these intervention approaches have been shown to be effective individually, research testing the additional benefits of intervening at multiple levels of the social ecology to improve dietary behavior remains scarce, due in part to the considerable practical challenges to implementing and evaluating multilevel interventions.⁴⁶ However, despite the limited evidence base, this approach is supported by the Social Ecological Model and other dominant theoretical frameworks for health promotion.¹⁻³ Implementing and evaluating multilevel interventions to improve dietary behavior would make a meaningful contribution to chronic disease prevention theory, research, and practice.

Directions for Future Research

Recommendations for future observational and experimental research are summarized below.

Observational Research

1. <u>More research is needed to build and test theories of how community food retail</u> <u>environments impact dietary behavior and chronic disease risk.</u>

Although multiple theories of health promotion have been used to identify characteristics of environments as determinants of health behavior,¹⁻³ very few studies

have proposed and tested theoretical frameworks focused on how environments influence diet.⁴⁷ Specifically, the operational definitions of access that are most important, the mechanisms through which environments affect dietary behavior, and the populations that are most influenced by their food environments remain largely unexplored.

This field of research would benefit from four major activities. First, qualitative research exploring how consumers perceive and navigate their community food environments may assist this field in developing theories that can be empirically tested in subsequent research.⁴⁸ Second, a meta-analysis of the cross-sectional observational literature, synthesizing the various operational definitions of access to healthy food retailer that have been assessed in relation to dietary behavior, and their results, is needed. Third, more research is needed to assess food acquisition behaviors as mediators of the relationship between dietary intake. These studies could assess the mediators used in this dissertation (e.g., frequency of shopping for fruits and vegetable and home inventories of fruits and vegetables) or other mediators yet to be examined (e.g., store type, dollar amount spent on groceries, etc.) Finally, future research exploring potential moderating variables is needed. This dissertation analysis assessed the extent to which rurality moderated the relationship between distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable consumption, but other potential moderators worth exploring may include a measure of poverty (e.g., receipt of SNAP benefits) or car ownership.⁴⁹

2. <u>Descriptive research regarding food acquisition behaviors in the United States is</u> <u>needed.</u>

Descriptive research is needed regarding food acquisition behaviors in the United States. National prevalence estimates of the frequency of grocery shopping, distance traveled to store, types of stores patronized, dollar amount purchased, as well as qualitative and quantitative data regarding how consumers make decisions regarding grocery shopping for their households is needed. This information may provide useful data that will help clarify unanswered questions in this area of research, including what retailers to focus on (e.g., presence of specific store types or overall composition of retailers within a geographic area), what environments to study (e.g., residential environments vs. activity spaces), what measures of access to use (e.g., availability, accessibility, affordability, etc.), and potential covariates to control for, all of which have been inconsistently operationalized.

Intervention Research

3. Increase methodological rigor and consistency of intervention research.

More research is needed to assess the dietary impact of interventions to improve community food environments by opening new retailers of healthy foods. In particular, future studies of greater methodological rigor and standardization would advance this field of research and facilitate meta-analytic synthesis of results. Specifically, using designs with a pre-test, comparison groups and probability sampling methods would help to reduce bias and strengthen the case for causal attribution of change in the outcome to the opening of a new retailer of healthy foods. Additionally, the strongest outcome measures possible should be used. Though time consuming and expensive to use, when resources are available, multiple 24-hour dietary recalls should be used, as this method is considered to be the gold standard for collecting self-reported dietary data. When this data collection method is not feasible, food frequency questionnaires with known psychometric properties (e.g., National Cancer Institute's Fruit and Vegetable Intake Screener) or those used in surveillance research (e.g., Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Fruit and Vegetable Intake Screener) are recommended to facilitate comparisons across studies, with national estimates, and with secular trends over time. The use of very brief (single or two-item) instruments and those assessing self-reported retrospective change is discouraged due to concerns about their validity and social desirability bias, and recall bias.

4. Explore the impact of these initiatives on other individual- and area-level outcomes.

Future experimental research should also focus on outcomes besides dietary behavior, such as implementation or process evaluation results (e.g., extent to which the retailer reached its intended beneficiaries, revenue trends, changes in purchasing patterns, etc.), change in area-level outcomes (e.g., availability of healthy foods within the community), or individual-level outcomes (e.g., dietary quality, total energy intake, body mass index). Although many articles reported these results, summarizing them was beyond the scope of the systematic review summarized in Chapter 2. However, future reviews should summarize the extent to which openings of new retailers improve other outcomes of interest in order to contribute to more comprehensive understanding of the expected effects of this strategy.

This area of research may also benefit from investigation into the potential unintended consequences of opening new retailers of healthy foods, especially large retailers including full-service supermarkets, superstores or supercenters, and wholesale clubs, in low-income or limited-access communities, such as impacting the socioeconomic opportunities available to residents. For example, only one known study has investigated the potential impact of these retailer openings on the socioeconomic status of residents.⁵⁰ Additional research regarding the impact of these initiatives as a mechanism of gentrification (e.g., by driving up property values and displacing residents), for potential impacts on the local economy (e.g., by displacing existing retailers), or improving socioeconomic opportunity (e.g., by creating jobs) warrants additional research.

5. Investigate the sustainability and cost-effectiveness of these strategies

Although beyond the scope of this dissertation, research regarding the economic sustainability and cost-effectiveness of introducing new retailers of healthy foods into a community may help clarify the role of new retail as part of a broader agenda to improve local food environments. For example, results regarding the economic sustainability of these initiatives may indicate how likely these initiatives are to be sustained past the initial grant funding period, to identify the types of retailers that are most likely to be sustained, and to develop best practices to increase the likelihood of sustainability. Results from cost-effectiveness analyses could be similarly used to compare new retail with other structural interventions to increase access to healthy foods (e.g., subsidies, instore intervention to improve existing food retailers) to help allocate scarce resources for health promotion and chronic disease prevention most effectively.

Conclusion

This dissertation addresses gaps in scientific understanding of the relationships between food retail environments and dietary behaviors in the United States. Although a large body of research has documented that many neighborhoods in the United States lack access to healthy food options, the associations between access to healthy foods and dietary behavior remains an area of active research. Future research focused on (1) the elements of local food environments that influence dietary behavior, (2) the mechanisms through which such associations operate, and (3) whether these environments can be altered to improve population-level dietary behavior and prevent chronic diseases will help strengthen chronic disease prevention and control efforts in the US.

Figures and Tables

Chapter	Specific Aim	Hypothesis	Key Findings	Implications
2	Conduct a systematic review examining the impact of new openings of healthy food retailers on dietary behavior.	N/A	 Methodological rigor of studies varied widely. Heavily reliant on pre- and quasi-experimental designs. Some evidence of short-term increases in intake among adults who choose to shop at the new retailer, but effect sizes were small. Change among residents of the community (regardless of whether or not they used the new retailer) was unclear. 	 Improving access to healthy food retailers may improve fruit and vegetable consumption among people who choose to shop there.
3	Investigate the relationship between self-reported distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable intake among a large national sample of shoppers at healthy food retailers, and determine to what extent food acquisition behaviors mediate this association.	 People who report shopping at a food retailer located farther from their homes will report lower fruit and vegetable intake. Less frequent grocery shopping and lower home inventories of fruits and vegetables will 	 Hypotheses were not supported. Distance to primary food store was positively associated with F&V intake among large national sample of healthy food shoppers, but effect size was small and distance explained very little of the variability in the outcome. 	 People whose primary food stores are located farther from their homes eat more fruits and vegetables because they purchase more of them (explaining higher home inventories), but not because they shop there more frequently. It is possible that people who value fruits and vegetables or healthy

Table 10. Summary of Key Findings from Dissertation Analyses

Chapter	Specific Aim	Hypothesis	Key Findings	Implications
		mediate this association.	• Effect was mediated by home inventories of fruits and vegetables, but not shopping frequency.	eating seek out retailers that offer these products, explaining the unexpected positive association.
4	Assess to what extent access to healthy food retailers moderates the efficacy of a health promotion intervention to improve dietary quality.	• People with greater access to healthy food retailers will report a stronger intervention effect as compared to those who live in areas with less access.	 Hypotheses not supported. Though most results were not statistically significant, greater access to healthy food retailers seemed to be associated with higher HEI-2010 scores among control participants. Effect of environment on diet was smaller among intervention participants. Some measures of access to healthy foods showed a stronger moderating effect than others, with distance to the nearest healthy food retailer showing the strongest effect. 	• Participation in Healthy Homes/Healthy Families may have attenuated the impact of the food environment on dietary quality.

Chapter	Specific Aim	Strengths	Limitations
2	Conduct a systematic review examining the impact of new openings of healthy food retailers on dietary behavior.	• First known study to synthesize this body of research.	 Potential publication bias Potential incomplete retrieval of relevant articles from keyword search strategy Meta-analysis was not feasible
3	Investigate the relationship between self- reported distance to primary food store and fruit and vegetable intake among a large national sample of shoppers at healthy food retailers, and determine to what extent food acquisition behaviors.	 Large national dataset Stratification by rurality Strong outcome measure (relative to other brief screeners) 	 Cross-sectional dataset Measure of distance to primary food store was created for this study with unknown psychometric properties Could not account for availability of healthy food options within participants' communities
4	Assess to what extent access to healthy food retailers moderates the efficacy of a health promotion intervention to improve dietary quality.	 Two-group randomized design Gold-standard outcome measure (multiple 24- hour dietary recalls) 	 Food retailer address data acquired from single source Addresses were not verified using ground-truthing procedure Suspected underreporting of dietary intake.

 Table 11. Study-Specific Strengths and Limitations

References

- 1. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Educ Behav.* 1988;15(4):351-377.
- Story M, Kaphingst KM, Robinson-O'Brien R, Glanz K. Creating healthy food and eating environments: policy and environmental approaches. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2008;29:253-272.
- Brownson RC, Haire-Joshu D, Luke DA. Shaping the context of health: a review of environmental and policy approaches in the prevention of chronic diseases. *Annu Rev Public Health.* 2006;27:341-370.
- 4. Zenk SN, Schulz AJ, Israel BA, James SA, Bao S, Wilson ML. Neighborhood racial composition, neighborhood poverty, and the spatial accessibility of supermarkets in metropolitan Detroit. *Journal Information*. 2005;95(4).
- 5. Moore LV, Diez Roux AV. Associations of neighborhood characteristics with the location and type of food stores. *Am J Public Health*. 2006;96(2):325-331.
- 6. Larson NI, Story MT, Nelson MC. Neighborhood environments: disparities in access to healthy foods in the US. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009;36(1):74-81. e10.
- Franco M, Diez Roux AV, Glass TA, Caballero B, Brancati FL. Neighborhood characteristics and availability of healthy foods in Baltimore. *Am J Prev Med.* 2008;35(6):561-567.
- Morland K, Filomena S. Disparities in the availability of fruits and vegetables between racially segregated urban neighbourhoods. *Public Health Nutr*. 2007;10(12):1481-1489.
- 9. US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020 Objectives.2020; 2017. Available at:

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/objectiveslist.aspx?topi cid=5. Accessed January 23, 2017.

- Office of Community Services. Healthy Food Financing Initiative 2010.
 https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/community-economicdevelopment/healthy-food-financing. Accessed August 25, 2017.
- The Reinvestment Fund. Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative.
 http://www.trfund.com/pennsylvania-fresh-food-financing-initiative/. Accessed
 May 12, 2015, 2015.
- 12. New Orleans Fresh Food Retailers Initiative. http://www.nola.gov/city/freshfood-retailers-initiative/. Accessed November 1, 2016.
- 13. California FreshWorks. http://cafreshworks.com/. Accessed November 1, 2016.
- New York City Office of the Mayor. Food Retail Expansion to Support Health (FRESH). http://www.nyc.gov/html/misc/html/2009/fresh.shtml. Accessed May 2015.
- 15. Caspi CE, Sorensen G, Subramanian S, Kawachi I. The local food environment and diet: a systematic review. *Health & place*. 2012;18(5):1172-1187.
- Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. *Med Care*. 1981;19(2):127-140.
- 17. Clary C, Matthews SA, Kestens Y. Between exposure, access and use:
 Reconsidering foodscape influences on dietary behaviours. *Health Place*.
 2017;44:1-7.
- Krukowski RA, McSweeney J, Sparks C, West DS. Qualitative study of influences on food store choice. *Appetite*. 2012;59(2):510-516.

- Krukowski RA, Sparks C, DiCarlo M, McSweeney J, West DS. There's more to food store choice than proximity: a questionnaire development study. *BMC Public Health.* 2013;13(1):586.
- 20. Gustafson A, Christian JW, Lewis S, Moore K, Jilcott S. Food venue choice, consumer food environment, but not food venue availability within daily travel patterns are associated with dietary intake among adults, Lexington, Kentucky 2011. *Nutr J.* 2013;12(1):17.
- 21. Gustafson AA, Sharkey J, Samuel-Hodge CD, Jones-Smith JC, Cai J, Ammerman AS. Food store environment modifies intervention effect on fruit and vegetable intake among low-income women in North Carolina. *J Nutr Metab.* 2012;2012.
- 22. Wedick NM, Ma Y, Olendzki BC, et al. Access to healthy food stores modifies effect of a dietary intervention. *Am J Prev Med.* 2015;48(3):309-317.
- Mendez DD, Gary-Webb TL, Goode R, et al. Neighborhood factors and sixmonth weight change among overweight individuals in a weight loss intervention. *Prev Med Rep.* 2016;4:569-573.
- 24. Pitts SBJ, Keyserling TC, Johnston LF, et al. Examining the association between intervention-related changes in diet, physical activity, and weight as moderated by the food and physical activity environments among rural, Southern adults. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2017.
- 25. Fiechtner L, Kleinman K, Melly SJ, et al. Effects of proximity to supermarkets on a randomized trial studying interventions for obesity. *Am J Public Health*.
 2016;106(3):557-562.

- 26. Morland K, Wing S, Diez Roux A, Poole C. Neighborhood characteristics associated with the location of food stores and food service places. *Am J Prev Med.* 2002;22(1):23-29.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans* 2015-2020. Skyhorse Publishing Inc.; 2017.
- Bodor JN, Ulmer VM, Futrell Dunaway L, Farley TA, Rose D. The rationale behind small food store interventions in low-income urban neighborhoods: insights from New Orleans. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2010;140(6):1185-1188.
- Glanz K, Sallis JF, Saelens BE, Frank LD. Nutrition Environment Measures Survey in stores (NEMS-S): development and evaluation. *Am J Prev Med*. 2007;32(4):282-289.
- Gittelsohn J, Rowan M, Gadhoke P. Interventions in small food stores to change the food environment, improve diet, and reduce risk of chronic disease. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2012;9.
- 31. Pitts SBJ, Bringolf KR, Lloyd CL, McGuirt JT, Lawton KK, Morgan J. Formative evaluation for a healthy corner store initiative in pitt county, North Carolina: engaging stakeholders for a healthy corner store initiative, part 2. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10.
- 32. Baquero B, Linnan L, Laraia BA, Ayala GX. Process evaluation of a food marketing and environmental change intervention in tiendas that serve Latino immigrants in North Carolina. *Health promotion practice*. 2014;15(6):839-848.

- 33. Gittelsohn J, Suratkar S, Song H-J, et al. Process evaluation of Baltimore Healthy Stores: a pilot health intervention program with supermarkets and corner stores in Baltimore City. *Health promotion practice*. 2010;11(5):723-732.
- Curran S, Gittelsohn J, Anliker J, et al. Process evaluation of a store-based environmental obesity intervention on two American Indian Reservations. *Health Educ Res.* 2005;20(6):719-729.
- 35. Song H-J, Gittelsohn J, Kim M, Suratkar S, Sharma S, Anliker J. A corner store intervention in a low-income urban community is associated with increased availability and sales of some healthy foods. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(11):2060-2067.
- Gittelsohn J, Dyckman W, Frick KD, et al. A pilot food store intervention in the Republic of the Marshall Islands. *Pac Health Dialog*. 2007;14(2):43-53.
- 37. Ayala GX, Baquero B, Laraia BA, Ji M, Linnan L. Efficacy of a store-based environmental change intervention compared with a delayed treatment control condition on store customers' intake of fruits and vegetables. *Public Health Nutr*. 2013;16(11):1953-1960.
- 38. Olsho LE, Klerman JA, Wilde PE, Bartlett S. Financial incentives increase fruit and vegetable intake among Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program participants: a randomized controlled trial of the USDA Healthy Incentives Pilot. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2016;104(2):423-435.
- An R. Effectiveness of subsidies in promoting healthy food purchases and consumption: a review of field experiments. *Public Health Nutr*. 2013;16(7):1215-1228.

- 40. Kegler MC, Haardorfer R, Alcantara IC, et al. Impact of improving home environments on energy intake and physical activity: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Public Health*. 2016;106(1):143-152.
- Fulkerson JA, Rydell S, Kubik MY, et al. Healthy Home Offerings via the Mealtime Environment (HOME): feasibility, acceptability, and outcomes of a pilot study. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2010;18 Suppl 1(S1):S69-74.
- 42. French SA, Gerlach AF, Mitchell NR, Hannan PJ, Welsh EM. Household obesity prevention: Take Action--a group-randomized trial. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*.
 2011;19(10):2082-2088.
- Gorin AA, Raynor HA, Fava J, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a comprehensive home environment-focused weight-loss program for adults. *Health Psychol.* 2013;32(2):128-137.
- 44. Howarth ELR, Cason KL, Condrasky MD. Comparison of 2 cooking education strategies for adults: The Recipe and Pantry Methods. *Top Clin Nutr*. 2009;24(1):35-46.
- 45. Reicks M, Trofholz AC, Stang JS, Laska MN. Impact of cooking and home food preparation interventions among adults: outcomes and implications for future programs. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2014;46(4):259-276.
- 46. Cleary PD, Gross CP, Zaslavsky AM, Taplin SH. Multilevel interventions: study design and analysis issues. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr.* 2012;2012(44):49-55.
- 47. Gustat J, O'Malley K, Luckett BG, Johnson CC. Fresh produce consumption and the association between frequency of food shopping, car access, and distance to supermarkets. *Prev Med Rep.* 2015;2:47-52.

- 48. Shelton RC, Griffith DM, Kegler MC. The promise of qualitative research to inform theory to address health equity. *Health Educ Behav.* 2017;44(5):815-819.
- 49. Bodor JN, Hutchinson PL, Rose D. Car ownership and the association between fruit and vegetable availability and diet. *Prev Med.* 2013;57(6):903-905.
- 50. Richardson AS, Ghosh-Dastidar M, Beckman R, et al. Can the introduction of a full-service supermarket in a food desert improve residents' economic status and health? *Ann Epidemiol*. 2017;27(12):771-776.